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Letter from the Board
BEEIRMG

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) (the "Directors”)
of Imperial Pacific International Holdings Limited (the “Company”),
| report on the financial results and operations of the Company and
its subsidiaries (the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2018.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group’s revenue was
approximately HK$3,254,587,000 (2017: approximately
HK$7,793,546,000). The Group's loss attributable to owners of the
Company was approximately HK$2,965,023,000 (2017: profit of
approximately HK$637,473,000). Basic loss per share and diluted
loss per share were both HK$2.07 cents (2017: basic and diluted
earnings per share were HK$0.45 cent and HK$0.24 cent
respectively).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

APPRECIATION

The Group is well prepared to meet the challenges ahead with our
prudent strategy as well as loyalty and professionalism of our staff. |
would like to thank the professional advisors, my fellow Directors

and our shareholders for their support during the year.

For and on behalf of the Board
Imperial Pacific International Holdings Limited

Cui Li Jie

Chairperson and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 March 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BRI WD

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is an investment holding company, and the Group is
principally engaged in the gaming and resort business including
the development and operation of integrated resort on the Island

of Saipan.

Gaming and Resort Business

In August 2014, Imperial Pacific International (CNMI), LLC (the
“Licensee” or “IPI"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands
("“CNMI") entered into a casino license agreement in respect of the
exclusive casino resort developer license for the Island of Saipan (as
amended, the “Casino License Agreement”) pursuant to which
the Casino Resort Developer License was granted to the Licensee

subject to the terms and conditions as stipulated therein.

Imperial Pacific Resort Hotel ¢ Saipan

On 27 November 2015, the Licensee launched the grand opening
of the Temporary Casino within on the first floor of the T Galleria by
DFS Saipan in Garapan, Island of Saipan (“Best Sunshine Live”).
The grand opening of Best Sunshine Live supports the Group's
continuous evolution of Saipan into a diversified and world-leading

entertainment and tourism destination.

On 6 July 2017, the Licensee successfully transferred operations of
Best Sunshine Live to the casino portion of Imperial Pacific Resort
Hotel ® Saipan and commenced operation on the same day. After
the transfer, the Company’s gaming capacity was increased from 48
tables and 141 slot machines at the Best Sunshine Live to 78 tables
and 246 slot machines with maximum capacity of up to 193 tables
and 365 slot machines upon completion of Imperial Pacific Resort

Hotel e Saipan.

On 31 August 2018, the parties to the Casino License Agreement
entered into a written amendment to the Casino License
Agreement (the “Amendment Agreement”) pursuant to which,
among other things, the implementation schedules under the
Casino License Agreement have been amended and the proposal
requirements thereunder have been set out in more details. Details
of the Amendment Agreement have been disclosed in the

announcement of the Company dated 31 August 2018.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
=] EEJE n—_l- Eﬁgﬁi *ﬁ

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Imperial Pacific Resort Hotel ® Saipan (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, unaudited VIP table
games rolling of United States Dollars ("US$") 16,187 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$126,262 million) and revenue of
approximately HK$2,912 million (2017: HK$7,345 million (as
restated)) was generated from the operations of Imperial Pacific
Resort Hotel ® Saipan, both the VIP table games rolling and gross
revenue showing a decline compared to the same period of last
year due to the impact of the FIFA World Cup, tightening marker
credits and disruption caused by typhoon Yutu.

Major global construction companies, consulting firms, design and
engineering firms as well as local sub-contractors have been
engaged. As at 31 December 2018, approximately US$792 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$6,218 million) (31 December 2017:
US$650 million, equivalent to approximately HK$5,064 million) has
been invested in design, consulting, engineering, construction
material and labour. The lack of the labour situation has been
ameliorated tremendously during the year, we have secured
adequate labour supply from the Philippines and Taiwan to ensure

the need of the construction.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Integrated Resort Development

The Imperial Pacific Resort Hotel @ Saipan, perched on the water
front of downtown Garapan, will boast restaurants with Michelin
Stars, in addition to the 193 gaming tables and 365 slot machines,

and 329 hotel rooms and 15 villas upon completion of construction.

An additional US$137 million has been invested in design and
construction of this super luxurious casino resort during the year
which has brought the total investment to US$792 million as at 31
December 2018. Great efforts have been made to solving the
shortage of labour supply as well as bringing the construction work
back to progress. Super typhoon Yutu, the most powerful tropical
cyclone on Earth in 2018, stroke Saipan in October 2018 and caused
devastating damages to the island. The construction site suffered

some mild damages but resumed work fast.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BRI WD

BUSINESS OUTLOOK (Continued)

Integrated Resort Development (Continued)

With the transfer to the new casino completed on 6 July 2017, we
believe that new customers will continue to be attracted to Saipan
and hence broaden our client base. However, due to the damage
of Yutu, Saipan international airport was closed for almost one
month, the operation at our Casino was adversely affected. With
the visitation recovering and four new junket licenses approved by
Commonwealth Casino Commission (the “CCC"), we expect to
commence collaboration with gaming promoters in the coming
year. Having the advantage of CNMI's relatively low tax regime, we
believe we will be able to offer very competitive commission rates

to potential gaming promoters.

Supply of hotel rooms continued to be the crucial bottle-neck for
the growth of tourist arrivals to the Island. According to the Hotel
Association of the Northern Mariana Islands (the “HANMI"), for the
calendar year of 2018, average hotel rates reached a new high of
US$150.86 per night, representing growth of US$4.93 (or 3.38%)
compared to 2017, with average hotel occupancy rates of 82.14%.
We currently have 3 villas and 4 yachts in place as well as hotel
rooms secured from local high quality hotels to better provide
accommodations to our VIP customers. We also expect the
successional opening of resort villas and hotels rooms of our resort
starting next year will to a great extent enhance our capacity to

better accommodate patrons.

Benefiting from Saipan’s favorable weather, stunning attractions,
proximity location and flexible visa policies, with more hotels room
to be built and opened, we believe visitation to the Island of Saipan

still has great potential.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEE WA

BUSINESS OUTLOOK (Continued)

Debt/Equity Fund Raising and Refinancing

On 31 October 2018, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with the placing agent pursuant to which the placing
agent agreed to act as a sole placing agent, on a best effort basis,
for the purpose of arranging placees to subscribe for the bonds up
to an aggregate principal amount of HK$300,000,000. Details of the
aforementioned placing agreements have been disclosed in the

announcement of the Company dated 5 November 2018.

The Board does not rule out the possibility that the Company may
carry out debt and/or equity fund raising plan(s) to further
strengthen the financial position of the Group in the event that
suitable fund raising opportunities arise in support of the
development of the Group, including the casino and the integrated
resort on the Island of Saipan. As at the date of this report, the
Company has not yet concluded on any concrete fund raising

opportunities.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group achieved
revenue of HK$3,255 million, representing a decrease by HK$4,539
million. Loss attributable to equity holders of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2018 was HK$2,965 million, as compared
with the profit attributable to equity holders of HK$637 million in
the corresponding period of last year. The turnaround is mainly
attributable to decrease in revenue, increase in impairment losses
of trade receivables and increase in finance costs, operating and
administrative expenses incurred during the year. Basic and diluted
loss per share were HK2.07 cents and HK2.07 cents respectively, as
compared with basic and diluted earnings per share of HK0.45 cent
and HKO0.24 cent respectively in the corresponding period of last

year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEEWED M

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Casino Gaming Operations

g JE1) - NE )

RIS ER
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The following table sets forth the results of the casino gaming
operations for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017:

For the year ended 31 December
BEt-A=t-HLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT TR
(unaudited) (unaudited)
(RBER) (RiEEZ)

(AT BEfa A THA R
EFREBY((EFREBEE])

(in thousands, except for number of gaming

tables and slot machines and Electronic

Table Game (“ETG") and percentage) 28 MBI
Average number of VIP gaming tables BEEBEGTHEE 28 23
VIP table games rolling =B R EIEH 126,262,045 385,855,800
VIP gross table games win EERERERE 4,676,523 12,728,872
VIP table games win percentage BEEREREE L 3.70% 3.30%
Average number of Mass Gaming tables HiZEE R I8 E 45 39
Mass games drop ISR ROT R 660,546 926,906
Mass games gross table games win ISR B AR 208,920 302,665
Mass games win percentage FSEERETSL 31.63% 32.65%
Average number of slot machines and ETG AFHEEFREBY B 262 165
Slot machines and ETG handle BFHREFREBRBALTS 885,307 847,511
Slot machines and ETG gross win ATHEEETFREAEXERE 56,302 66,861
Slot machines and ETG hold percentage AFHREREFEEEERE 6.36% 7.89%
Commissions e 1,635,966 4,997,103

BEEREER
BAESABLEETRREAEEERTHE
HRB -RERHBEEETP, RIREBEXE
ZBEDLERME MR o R AR DR
FH - 2 kEMEFERNERXMELEZE
A ZmEATSRETSAEEFREERP -

VIP Gaming Operations

A significant portion of our VIP casino customers is sourced through
the Group's own marketing channels. Such high-spending VIP
customers generally receive commission and allowances based on
a percentage of the rolling chip turnover. The allowances can be
utilized for expenses incurred on hotel rooms, food and beverages
and other discretionary customer-related expenses. The Group's

VIP players are also brought to us via intensive marketing.

/

VIP gaming operations also include premium mass gaming EBEEBEVEETEESHTEBLEL £A£E
TERZEBNAE -

%

operations that do not receive commissions from the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEE WA

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

VIP Gaming Operations (Continued)

In addition, a minor operation of the Group’s VIP customers has
been sourced via a licenced junket operator since August 2016. The
establishment of a new licenced junket incentive allowed the Group
to bring in new customers which mitigated the Group's credit

concerns for those VIP customers brought in by the junket operator.

VIP rolling chip volume for the year of 2018 reached approximately
HK$126,262 million (2017: HK$385,856 million). VIP gaming revenue
was HK$2,912 million (2017: HK$7,345 million) with a win percentage
of 3.70% (2017: 3.30%). Our VIP customers primarily consist of credit
players. Geographically, most of our direct VIP patrons come from

China, Hong Kong, Macau and Korea.

Impairment

The gross trade receivables decreased to HK$9,670 million, after
written off trade receivables of HK$4,690 million (2017: HK$13,278
million) from VIP gaming operations for the year ended 31
December 2018. While the scale of VIP gaming operations had a
significant impact to the Group, the Group regularly reviews the
recoverability of trade receivables to ensure that adequate

impairments are made for irrecoverable amounts.

Impairment of the Group's trade receivables was estimated based
on expected credit losses which has taken into consideration the
collectability of individual customers, debts’ ageing profile, security
provided in the form of front money and guarantee deposits as well
as experience with collection trends in the casino industry and
forward looking factors including the economic outlook and
business conditions and provided provision for impairment on

certain customers’ trade receivables as follows:

(i) as at 31 December 2018, the provision for impairment of
trade receivables due from the Group's largest and the ten
largest debtors amounted to HK$657 million and HK$1,922
million (2017: HK$1,093 million and HK$1,867 million)
respectively. The aforementioned provisions were made
based on the expected credit losses, which includes a review
of individual customer’s facts and circumstances (such as
financial position and ongoing dialogue on settlement
arrangements, etc), aging of the outstanding amounts,

securities provided and past repayment records;
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BRI WD

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Impairment (Continued)

(ii)

as at 31 December 2018, the provision for impairment of
trade receivables due from the remaining customers of the
Group amounted to HK$2,768 million (2017: HK$2,880 million)
arising from regular review of the overdue balances by the

management.

The Board has also prudently benchmarked against its industry

peers on provision of bad debt on trade receivables and

considered that the impairment of trade receivables as estimated

by the Company in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2018

to be comparable and in line with global industry standard.

The Board also wishes to elaborate below measures taken by the

Group to recover the trade receivables:

(i)

(ii)

credit terms extended by the Group are generally 30 days for
gaming operations. The Group’s credit and collection
department, along with representatives of the VIP marketing
department, regularly meet on a monthly basis to identify
customers whose debts are due and the VIP marketing
department will make contact with customers for recovery of
the outstanding debts; and

once the receivables are overdue for repayment and if the
customers still have not repaid the outstanding debts within
six months of the programme end date, the Group's credit
and collection department will then issue demand letters to
the customers, along with its guarantors (if applicable), for
demand of immediate payments. If no responses were
received thereafter, the Group’s management may consider
bringing legal actions against the customers in order to

collect the outstanding debts.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEE WA

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Mass Gaming Operations

For the year ended 31 December 2018, revenue from mass gaming
operations amounted to HK$209 million (2017: HK$303 million) and
mass gaming drop reached HK$661 million (2017: HK$927million).
Customers from the mass gaming operations do not receive

commissions from the Group.

Going forward, we will continue to review our mass gaming areas
to maximize table utilization, to expand our gaming areas, to
innovate our gaming products and to invest in technologies and
analytical capability to enhance table productivity and customer

retention.

Slot Machines and ETG Gaming Operations
Revenue from the slot machines and ETG amounted to HK$56
million (2017: HK$67 million) and hold percentage reached 6.36 %
(2017: 7.89%) for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Going forward, we will continue to re-examine the mix of our slot
machines and ETG games in operation to maximize our casino
profitability. We will also aim to develop technologies to enhance
our analytical capability to help us deliver more personal and

precision marketing efforts.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales for the year ended 31 December 2018 was HK$340
million (2017: HK$851 million) which comprise principally the direct
casino costs such as casino licence fees of US$15 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$118 million) and Saipan’s business gross
revenue tax of US$21 million (equivalent to approximately HK$164

million).

Other income, gains and losses, net

Other income, gains and losses for the year ended 31 December
2018 mainly represent dividend income from equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income of
approximately HK$0.5 million and write-off of property, plant and

equipment as a result of the super typhoon Yutu.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEERBNWED N

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued) M EEE (2
Operating expenses %Lﬁﬁi
Operating expenses increased to HK$6,008 million, which mainly &8RS Z=60E8008BE L TEHRFAE

result from the impairment losses on trade receivables increased to W & 5 BR ZUR (E B 18 1% = 494318 5,600 8 78 7T -
approximately HK$4,356 million, staff cost increased to B IR AIEE4)9188,800 &8 7T A M T & K 8 54
approximately of HK$988 million, and depreciation and RS EA1{87,2008 8 T -

amortization expenses increased to approximately HK$172 million

during the year.

Adjusted EBITDA 4T EBITDA

The following table reconciles Adjusted EBITDA to its most directly TXR&HIEBEEZ T - \FRER_E—tF+ = A
comparable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)  =-+— B |F F/Z & F% EBITDA B H & B 1 Al L 8¢
measurement, (loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company,  EFBMBEHREER| 7518 (AR R RIFHE AJENL (S
for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017. 18),/ &) 2 BB o

|
For the year ended 31 December

BEt-A=1t—HLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TET
|
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(E8), BT (2,965,023) 637,473
Add/(less): o/ CR) -
Depreciation and amortization HrEe R g 171,575 147,687
Casino licence fees IRELIT SRR B 117,578 116,909
Interest income FLEHA (1) @
Fair value loss on available-for-sale investments Al ERE 2 AR BEEE - 33,855
Fair value gain on derivative PTEeRMIAEZ AR BEWGFE (46) (549)
financial instruments, net
Finance costs Hi%E M 257,857 165,212
Taxes IR (292,410) 870,960
Share-based payments VARR 19 A B 2 1< 3R B 2 17,298 21,635
Net foreign currency differences ME N = BFRR 18,035 4,155
Adjusted EBITDA (Note) (unaudited) A& FHEE EBITDA (M) CREERZ) (2,675,137) 1,997,335

Note: Adjusted EBITDA is used by management as the primary measure of the Mtz - BIEBEAKFHZEBITDA @ {EALLRAEBHEHGGF

Group's operating performance with that of our competitors. Adjusted HFNRERBOHEEHEEET - LAZEBTDAT
EBITDA should not be considered in isolation, construed as an alternative ERIEBY2EZ8IE  TREHEREBYHERE %R
to result or operating result as reported under HKFRSs or other combined SIMEESEEEENERIEFESEM A IS E K
operations or cash flow data, or interpreted as an alternative to cash flow REMBEBENER  TTERIEERELREIER
as a measure of liquidity. Adjusted EBITDA presented in this report may MBI EHEE - ARSI EFLHZEBITDAR L
not be comparable to other similarly titled measures of other companies HEEE M S E B EMITEN R TN EME
operating in the gaming or other business industry sectors. LE B ZEtEFLHR -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWHED N

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Significant Investment and Acquisition

Apart from the development of integrated resort on the Island of
Saipan, the Company did not have any significant investment,
acquisition or disposal during the year that should be notified to
the shareholders of the Company.

Capital expenditure

The Group incurred capital expenditure of approximately HK$1,196
million (2017: approximately HK$2,636 million) during the year
ended 31 December 2018, mainly for construction of the Imperial
Pacific Resort Hotel ® Saipan and acquisition of gaming related

equipment.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by the adjusted capital plus net debt. Net debt includes
convertible bonds and notes, unsecured bonds and notes, loans
from related parties, other borrowings, less cash and cash
equivalents. Capital represents total equity attributable to owners
of the Company. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting

periods were as follows:
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31 December 31 December

Net debt FETS
Total equity ke
Capital and net debt BRRFER
Gearing ratio BARE B E
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2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
t=A=t-B +ZA=1—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT TAT
5,450,189 3,827,693
890,253 3,852,965
6,340,442 7,680,658
86.0% 49.8%
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BRI WD

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Capital structure

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there was no change to
the authorised and issued share capital of the Company (2017: no
change).

As at 31 December 2018, the total number of issued shares was
142,984,807,678 (31 December 2017: 142,984,807,678).

Risk of Foreign Exchange Fluctuation

The business transactions of the Group are mainly carried in HK$
and US$ meaning that it will be subject to limited exchange rate
exposure given HK$ and US$ are pegged. However, the Group will
closely monitor this risk exposure and would take prudent measures

as and when appropriate.

Capital Commitments
As at 31 December 2018, the Group had capital commitments of
approximately HK$458 million (31 December 2017: HK$554 million).

Contingent Liabilities

Save as disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group did not have any other significant contingent
liabilities as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017.

Pledge of Assets
As at 31 December 2018, the Group did not have any pledge of
assets (31 December 2017: Nil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES
The total number of staff of the Group as at 31 December 2018 was

1,786 (31 December 2017: 1,756).

Remuneration packages are reviewed annually and determined
with reference to market and individual performance. In addition to
salary payments, the Group also provides other employment

benefits such as mandatory provident fund.
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Corporate Governance Report
TERER/RRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance within a sensible framework with an
emphasis on the principles of transparency, accountability and
independence. The Board believes that good corporate
governance is essential to the success of the Group and the

enhancement of shareholders’ value.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company was in full
compliance with the Code Provisions set out in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”)
(the “CG Code"), except for the following deviation:

Code Provision A.2.1

Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. The division of responsibilities
between the chairman and chief executive should be clearly
established and set out in writing. The Company currently does not
have any officer with the title chief executive. At present, Ms. Cui Li
Jie, being the Chairperson and an Executive Director of the
Company and who has considerable industry experience, is
responsible for the strategic planning, formulation of overall
corporate development policies and managing the businesses of
the Group. Notwithstanding the aforementioned, the Board will
review the current structure from time to time and as and when
appropriate if candidate with suitable leadership, knowledge, skills
and experience is identified, the Company may make the necessary

modification to the management structure.
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Corporate Governance Report
TRER/RE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES (Continued)
Code Provision A.6.7

Under code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code, independent non-
executive directors and other non-executive directors should attend
the general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of
the views of shareholders. Due to other engagements, two
independent non-executive Directors of the Company, Mr. Lee
Kwok Leung and Mr. Robert James Woolsey, were unable to attend
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 25 June 2018.
However, the Board believes that the presence of the other
independent non-executive Directors at such general meeting
allowed the Board to develop a balanced understanding of the

views of shareholders.

Code Provision E.1.2

According to code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, the chairman of
the board should attend the annual general meeting. Ms. Cui Li Jie,
being the Chairperson and an Executive Director of the Company,
was unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 25 June 2018. Mr. Teng Sio |, an Executive Director, who is
also familiar with the Group’s business and operations, attended
and chaired the aforementioned meeting. Other Directors,
including two independent non-executive Directors, being the
chairman/members of the Audit Committee, together with the
external independent auditor attended the aforementioned annual
general meeting and answered questions from the attending
shareholders and investors. All resolutions proposed were duly

passed by shareholders’ voting at the meeting.
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Corporate Governance Report
TERER/RRE

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors and four
independent non-executive Directors. The brief biographical details
of Board members are set out in the Biographical Details of the
Directors and Senior Management on pages 28 to 31 of this annual
report. The Board has established four board committees, namely
Executive Committee, Audit Committee, Nomination Committee
and Remuneration Committee. Attendance of the board meetings,
the meetings of the board committees and the general meetings
for the year ended 31 December 2018 is given below. The
respective responsibilities of the Board and board committees are
discussed later in this report.

Exg
EEeRA-RRTESRNRBUIFNTES
MK - BEFEREB CBEEFBCHNANFRE 28
BEFNBEZEFLRGREEABEREFBER -
EFECORUNEEFEZES  BRATEZES
EVLZBE REAZBEELAFHZEE -HE—
E-N\F+_A=T-"HLIFEREELFES
e EFZBRERLBRRAGNREHT
WT-BEFEMEEZEERANBERRAR
EHMERRBIEELHA -

No. of meetings attended/eligible to attend

HE/CERLEEENREY
Audit  Nomination Remuneration Executive
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
ERZEE REZEE §FMZEEE HTZEEE
-4 g3 £ g5 g% EVN-

Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Cai Lingli (“Ms. Cai") ZRENL([BLL))
(resigned on 20 August 2018) (RZB-N&F

NAZTHEHE) 12 N/A N/A N/A 0/0 01
Tam TER qycli
Ms. Xia Yuki Yu ("Ms. Xia") Xia Yuki Yu 2t &
(MXiazt]) 23 N/A N/A N/A 0/0 0/1
TEm @R TR
Mr. Teng Sio | ("Mr. Teng") TOEEAE(TRE]) 3/3 N/A N/A N/A 0/0 1
TEHR TEH TER
Ms. Cui Li Jie ("Ms. Cui") EBANL((EXL]) 13 N/A N/A N/A N/A 0/1
TR TR TR TR
Independent non-executive Directors BIFHTEE
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue ("Mr. Ng") mETRE(EEE)) 213 202 17 11 N/A 1
TR
Mr. Tso Hon Sai Bosco ("Mr. Tso") ExBga(E44E)) 213 2/2 1/1 11 N/A 17
TR
Mr. Lee Kwok Leung ("Mr. Lee") FEREE(ZRE]) 23 212 17 11 N/A 0/1
TER
Mr. Robert James Woolsey Robert James 073 N/A N/A N/A N/A 01
Woolsey %t Tam Tam ~ER TER
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Corporate Governance Report
TRER/RE

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing the business and
affairs of the Group and aims at protecting and enhancing
stakeholders’ values. Currently, Ms. Cui, being the Chairperson of
the Board (appointed by the Board on 23 January 2019) and an
Executive Director and who has considerable industry experience,
is responsible for the strategic planning, formulation of corporate
policies and managing businesses. She is responsible for the

leadership and effective running of the Board.

All Directors are regularly updated on governance and regulatory
matters. There is an established procedure for all Directors to
obtain independent professional advice at the expense of the

Company in discharge of their duties.

The Board held meetings from time to time whenever necessary.
Notice of at least 14 days has been given to all Directors for all
regular board meetings and the Directors can include matters for
discussion in the agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying
board papers in respect of regular board meetings are sent out in full
to all Directors within reasonable time before the board meeting.
Draft minutes of all board meetings are circulated to all Directors for

comment within a reasonable time prior to confirmation.

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees are
kept by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and
all Directors have access to board papers and related materials,
and are provided with adequate information on a timely manner,
which enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters
placed before it. The Company held three Board meetings and one

general meeting in 2018.

An updated list of Directors, identifying their roles and functions at
the Company, is available on the websites of the Company and the

Stock Exchange.
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Corporate Governance Report
TERER/RRE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board currently has four independent non-executive Directors,
one of the independent non-executive Directors holds appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial

management expertise under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors had entered into
an appointment letter with the Company an initial term of one year,
which is automatically renewable for successive terms of one year

upon the expiry of the said term.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has given the
Company an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all
independent non-executive Directors are independent and meet
the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing

Rules.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND
DEVELOPMENT

Under code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, Directors of the
Company should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Each newly appointed Director receives induction on the first
occasion of his or her appointment, so as to ensure that he or she
has appropriate understanding of the business and operations of
the Company and that he or she is fully aware of his or her
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements. Directors are also regularly updated on
the Group's business and industry environments where appropriate
in the management’s monthly reports to the Board as well as
briefings and materials circulated to the Board before board

meeting.

During the year, all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills so as to ensure that their contribution to the Board

remains informed and relevant.

DIRECTORS’ INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect

of legal actions against the Directors.
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Corporate Governance Report
TRER/RE

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board sets the Group's objectives and strategies and monitors
its performance. The Board also decides on matters such as major
transactions, director appointments, and dividend and accounting
policies and monitors the internal controls of the Group's business
operation. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility
of overseeing the Group's day to day operations to management

executives.

When the Board delegates aspect of its management and
administration functions to management, clear directions would be
given as to the power of management, in particular, the circumstances
where management should report back to the Board before making
decision or entering into any commitments on behalf of the Group.

Principal functions that are specifically delegated by the Board to
the management include (i) implementation of corporate strategy
and policy initiatives; (i) provision of management reports to the
Board in respect of Group's performance, financial position and
prospects; and (iii) day-to-day management of the Group.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has set up a Remuneration Committee to ensure that
there are formal and transparent procedures for setting policies on
the remuneration of Directors. The Remuneration Committee
currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Ng, Mr. Tso and Mr. Lee. The Remuneration Committee
is chaired by Mr. Ng.

The main duties of the Remuneration Committee are to: (i) make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy and
structure for Directors and senior management; (i) ensure that they
are fairly rewarded for their individual contribution to the Group's
overall performance, having regard to the interests of shareholders;
(iii) determine the specific remuneration packages to all executive
Directors and senior management; and (iv) review and approve
performance-based remuneration by reference to corporate goals
and objectives resolved by the Board from time to time.

During the year, one Remuneration Committee meeting was held to
review the remuneration packages of the Directors and to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of the
new Director(s). The Remuneration Committee ensures that no
Director is involved in deciding his own remuneration. The terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee, a copy of which is posted
on the Stock Exchange’s and Company's website, are consistent with
the terms set out in the relevant section of the CG Code.
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Corporate Governance Report
TERER/RRE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has set up a Nomination Committee to ensure fair
and transparent procedures for the appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors to the Board. The Nomination Committee
currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Ng, Mr. Tso and Mr. Lee. The Nomination Committee is
chaired by Mr. Ng.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee are to: (i) review the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board on a regular basis and make
recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed changes;
(ii) make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment and succession
planning of Directors; (iii) identify individuals suitably qualified to
become board members and select or make recommendations to
the Board on selection of, individuals nominated for directorships;
and (iv) assess the independence of independent non-executive

Directors.

In selecting and recommending candidates for directorship, the
Nomination Committee will consider the experience, qualification
and suitability of the candidates. The Board will approve the
recommendations based on the same criteria. During the year, one
Nomination Committee meeting was held to review the structure,
size and composition of the Board, make recommendation for
appointment of Directors and access the independence of each of
the independent non-executive Directors. The terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee, a copy of which is posted on the
Stock Exchange’s and Company’s website, are consistent with the

terms set out in the relevant section of the CG Code.

DIVERSIFICATION OF THE BOARD

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board, and sees diversity at Board level as an essential
element in the attainment of its strategic objectives and its
sustainable development. As such, the Board and the Nomination
Committee have adopted the Board Diversity Policy on 24 March
2014 with principles as summarized below.
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DIVERSIFICATION OF THE BOARD (Continued)

The Nomination Committee of the Company reviews and assesses
the composition of the Board and makes recommendations to the
Board on appointment of new Directors. The Nomination Committee
also oversees the conduct of the annual review of the effectiveness
of the Board. In reviewing and assessing the composition of the
Board, the Nomination Committee will consider the benefits of all
aspects of diversity in order to maintain an appropriate range and
balance of talents, skills, experience and background on the Board.
In recommending candidates for appointment to the Board, the
Nomination Committee will consider candidates on merit against
objective criteria and with due regard for the benefits of diversity on
the Board, including but not limit to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge, length of service etc.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Ng, Mr. Tso and Mr. Lee. The Audit
Committee is chaired by Mr. Ng.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to (i) review and monitor
the preparation of the Group's financial statements and annual and
half-year reports and accounts; (i) monitor, develop and implement
the Group's policy on appointment of external auditor; (i) recommend
the appointment and reappointment of the Group's external auditor;
(iv) supervise the Group's financial reporting system, risk management
and internal control systems and (v) develop and review the
Company's policies and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board. The Audit Committee has reviewed
with the management and the external auditors the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and have discussed
auditing, internal controls and financial reporting matters. During the
year, two Audit Committee meetings were held to review the financial
reporting matters and internal control procedures of the Group and
appointment of external auditor. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, a copy of which is posted on the Stock Exchange's and
Company'’s website, are consistent with the terms set out in the
relevant section of the CG Code.

The Audit Committee is responsible for making recommendation
to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of
the external auditor and oversees the objectivity and effectiveness
of the audit process in accordance with applicable standards. It also
monitors the integrity of the Company’s financial statements and
their compliance with legal requirements and the Listing Rules in
relation to financial reporting.
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Executive Committee currently comprises two executive
Directors, namely Ms. Xia and Mr. Teng. The Executive Committee
is chaired by Ms. Xia.

The Executive Committee is vested with all the general powers of
management and control of the activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries as are vested in the Board, save and except for the
approval of the Company’s interim and annual reports and
accounts, matters requiring a public announcement or discloseable
or major transactions or other major disposals or acquisitions or
corporate actions outside the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group which shall require the Board'’s approval.

The Executive Committee may exercise all such other powers and
perform all such other acts as may be exercised and performed by
the Board, save and except for those powers that may only be
exercised by the Board pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (the "Companies Act”), the Listing Rules or the bye-laws
of the Company (the “Bye-laws”).

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
for securities transactions by the Directors. Following a specific
enquiry, all Directors confirmed they have complied with the
standards set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31
December 2018.

To comply with the code provision A.6.4 of the CG Code, the
Company has also adopted the Model Code as the code of
conduct for securities transactions by relevant employees of the
Group to regulate the dealings in the securities of the Company by
certain employees of the Group who are considered to be likely in
possession of unpublished price sensitive information of the

Company.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group. As at 31 December 2018, the
Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the

Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

The Board understands the importance of presenting a clear and
comprehensive assessment of the Group's overall performance,
financial position as well as prospects in a timely manner; and the
Board is pleased to report that the annual and interim results of the
Group are announced within three months and two months limit

respectively after the end of the relevant periods.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility in evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of risks in achieving the Group's
objectives and maintaining sound and effective risk management
and internal control systems for the Group to safeguard investments

of the shareholders and assets of the Group at all times.

The Audit Committee reviews risk management and internal control
issues, if any, identified by the external auditor, regulatory authorities
and management, and evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Group's risk management and internal control systems. The Audit
Committee in turn reports material issues, if any, to the Board. The
Board and management have conducted regular reviews during the
year on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems covering all material controls in areas of financial, operational
and compliance controls and various functions for risk management.
The Group has its own internal audit function assessing and
commenting on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk

management and internal control systems during the year.

For the year under review, the Board considered that the Group's
internal control systems are adequate and effective and the Group
has complied with the code provisions on internal control of the CG

Code and report except for the deviations previously disclosed.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the independent auditor of
the Company provided audit and non-audit services to the
Company and the Group.

The auditor’'s remuneration in relation to the audit and non-audit
services for the year amounted to HK$11,200,000 and HK$3,100,000

respectively.

The statement of the auditor of the Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in

the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 48 to 55.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Lee Yuen Ting (“Ms. Lee") has been the company secretary of
the Company since 21 November 2013. She reports to the
Chairperson of the Board and is responsible for advising the Board
on corporate governance matters and ensuring that board
procedures are followed and board activities are efficiently and
effectively conducted. Ms. Lee has completed not less than 15

hours of relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening a Special General Meeting

Shareholders may convene a special general meeting of the
Company according to the provisions as set out in the Bye-laws and

the Companies Act.

Pursuant to bye-law 58 of the Company’s Bye-laws, any one or
more members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
company secretary of the Company, to require a special general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be
held within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If
within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in accordance with the provisions of the

Companies Act.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Pursuant to the Companies Act, shareholders representing not less
than one-twentieth (5%) of the total voting right of all the
shareholders having at the date of the requisition a right to vote at
the meeting to which the requisition relates; or not less than 100
shareholders are entitled to request the Company to give
shareholders notice of a resolution which is intended to be moved
at the general meeting. A written notice to that effect signed by the
requisitionist(s) with details contact information must be deposited
a the Company’s principle place of business in Hong Kong at Suites
7001, 7002 and 7014-7016, 70/F Two International Finance Centre
No. 8 Finance Street Central Hong Kong for the attention of the
Company Secretary. The notice shall contain, inter alia, a
description of the proposed resolution desired to be put forward
the general meeting, the reasons for such a proposal and any

material interest of the proposing shareholder in such a proposal.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (Continued)

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings
(Continued)

The request will be verified with the Company’s share registrar in
Bermuda or Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the
request is proper and in order, the Company will ask the Board to

include the resolution in the agenda for the general meeting.

Making Enquiry to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to
the Board in writing to the company secretary at the Company's
office in Hong Kong at Suites 7001, 7002 and 7014-7016, 70/F Two
International Finance Centre No. 8 Finance Street Central Hong

Kong.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor’s understanding
of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company has
established a range of communication channels between itself, its
shareholders and investors, including answering questions through the
annual general meeting, the publications of annual and interim reports,
notices, announcements and circulars on the websites of the Company at

http://www.equitynet.com.hk/1076 and http://www.imperialpacific.com.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year, there has been no significant change to the
Company's constitutional documents. An updated version of the
Bye-Laws of the Company is available on the websites of the

Company and the Stock Exchange.

On behalf of the Board
Imperial Pacific International Holdings Limited

Cui Li Jie

Chairperson and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 March 2019
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERGREEAEBBERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Xia Yuki Yu (“Ms. Xia"), aged 45, has been appointed as an
executive Director of the Company with effect from 21 November
2013. She is also a director of a certain subsidiaries of the Company.
She has over fifteen years of experience in the public relation and
marketing industry. Before joining the Group, Ms. Xia held
executive positions in various enterprise groups operating in the

gaming industry.

Mr. Teng Sio | ("Mr. Teng”), aged 37, joined the Company in
November 2015 and has been appointed as an executive Director
of the Company with effect from 18 April 2017. He is also a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Teng has solid
experience in his roles as senior human resources management in
sizable organizations of different fields. Prior to joining the
Company, Mr. Teng served as a senior HR executive at one of
Macau's leading gaming-integrated resort complex (a complex with
over 20,000 current employees). Under his supervision, he had led
the team from pre-opening planning to successful openings during
his years of service as senior management of the HR department.
Mr. Teng is a bachelor degree holder in management. He is also a
qualified trainer certified by Box Hill Institute and an expert certified
by DDI, a global human resources consulting firm, in target

selection.

Ms. Cui Li Jie (“Ms. Cui"), aged 60, the Chairperson of the Board,
has been appointed as an executive Director of the Company with
effect from 4 May 2017. She has been engaged in real estate
projects and building materials trading, and has gained extensive
experience in investment. Ms. Cui is also the sole director and sole
shareholder of Inventive Star Limited, the controlling shareholder

(as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company.
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EERGREEAEBBEFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ng Hoi Yue (“Mr. Ng”), aged 55, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company with effect
from 21 November 2013. He is a fellow member of The Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. He has been practising as a
certified public accountant in Hong Kong since 1989. Mr. Ng is
currently an executive director and the Deputy Chief Executive
Officer of Asian Citrus Holdings Limited (stock code: 73) and an
independent non-executive director Ulferts International Limited
(stock code: 1711), both are companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. He was an independent non-executive director of
Emperor Cultural Group Limited (stock code: 491), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange, for the period from 16 May 2002 to
13 November 2018.

Mr. Tso Hon Sai Bosco (“Mr. Tso”), aged 54, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director of the Company with
effect from 21 November 2013. He is currently a consultant with
Messrs. Tso Au Yim & Yeung, Solicitors and has been a Hong Kong
practising solicitor since 1990. Mr. Tso received his Bachelor of
Laws degree from King's College London. He was an independent
non-executive director of Legend Strategy International Holdings
Group Company Limited (stock code: 1355), a company listed on
the Stock Exchange, for the period from 25 June 2015 to 6
September 2018.

Mr. Lee Kwok Leung (“Mr. Lee"”), aged 65, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director of the Company with effect
from 21 November 2013. He has years of direct investment, fund
management and banking experience. Mr. Lee holds an investment
advisor status from the Securities and Futures Commissions from
2000. He has been appointed as an executive director of China
Internet Investment Finance Holdings Limited (formerly known as
Opes Asia Development Limited) (stock code: 810) since 8 May
2014, and the chairman and executive director of Mayer Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1116) since 9 October 2014.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERGREEAEBBERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(Continued)

Mr. Robert James Woolsey ("Ambassador Woolsey”), aged 77, has
been appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the
Company with effect from 16 May 2016, held Presidential
appointments in two Republican and two Democratic
administrations, most recently, from 1993 to 1995, as Director of
Central Intelligence under President Bill Clinton. During his twelve
years of government service, in addition to heading the CIA and
the Intelligence Community, Ambassador Woolsey was
Ambassador to the Negotiation on Conventional Armed Forces in
Europe from 1989 to 1991, Under Secretary of the Navy from 1977
to 1979, and General Counsel to the U.S. Senate Committee on
Armed Services from 1970 to 1973. He was appointed by the
President to serve in Geneva, Switzerland, from 1983 to 1986 as
Delegate at Large to the U.S. Soviet Strategic Arms Reduction Talks
(START) and Nuclear and Space Arms Talks (NST). As an officer in
the U.S. Army, he was an adviser on the U.S. Delegation to the
Strategic Arms Limitation Talks (SALT 1), in Helsinki and Vienna,
from 1969 to 1970. He has served on numerous government and
non-profit advisory boards such as the National Commission on
Energy Policy and chaired the Clean Fuels Foundation and the New
Uses Council. He also served as a Trustee of Stanford University
and chaired the Executive Committee of the Board of Regents of
The Smithsonian Institution. He has been a member of The National
Commission on Terrorism, The Commission to Assess the Ballistic
Missile Threat to the U.S., The President’'s Commission on Federal
Ethics Law Reform, The President’s Blue Ribbon Commission on
Defense Management, and The President’'s Commission on
Strategic Forces. Ambassador Woolsey has also been a law partner
at Shea & Gardner and a Vice President with the consulting firm of
Booz Allen Hamilton. He also served on the boards of directors of a
number of companies, including British Aerospace, Inc., Martin
Marietta and Fairchild Industries. In 2009, he was the Annenberg
Distinguished Visiting Fellow at the Hoover Institution at Stanford
University; and from 2010 to 2011 he was a Senior Fellow at Yale
University, where he taught in the Jackson Institute for Global
Affairs. Ambassador Woolsey received his B.A. degree from
Stanford University, where he graduated Magna Cum Laude and
Phi Beta Kappa; an M.A. from Oxford University, where he was a
Rhodes Scholar; and an LL.B from Yale Law School, where he was
Managing Editor of the Yale Law Journal.
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Terrorism) ~ E BB E BB FH B 14 E 8 €(The
Commission to Assess the Ballistic Missile Threat to the
US) ~ Bt 3B BRI E B 5 & 8 2 (The President’s
Commission on Federal Ethics Law Reform) ~ ZEEI B[
E IR % B T EZ B g (The President's Blue Ribbon
Commission on Defense Management) X &5 & 3[4 48
# Z B & (The President's Commission on Strategic
Forces) ik & ° Woolsey A {714 Shea & Gardner 7%
EEBARBEN mZEZRE Booz Allen Hamilton)
BHARA BB - FREREHARETESS
B - eI BIMA A ) British Aerospace, Inc) * 55
T o IR (Martin Marietta) ) Fairchild Industries © 7
ZEENGF - BAELIIERB AT (Hoover
Institution) Z Annenberg £ 1 & FE I 5T & (Annenberg
Distinguished Visiting Fellow) * A =T —TF & =
T-——FHEANEBREZESAMREE TER
Jackson Institute for Global Affairs 7% ° Woolsey Af#
R FHERBES BT EAL - MEERE (Magna
Cum Laude) X EB K 2EE 4 7 L2 E@ (Phi Beta
Kappa) & 7 2% : R ERENGE BB TS0
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

The Board has received annual confirmation of independence from
each of its independent non-executive Directors. Save as disclosed,
the Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material relationships with each other or with the senior
management, substantial shareholders (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of

the Company.
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Directors’ Report

EEEWE

The Board hereby presents the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.

Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Details of the business review and future development of the
Group's businesses are set out in the sections headed "Business
Review” and “Business Outlook” under “Management Discussion
and Analysis” of this report. The discussion forms part of this

directors’ report.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
An analysis of the Group's revenue and segment information for
the year ended 31 December 2018 is set out in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 56 to 57 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2018.

The Group understands the success of its businesses depends on
the support from its key stakeholders, including employees,
customers, suppliers, professional advisers and regulators. The
Group will continue to ensure effective communication and
maintain good relationships with each of its key stakeholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 200 of this

annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial

statements.

RESERVES
As at 31 December 2018, the Directors were of the opinion that the

Company has no distributable reserves.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 43 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the “Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity” on page 60, respectively.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

Corporate social responsibility and sustainability play an important
role in our everyday business, and it is deeply rooted in our
corporate value. We strive to make a difference in the Northern
Mariana Islands and shoulder the responsibilities of a corporate
citizen to grow with the community. We have a dedicated
Corporate Social Responsibility Team that serves the community
through charitable events, and seeks opportunities to empower the

community by connecting them with education and employment.

In 2018, in order to fully implement the requirements of the
Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG") Reporting Guide in
Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules, the Company has further attached
great importance to organizing and arranging relevant preparation
and disclosure, and the Company’s ESG Report for the year ended
2018 will be published on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and the risk of non-compliance of
applicable rules and regulations. The Group has been allocating
system and staff resources to ensure ongoing compliance with rules
and regulations and to maintain cordial working relationships with
regulators through effective communications. During the year, the
Group has complied with, among others, to the best of our

knowledge, the following major laws and regulations:
Hong Kong

—  the Listing Rules;

—  the Securities and Futures Ordinance;

—  the Companies Ordinance; and

—  the Gambling Ordinance.

Saipan

—  The Commonwealth Gaming Act, codified at 4 CMC §§ 2301

et. seq.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The purpose of the Group's existing share option scheme adopted
on 27 June 2013 (the “Share Option Scheme”) is to enable the
Group to attract, retain and motivate talented participants,
including employee, officer, agent, consultant or representative of
any member of the Group to strive for future development and
expansion of the Group. The Share Option Scheme shall be valid

and effective for a period of ten years.

At the beginning of the financial year ended 31 December 2018,
1,852,178,272 share options were outstanding pursuant to the
Share Option Scheme (each option shall entitle the holder of the
option to subscribe for one new Share) and 13,623,880,768 Shares,
being 9.53% of the Shares then in issue were available for issue

under the Share Option Scheme.
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—  The Commonwealth Gaming Act, codified
at4 CMC §§ 2301 et. seq.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The total number of the shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant, together with
all options granted and to be granted to him/her under any other
share option scheme(s) of the Company, within the 12-month
period immediately preceding the proposed date of grant
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) shall not
exceed 1% of the total number of the shares in issue as at the
proposed date of grant. The exercise price of the share options is
determinable by the Board, but may not be less than the highest of
(i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the
date of the offer of the share options; (ii) the average Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of the offer; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s shares on the date of the offer.
The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
options must not exceed 30% of the number of shares in issue from
time to time. No options may be granted if such grant would result
in the 30% limit being exceeded.

OTHER INFORMATION
Movement of the share options under the Share Option Scheme
during the year ended 31 December 2018 is as follows:

EBREE(®)
REZZEAREBHI2E/APEAR BFE2
B3 7 BB AR E RAR R AN A B ) L B AR A 5 T
EEETRERTFEL2EEZFEERE(BED
1110 - B REARITE C BRE) BITERE
TR TFEITZRNEE  TEBBENEZR D
BHIEHITRDAE 2 1% - BREZ/TEEN S
EEEET |’E7F—HEE)‘5’\‘T§|J:%EPZE =% ()
REBRIEZHE BARRQRIKRG R R BTz Wm
B (W BEREENEANAELSBARRAARK
MREE ATz FHWHE  RINPRREZNER
RARIROEOEE - BITEBREM A feEITZ
BHBRE - TEBATRZEHTROKE Z
30% ° fini #& BB B 30% FR 58 - ARSI T
o] R AR A o

HAitt & ¥
RE-F-/\E+-A=+-ALFE-
SHEUE FRRE 2 2B

BRE

Exercise

Price

(HKS)  Grant Date Exercise Period
g

(B7)  HEAE i

Asat Asat
Categories of 1 January Cancelled/ 31 December
Participants 2018 Granted ~ Exercised Lapsed 2018
R B
“8-0E Bitd/ = St
SELEH -B-8 BRY B B&Y  TZAZt-R
Directors
£
Ms. Cai Lingli 3521212 - - 3Nm -
(resigned on 3521212 - - 3521212 -
20 August 2018) 3501.212 - - 3pam -
3521212 - - 3Nm -
2,664,000 - - 2664000 -
2,664,000 - - 2864000 -
2,672,000 - - 2872000 -
(R=3-N%
NAZ+RE)

022 18June 2015 18 June 2018 — 17 June 2025
02 18June 2015 18 June 2019 — 17 June 2025
022 18June 2015 18 June 2020 — 17 June 2025
022 18June 2015 18 June 2021 —17 June 2025
015 SApil 2017 5 April 2018 — 4 April 2027
015 5SApil 2017 5 April 2019 — 4 April 2027
015 SApil 2017 5 April 2000 — 4 April 2027
“Z-RERATIA “E-J\ERAT\BEZECREAATHA

“-REAAHR
“F-EFARTE

ZENERATNREZECREAATLR
“ECRERATN\BEIRCREAATAA

ZE-RERATAR -?- ERATNBEZEZRERATLA
ZE-tEMATR £-\EALAZ-E_+EMANA
“B-tFmALH :T—Jﬁ@ﬂﬂﬁ “E_EmARE
ZE-YEMARA ZECREMARAZCECLEMARA
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OTHER INFORMATION (Continued) Hiv&® (#)
Asat Asat Exercise
Categories of 1 January Cancelled/ 31 December Price
Participants 2018 Granted  Exercised Lapsed 2018 (HKS)  Grant Date Exercise Period
it i
“g-/\F Bid/ =t 1R
S8LRH -A-A BRH BiR BEM  tzR=t-B (B7m)  RHER e
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
Ms. Xia Yuki Yu 3521212 - - - 3501212 022 18June 2015 18 June 2018 — 17 June 2025
350m - - - 35.m 022 18June 2015 18 June 2019 — 17 June 2025
350 - - - 35.m 022 18June 2015 18 June 2020 — 17 June 2025
350.m - - - 350m 02 18June 2015 18 June 2021 — 17 June 2025
2664000 - - - 2664000 015 SApril 2017 5 April 2018 — 4 Aprl 2027
2,864,000 - - - 2664000 015 SAprl 2017 5 Apri 2019 — 4 April 2027
2,472,000 - - - 2672000 015 SApril 2017 5 April 2020 — 4 Aprl 2027
Xia Yuki Yu &t “E-RERATIR ZE-ERATNAEZECRERATHA
ZE-IERATAR ZE-NEAATNREZECREAATLA
ZE-RERAT/R ZEIEERATREZECRE A THA
E-REAATNE E-FRATNBECECREAATHE
ZE-YEMARA 25 )\EMARAZ-E-LEMARA
“E-rEMARA ZE-NEMARAZ-ECHEMARA
ZE-tEMALR CECEEMATAZ-E-tEMANA
Mr. Teng Sio 6,660,000 - - - 6,660,000 015 SAprl 2017 5 April 2018 — 4 April 2027
6,660,000 - - - 6,660,000 015 SApril 2017 5 April 2019 — 4 Aprl 2027
6460000 - - - 6480000 015 SAprl 2017 5 April 2020 — 4 Aprl 2007
ThExs ZE-YEmARA 25 )\EMARAZ-E-LEMARA
“E-YEMARA ZE-NEMARAZ-ECHEMARA
ZE-tEMALE CECEEMATAZ-E-tEMANA
Mr. Robert James Woolsey 286,753 - - - 286,753 015 SAprl 2017 5 April 2018 — 4 April 2027
286,753 - - - 26753 015 SApril 2017 5 April 2019 — 4 Aprl 2027
287,614 - - - 27614 015 5Apil 2017 5 April 2020 — 4 April 2027
Robert James Woolsey ZE-YEmARA Z5-\EEATAZ-E_+EMANA
i3 “E-YEMARA ZE-NEMARAZ-ECHEMARA
ZE-tEMALE CECEEMATAZ-E-tEMANA
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue 66,600 - - - 66,600 015 SApil 2017 5 April 2018 — 4 April 2027
86,600 - - - 66,600 015 SApril 2017 5 April 2019 — 4 Aprl 2027
66,00 - - - 600 015 SAprl 2017 5 April 2020 — 4 April 2007
maTLs “T-tERATA - /\EMATRZE-E-+EMANA
“E-YEMARA ZE-NEMARAZ-ECHEMARA
ZE-tEMALE CECEEMARAZ-E-tEMANA
Mr. Tso Hon Sai Bosco 66,600 - - - 66,600 015 SAprl 2017 5 April 2018 — 4 April 2027
86,600 - - - 66,600 015 SApril 2017 5 April 2019 — 4 Aprl 2027
66,00 - - - 600 015 5ol 2017 5 April 2020 — 4 Al 2007
EEERE ZE-YEmARA 25 )\EMARAZ-E-LEMARA
“E-YEMARA ZE-NEMARAZ-ECHEMARA
ZE-tEMALE CECEEMATAZ-E-tEMANA
Mr. Lee Kok Leung 66,600 - - - 66,600 015 SApil 2017 5 April 2018 — 4 April 2027
86,600 - - - 66,600 015 SApril 2017 5 April 2019 — 4 Aprl 2027
66,00 - - - 600 015 5ol 2017 5 April 2020~ 4 Al 2007
FERRE ZE-YEMARA 25 )\EMARAZ-E-LEMARA
“E-YEMARA ZE-NEMARAZ-ECLEMARA
ZE-tEMALE CECEEMATAZ-E-tEMANA
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OTHER INFORMATION (Continued) H& R ()
Asat Asat Exercise
Categories of 1 January Cancelled/ 31 December Price
Participants 2018 Granted ~ Exercised Lapsed 2018 (HKS)  Grant Date Exercise Period
it i
E-N\F B/ “&-)\f ke
3525 -B-# BEM B B&N TZA=t-R (Bn)  RHBE ik

Employees and others 1,120,000,000 - - - 1120000000 01055 3 December 2014 3 December 2014 - 2 December 2024
(in aggregate) 69,232,904 - - 18,390,908 5084199 022 18 June 2015 18 June 2018 - 17 June 2025
69,232,904 - - 18,390,908 508419 02 18 June 2015 18 June 2019-17 June 2025
69,232,904 - - 18,390,908 50841%% 022 18 June 2015 18 June 2020- 17 June 2025
69,232,904 - - 18,390,908 5084199 022 18 June 2015 18 June 2021-17 June 2025
950,000 - - - 950,000 025 26November 2015 26 November 2016 - 25 November 2025
950,000 - - - 950,000 025 26November 2015 26 November 2017 - 25 November 2025
950,000 - - - 950,000 025 26November 2015 26 November 2018 - 25 November 2025
950,000 - - - 950,000 025 26November 2015 26 Noverber 2019 - 25 November 2025
128460511 - - 73833926 54,626,585 0.15 5 April 2017 5 April 2018 - 4 April 2027
128460511 - - 73833926 54,626,585 015 SApil 2017 5 April 2019~ 4 April 2027
128,846,338 - - 74,055,708 54,790,630 015 SApil 2017 5 April 2020~ 4 April 2027
EaREM(43) “I-RETZAZR TE-MET-AZRE-ECMETCACA
“T-RERATIA “E-\ERATNBEZECRERATHA
“F-257A1T/A CE-NERETRECZCRERATHA
“E-RERATAR CECEERAT\RECECREAATLE
“T-RERATIA “EC-ERRT\BECECREAATHR
“E-RET-ACtRE CERET-ECtREER
ZICRET-AZTEA
“E-REt-BotRR CE-tEt-AofRRE
ZBCRft-AZTEA
TE-REt-fotRR 0 CE-NEt-AotREE
ZECRET-ACTEA
“E-RET-AotRE CE-AET-EotRBEE
ZICRET-AZTEA
“T-+ERATA “E-\EMARRZ-E-LEMANA
ZE-+ERATA “E-NENARAZE-E-tENARA
ZT-tERATA “E-EENARAZCS-+ENANA
Totel 1852178272 - SO 15U
2h
During the year under review, no grantee had exercised any share  RAEIEEEE RN @ FEEEE AITEEMBIEE -

options, no share options were granted and 317,396,280 share
options lapsed. As at 31 December 2018, there were 1,534,781,992
share options outstanding pursuant to the Share Option Scheme.
Further details of the Share Option Scheme are disclosed in note

29 to the consolidated financial statements.

8 3% 1 {A] B8 AR AE 12.317,396,280 17 BE AR #E 2 2%
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 2.5 to

the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction
in which the Company was incorporated, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to the existing

shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SHARES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or

redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the year.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2018 amounted to approximately
HK$4,867,000 (2017: HK$2,493,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate amount of sales attributable to the
Group's 5 largest customers accounted for approximately 61%
(2017: 36%) of the total sales for the year and sales attributable to
the largest customer accounted for approximately 39% (2017: 17%)
of the total sales for the year. Our suppliers provide products and
services such as food and beverages products, gaming equipment
and machines, and construction services. Purchases from the
Group's 5 largest suppliers accounted for approximately 70% (2017:
67%) of the total purchases for the year and purchases from the
largest supplier accounted for approximately 55% (2017: 17%) of
the total purchases for the year.

None of the Directors, their associates, or any shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company's share capital) has any interest in the Group's five largest

customers and suppliers during the year.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 8 December 2017, Best Fortune Corporation Limited, a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into an
employment agreement ("Employment Agreement”) with Mr. Ji
Xiao Bo (“Mr. Ji") pursuant to which Mr. Ji will continue to be
appointed as the Project Director of the casino resort project on
the Island of Saipan. According to the New Employment
Agreement, Mr. Ji is entitled to a basic annual salary of US$1 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$7.75 million). The New
Employment Agreement was fixed to a term that expires on 31
December 2020 but is, in any event, terminable on three months’
notice in writing by either party. To cater for the possibility of
discretionary bonus being awarded, the Board had set a cap on the
total amount (inclusive of discretionary bonus) that may be paid to
Mr. Ji under the New Employment Agreement for each of the
financial year ended/ending 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020 of
US$2 million (equivalent to approximately HK$15.52 million). Mr. Ji
is the son of Ms. Cui and Ms. Cui is a Director of the Company and
the sole shareholder of Inventive Star Limited (“Inventive Star”),
the controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the
Company. Mr. Ji is therefore a connected person (as defined in the
Listing Rules) and the Employment Agreement and New
Employment Agreement therefore constituted a continuing
connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and
subject to the reporting, annual review and announcement
requirements, but was exempt from the independent shareholder’s
approval requirement. Details of the Employment Agreement New
Employment Agreement have been disclosed in the
announcements of the Company dated 27 February 2015 and 8
December 2017.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

The independent auditor of the Company, Ernst & Young, was
engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transaction in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules”
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
The auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing findings and
conclusions in respect of the abovementioned continuing
connected transaction in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided to the Stock
Exchange. The independent non- executive Directors have
reviewed the abovementioned continuing connected transaction
and the auditor’s letter and have confirmed that such transaction
was entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favorable to the Group than terms available to or from independent
third parties; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreement
governing it on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the

interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Cai Lingli (resigned on 20 August 2018)
Ms. Xia Yuki Yu

Mr. Teng Sio |

Ms. Cui Li Jie (Chairperson)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Robert James Woolsey

Mr. Ng Hoi Yue

Mr. Tso Hon Sai Bosco

Mr. Lee Kwok Leung
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EEEHE

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Pursuant to bye-law 87(1) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Ms. Cui Li Jie,
Ms. Xia Yuki Yu and Mr. Lee Kwok Leung shall retire from office at
the forthcoming annual general meeting and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election as executive directors and independent

non-executive Director respectively.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT
The biographical details of the Directors and Senior Management

are set out on pages 28 to 31 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICES CONTRACTS

No Director eligible for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Group which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of

compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to the

consolidated financial statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

According to the available information, the Board is not aware of
any contract during the year entered into with the management
and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the

business of the Company.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to bye-law 166 of the Company’s Bye-Laws and relevant
provisions of the regulations stipulated, every Director and other
officers of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
losses and liabilities which he or she may incur or sustain in or about
the execution of the duties of his or her office or otherwise in relation
thereto, and no Director or other officer shall be liable for any loss,
damages or misfortune which may happen to or be incurred by the
Company in the execution of the duties of his or her office or in
relation thereto, provided that this Bye-Law shall only have effect in

so far as its provisions are not avoided by the Companies Act.

The Company has taken out and maintained Directors’ and officers’
liabilities insurance throughout the year, which provides

appropriate cover for the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors has

any interest in competing business to the Group during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

To the best knowledge of the Directors, there was no contract of
significance in relation to the Group's business to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party to and in which a
Director has a material interest in, whether directly or indirectly, or
between the Company, or its subsidiary companies, and a
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, and subsisted at
the end of the financial year under review or at any time during the

financial year under review.

DIRECTORS’' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of each
Director and chief executive in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
("SFO")), which are required (i) to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the provisions of Division 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); (ii) pursuant to section 352 of Part XV of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein; or (i) pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of the Listed
Issuers contained in the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) to be

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING REHHPzREZRARE (&)
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares/underlying shares of the

Company:

EERFETHRAEBRKRSG HERSO

ARRE B AN TR

Number of Percentage of

Shares/ issued share

Long position/ underlying capital of the

Name of Director Capacity Short position shares held Company

ke, EARAE

EEpE g9 BR/ %A HEROEE BERTREABAL
|

Ms. Xia Yuki Yu Beneficial owner Long position 383,109,088 (Note 1) 0.27%

Xia Yuki Yu%Z £ EREBA iR 383,109,088 (Ffi#E 1) 0.27%

Ms. Cui Li Jie Interest of controlled  Long position 90,755,089,280 63.47%

corporation
EEALT FRsEEES 5 90,755,089,280 63.47%
Interest of controlled  Short position 3,268,733,333 (Note 2) 2.29%
corporation

REHEEER KR 3,268,733,333 (£ 2) 2.29%

Mr. Teng Sio | Beneficial owner Long position 20,000,000 (Note 3) 0.01%

To@EE EamAA i 20,000,000 ({7t 3) 0.01%

Mr. Robert James Woolsey Beneficial owner Long position 861,120 (Note 4) 0.00%

Robert James Woolsey 5t & BEnlEAA e 861,120 (PI7¥ 4) 0.00%

Mr. Ng Hoi Yue Beneficial owner Long position 200,000 (Note 5) 0.00%

mEFEE BalBA R 200,000 (P 5) 0.00%

Mr. Tso Hon Sai Bosco Beneficial owner Long position 200,000 (Note 5) 0.00%

ERBELE BalBA R 200,000 (P 5) 0.00%

Mr. Lee Kwok Leung Beneficial owner Long position 200,000 (Note 5) 0.00%

FTEREE €t/ ZoUN R 200,000 (P 5) 0.00%
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Notes:

1. On 18 June 2015 and 5 April 2017, 14,109,088 share options (after share
options adjustments) and 8,000,000 share options were granted to Ms. Xia
Yuki Yu pursuant to the Share Option Scheme respectively.

2. Inventive Star Limited had granted options over its shares of the Company
at the exercise price of HK$0.24 per share, exercisable to purchase a
maximum of 3,268,733,333 shares.

3. On 5 April 2017, 20,000,000 share options were granted to Mr. Teng Sio |
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme.

4. On 5 April 2017, 861,120 share options were granted to Mr. Robert James
Woolsey pursuant to the Share Option Scheme.

5. On 5 April 2017, 200,000 share options were granted to Mr. Ng Hoi Yue,
Mr. Tso Hon Sai Bosco and Mr. Lee Kwok Leung respectively pursuant to
the Share Option Scheme.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of the
Directors is a director or employee of a company which has an
interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and none
of the Directors, the chief executive of the Company nor their
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any other interests
or short positions in the shares of the Company, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which any such Director or the chief executive of the
Company is taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or (b) were required to be entered into the register
maintained by the Company, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO;
or (c) were required to be notified to the Company or the Stock
Exchange, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transaction

by Directors of Listed Companies contained in the Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER FERK

As at 31 December 2018, in accordance with the register of the WZZ—NF+-_A=+—H RIEKXQTER
substantial shareholders kept by the Company under Section 336 FHENEAE KM EIGIEBEFEZ TERFERL
of the SFO, or to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 fiit * kB IEZE A5 R EE M EXVEFE 2 X379 6
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and the Listing Rules, the following 7 {&X K& TR BIZBETIHE LW FATHEAELRA
person was interested (including short positions) in the shares or TR SRR 2= (BIEAR) ¢

underlying shares of the Company:

Long positions in the ordinary shares/underlying shares of the  RARQRIEBALHEERMD 2 FA :
Company:

_______________________________________________________________________________________________________|
Approximate

Long position/ Number of percentage of
Name of shareholder Capacity Short position shares interest
BREB U 55 BR WA BROBE  BOREESK
|

Inventive Star Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner Long position 90,755,089,280 63.47%
Short position 3,268,733,333 2.29%

(Note 2)
Inventive Star Limited (FJ5E1) EmEBA 5= 90,755,089,280 63.47%
KE 3,268,733,333 2.29%

Pz 2)
Ms. Cui Li Jie (Note 1) Interest of controlled Long position 90,755,089,280 63.47%
corporation Short position 3,268,733,333 2.29%

(Note 2)
EBEALL (HEE) R B EE S R 90,755,089,280 63.47%
KA 3,268,733,333 2.29%

(M$3E2)
Mr. Ji Xiaobo (Note 3) Interest of controlled Long position 128,071,500,000 89.57%

corporation
AR e A (FEE3) LB EE S A 128,071,500,000 89.57%
Super Champion Global Limited  Beneficial owner Long position 128,000,000,000 89.52%
(Note 3)

BEIRKER AT (FEE3) EmEAEA HE 128,000,000,000 89.52%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER (Continued)

Notes:
1. Inventive Star Limited is wholly and beneficially owned by Ms. Cui Li Jie.
2. Inventive Star Limited had granted options over its shares of the Company

at the exercise price of HK$0.24 per share, exercisable to purchase a
maximum of 3,268,733,333 shares.

3. Super Champion Global Limited is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Ji
Xiaobo and Super Champion Global Limited held the convertible notes
issued by the Company in the principal amount of HK$400,000,000 which
were convertible to 128,000,000,000 conversion shares if the underlying
conversion rights were exercised in full.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, no person (other
than a Director or chief executive of the Company) had registered
an interest or short position in the securities or underlying shares of
the Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 16 to 27 of this annual

report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

On 25 June 2018, Ernst & Young was re-appointed as the auditor of
the Company until the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the Company. A resolution for the reappointment of
Ernst & Young as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the

forthcoming annual general meeting.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float as required under the Listing

Rules throughout the year and up to the date of this report.

On behalf of the Board
Imperial Pacific International Holdings Limited

Cui Li Jie

Chairperson and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 26 March 2019

In the event of any inconsistency, the English text of this report shall

prevail over the Chinese text.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB RS

e
EY::

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
IMPERIAL PACIFIC INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Imperial
Pacific International Holdings Limited (the "Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 56 to 199, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of
HK$2,965,023,000 during the year ended 31 December 2018 and,
as of that date, had net current liabilities of HK$4,747,679,000 and
capital commitments of HK$457,757,000 as disclosed in note 34 to
the consolidated financial statements. These conditions, along with
other matters as set forth in note 2.1, indicate the existence of a
material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not

modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our

audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

In addition to the matter described in the Material uncertainty
related to going concern section, we have determined the matters
described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated

in our report.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The
results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial

statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BRETEE@)

Key audit matter
HEETEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BAWESTEESRRESFSENS K

Impairment of trade receivables

FEWE S8R 50R 8

The carrying value of the Group's trade receivables as at
31 December 2018 amounted to HK$4,980 million,
representing 39.1% of the Group's total assets as at 31
December 2018. The loss allowance charged to the profit
and loss account for the year was HK$4,356 million, and
cumulative loss allowance of trade receivables carried as at
31 December 2018 was HK$4,690 million. The loss
allowance for impairment of trade receivables is
maintained to reduce the Group's trade receivables to
their estimated recoverable amounts which approximate to
the fair value. Management evaluates the estimated loss
allowance based on historical repayment behaviour of
debtors, ageing profile, availability of collaterals in front
money and/or guarantee deposits, specific information on
individual customers as well as experience with collection
trends in the casino industry, current economic and
business conditions. The management’s continued
refinement of the impairment of trade receivables based
on known customer information and changes in a region'’s
economy or legal system can provide a significant change
in estimate between periods.
EEERKESEFIN - \F+-_A=+—HNKREE
#%4,980,0000008 7T 1 BEXRER=-F - N\F+ A
=T HOEEHLE3I% - FARBREANR Z BB
1#754,356,000,000/87C * MR =F—N\F+ZA=+—HZ
FENE 5 Bk X R 51 BT 1R 1 45 RII &2 4,690,000,000 8 7T © FEULHE
SEFEFBEBEERESER BERBEZEKESRKE
MEEEARBEMEE ZGEFAIREEE - EREREES
ANBREZERITR  RRIER  BRRRERSHRESZ A
Hifm - EAREF 2 FEERIARREISTEE RKERBR
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R EFHHIRE KRR -
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In assessing the adequacy of the loss allowance for the
expected credit losses on the trade receivables, we test
checked the accuracy of the aging profile, reviewed the
historical repayment records, considered the availability of
collaterals and performed searches on specific customer’s
information. We have also re-calculated the loss allowance
for impairment of trade receivables using management’s
model and considered the adequacy of the loss allowance
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BRETEE@)

Key audit matter
BRENSE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMWEFEERRESFSENSR

We identified the impairment assessment of the trade
receivables as a key audit matter because of (i) the material
amounts involved, and (ii) the significant judgement and
assumptions involved in the determination of loss
allowance under the expected credit losses model.
BASEEE SRR BEF LB ABRETFE - JIAh
ROERFFR2ERTRE  Mi)lEEERAEEBHEEXT
ZEERBER Y &z ERHE RERR -

The Group's accounting policies and disclosures on trade
receivables and loss allowance for expected credit losses
are set out in notes 3 and 18 to the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
EXEEEHEWESRFIURTEHEERR BRER S
ABERREEHN BEEEZGEEPMBHRERMEIRIG -

Capitalisation of costs into construction in progress

KARIERT P EAR(E

The Group commenced the construction of the Imperial
Pacific Resort Hotel ® Saipan in July 2015. For the year
ended 31 December 2018, additions to construction in
progress amounted to approximately HK$1,122 million,
with a carrying amount of HK$3,994 million as at the end of
the reporting period.

ERER T -hF - AMMEEEEERETHRMNEE -
HE_ZT-)\F+_A=+—RHIEFE REEREIRERY
#31,122,000,000/8 7T + F ¥R BAR 2 BRTEI{E 4% 3,994,000,000
BT e

The Group's accounting policies and disclosures on
construction in progress are set out in notes 2.5 and 13 to
the Group's consolidated financial statements.
EXEEFHERIRCEARRAEEZHN EEEEF
BRI E25%13

We tested the significant additions of the construction in
progress in the year by agreeing to contracts, invoices and
payments, and we also assessed the bases of capitalisation
of overheads and interest expenses directly attributable to
the finance of the construction activities. We also reviewed
third-party surveyor’s reports for the certified construction
values and project’s progress.

BAEREEH BERNRAAEXNOREERZIRE R
B BAIAAERRE RS EERREZERRNEX
HE Mz Z8#E - RPIMERE =77 R SR EREE
BENMEEEEMEHZRE -

We assessed the adequacy of the Group's disclosure
regarding the construction in progress including the capital
commitments at the end of the reporting period.

HAAHE SEERERHRSHRARERZIR(BREEREAE)
FRIEHEE R AWERE o

We have also assessed the competence, objectivity and

independence of the external surveyors.

AT BRSNS BB 2 8e ) - REMRBIIE -

Annual Report 2018 FE#|E 5 1




Independent Auditor’s Report
BB RS

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing

to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic

alternative but to do so.
The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee

in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's

financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BAHRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other

person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of

these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,

or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.

BREMHR B REMBERREABNEM

BPNER EHGAMBEHRRBRESTFAE
MR AFF SRR ME R EAERRANEAE
RiE - YHABEHRMEROZBENRE - M
BRARE-NN\—FRAVEENFRELS2ER
RIEMHE » FRULASN AR EL B|EMAE -
BT ERARENATRATAEMBALE L3
EEEFEE -

BEFRERSKFORE  EXFFRELZB(EE
FETERIDETER - AR - ERERBRMLFE
AR BE B3R o SERRIRIL P A R ERFF S 88 R 5 #E -
MRAEEHEMEBNELLERAETESTS
FATE SRR 2 B KR AR & M IS SRR AR L R
RTE - RIBRARVERRR PR AR ARIEE K o

ERBEBFEAEADETEBIET - M
ERTERAE RS TEXEREER - R

o BAIMFHE R AFFHERME R E M
BRFESAHERRANER - R RHTT
BRI ARG LE R - ARERTE M
HENEHRE  EARMABRMER - &
REGERIBES R BR Bl F2ER &
RERAL - SR BRABEMESIZ £ - Bt ReE
HIMEMGFMEMNERBRRANER S
TARBE BE IR R $8 5R T G B B A 38 AR IR At 1)

AR -
o BREEIARORBEG LR EE N
BT BEMLIEY ERENBTH

MBERMEERER

o HEEEMERASHBENREERELE
AHEFT AR REN SR -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB RS

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a

going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we

have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence and to communicate with them all relationships and

other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BAHRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public

interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent

auditor’s report is Paul Kai Lung Go.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

26 March 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
REBEERHEMEEKER

Year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z—\F+t-_A=1t—HIFE

2018 2017
—B-N\F —E—+F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
ihy=s FHExT FH&T
(Restated)
(EH)
|
Revenue W zs 5 3,254,587 7,793,546
Cost of sales $HEE Ak AN (339,512) (850,654)
Gross profit EF 2,915,075 6,942,892
Other income, gains and losses, net FEMURA - Wm M EE (25,788) (45,388)
Selling and marketing expenses HE RIS HEER X (27,834) (64,126)
Operating and administrative expenses B LITH S (6,007,609) (5,775,571)
Share-based payments AR D BETE 2 MRS (17,298) (21,6395)
Finance costs B 758 F 7 (257,857) (165,212)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BRBLAT (B51R), R R 6 (3,421,311) 870,960
Income tax credit/(expense) FTgsiEe, (FAX) 10 456,288 (233,487)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR ROFBEAREFRA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS =R (E18)
OF THE COMPANY (2,965,023) 637,473
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) i 2 EUW A~ (E518)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that ~ REZEMAIEEFH D IEE
may be reclassified to profit or loss in Bz EM2mEmERA
subsequent periods: (E#E) -
Available-for-sale investments: AIHEHERE -
Change in fair value NABEES - (19,253)
Reclassification adjustments for losses AR EEEN
included in profit or loss DEPHE
— loss on disposal — HEREIE 6 - 266
— impairment loss — REBRE 6 - 33,589
- 14,602
Exchange differences on translation of HHEGINEREA BN E5R
foreign operations 4,006 36,675
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meESEREMEERER

Year ended 31 December 2018
HE—ZT— )/ \F+-A=T—HIEFE

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+F

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
st FERT FAT
(Restated)

(EH)

Net other comprehensive income that
may be reclassified to profit or loss in

subsequent periods

Other comprehensive loss that will not
be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods:

Equity investments designated at
fair value through other
comprehensive income:

— Change in fair value

Net other comprehensive loss that will
not be reclassified to profit or loss in

subsequent periods

RERHEAEENDERE
?éﬁ?lz/ﬁ@iﬁ%l)\/?%ﬁ
)‘EAH% HAR A i%ﬁ’“*ﬁﬁ

HEERB A BES AR
EHRAZBRAKE

— ANEEES

REEHEITSEHOEE
B K 2 E R E

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) £ R E 2 E WA~ (EE)

FOR THE YEAR

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) AR B#FA AEBMEREZHE

FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS
OF THE COMPANY

Basic

Diluted

WA (1) B8

ROFBEAREER
BR(EE)

4,006 51,277
(63,993) -
(63,993) -
(59,987) 51,277
(3,025,010) 688,750

12
HK(2.07)cents 4L HK0.45 cent &1l
HK(2.07)cents &l HK0.24 cent &1l
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e AR &
31 December 2018
RZZE—N\F+=ZA=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B aE FET FH&TT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M BE N 13 6,447,398 5,468,239
Prepaid land lease payments AR LA ERIA 14 178,292 181,967
Prepayments, deposits and TERRIA - Ze Rk

other receivables Hofh e ERIR 15 203,784 352,963
Available-for-sale investments it HERE 16 - 82,464
Equity investments designated at fair value 87 AiZ AR EEFT AHAM

through other comprehensive income 2HERAZ BERE 16 18,471 -
Trade receivables FEWE 5 AR 18 113,341 -
Deferred tax assets BELEFIREE 27 513,181 504,784
Total non-current assets FREBEERE 7,474,467 6,590,417
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Prepaid land lease payments TEf T EFRIE 14 4,540 4,526
Inventories FE 17 36,840 25,768
Trade receivables e E 5 BR K 18 4,866,395 8,531,023
Prepayments, deposits and BNHIE - Ze Rk

other receivables H b fE U FhE 15 226,136 204,030
Derivative financial asset MEEREE 22 24 1,010
Restricted bank deposit 2R BIRITIF 19 55,687 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBECEEY 19 58,153 284,520
Total current assets MENEEAE 5,247,775 9,050,877
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables BB R 20 91,739 78,623
Other payables and accruals EL At < R IE I JE ET SRIE 21 5,782,782 6,931,685
Derivative financial liabilities PTESmBE 22 1 1,033
Loans from related parties KEBEH Z2ER 23 125,398 197,593
Other borrowings H M &R 24 2,962,525 1,189,492
Convertible bonds and notes AR ES M EE 25 48,879 -
Unsecured bonds and notes BERESELEE 26 747,777 -
Tax payable FEfTRIE 236,353 664,775
Total current liabilities MENE FEERE 9,995,454 9,063,201
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAEFHE (4,747,679) (12,324)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES ¥ E & ER R B & & 2,726,788 6,578,093
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e B BRIR &R

31 December 2018
RZE—N\F+=ZA=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M TERx FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Other payables and accruals B b A A M BT FUA 21 212,772 -
Loans from related parties KEBEE T ER 23 448,816 151,764
Other borrowings H A&k 24 - 773,350
Convertible bonds and notes AR ESMER 25 - 46,713
Unsecured bonds and notes mIERESENERE 26 1,174,947 1,753,301
Total non-current liabilities IEREAaEERE 1,836,535 2,725,128
NET ASSETS EEFE 890,253 3,852,965
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARR#EE
Share capital i@ 28 71,492 71,492
Reserves & 30 818,761 3,781,473
Total equity 1AM T 890,253 3,852,965
Cui Li Jie Xia Yuki Yu
EER
Director Director
EF g
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MEERRER
Year ended 31 December 2018

2 —F - \F+_A=t+—BILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

EREEEAERS
Convertible Share Share Investment  Investment
Share notes premium option  Exchange Other reserve reserve  Accumulated Total
Notes capital reserve account reserve reserve reserve (non-recycling)  (recycling) losses equity
TRREE Kt BhRE REff  RERB
it e o BER R EXRE  HbRE (FUERE) (78E)  ZiFE i

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
T T T FEn T L T T FiEn Tk

(note 25) (note 30)

(R 25) (Fiz£30)
|
At 1 January 2017 RZE—t45-A-H 70,826 1,480,332 1,984,779 50,714 (2,307 - - (14,602) (708,845) 2,860,897
Profit for the year Ayl - - - - - - - - 637473 637473
Other comprehensive income for the year: ~ FREMZEYA :

Changes in fair value of available-for-sale  AIfEHEREN AL ER
investments, net BHFE - - - - - - - 14,602 - 14,602
Exchange differences on translation of BEENEREL ELER
foreign operations - - - - 36,675 - - - - 36,675
Total comprehensive income for the year A2 ENALE - - - - 36,675 - - 14,602 637473 688,750
Issue of shares upon conversion of TARERE R ENRIRG
convertible notes 28 666 - 281017 - - - - - - 281,683
Equity-settled share option arrangements ~ #z & EBRELH 29 - - - 21635 - - - - - 21,635
Transfer of reserve upon the lapse of BEREANBERRE
share options - - - (1,557) - - - - 1,557 -
At31 December 2017 REF—F+ZA=1-0 7492 14803320 226579 70792* 34,368* - - - (69815 3852965
At 31 December 2017 W=F—tF+-A=1-8 71492 1480332 2,265,796 70,792 34,368 - - - (69,815) 3,852,965
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9 REBM RS ED
EoRye 23 - - - - - - (33,589) - 33,589 -
At 1 January 2018 (restated) RZE-\E-A-A(E7) 71492 1480332 2,265,796 70,792 34,368 - (33,589) - (36,226) 3,852,965
Loss for the year ENER - - - - - - - - (2965,023)  (2,965,023)
Other comprehensive income/{loss) for EREMZENA/(BE) :
the year:
Changes in fair value of equity investments ~ EEARAL EEFALH
designated at fair value through other FEUAZREREZ
comprehensive income, net MEEEHEE - - - - - - (63,993) - - (63,993)
Exchange differences on translation of BERNEREL B AR
foreign operations - - - - 4,006 - - b B 4,006
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for ERZERN/ (BB &8
the year - - - - 4,006 - (63,993) - (2.965,023)  (3,025,010)
Equity-settled share option arrangements  EREEBRER 2 - - - 17,298 - - - - - 17,298
Transfer of reserve upon the lapse of BREXMRELEE
share options - - - (14,872) - - - - 14,872 -
Deemed capital contribution from a BE-LRELE
shareholder - - - - - 45,000 - - - 45,000
At 31 December 2018 W=E-\F+ZA=t-8 71492 1,480,332 2,265796* 73,218* 38,374* 45,000* (97,582)* = (2,986,377 890,253

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of IEREREEBREEAVBRARAZESHE
HK$818,761,000 (2017: HK$3,781,473,000) in the consolidated statement of 818,761,000/ 0( = Z—+4 : 3,781,473,000/87T) °
financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= = B
MERERER
Year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z—- ) \E+-_A=1+—HItFEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B Ex THERT THET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  REKEEKBEHE
Profit/(loss) before tax MEATEF, (E518) (3,421,311) 870,960
Adjustments for: HEIER
Finance costs HBER 7 257,857 165,212
Bank interest income RITHEUA 6 (1 2
Dividend income from equity investments REEERBEALEBEBEIA
designated at fair value through other Hip2EBRAZBRARE
comprehensive income/available-for-sale AT ERE 2 R B IR
investments 6 (537) (14)
Loss on disposal/write-off of HE /HEmE - BEREE
property, plant and equipment 2 &8 6 26,999 25,876
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWRB AR Mz 6 - (11,966)
Fair value gain on derivative financial MTEeMIAZAREE
instruments, net Woas %58 6 (46) (549)
Depreciation e 6 167,312 139,741
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments  JE/5t + 710 & 3 IE#E £ 6 4,263 7,946
Impairment of prepayments for acquisition ~ BEEIFREEEL
of non-current assets TE FRIE 2 R E 6 132,395 -
Impairment of an available-for-sale AHHERE ZRIE
investment 6 - 33,589
Fair value loss on available-for-sale AHEERE 2 AR EEEE
investments (transfer from equity (R EREEREA)
on disposal) b - 266
Impairment losses recognised for RIEWE Z RS2 RE
trade receivables, net BT 6 4,355,689 4,185,431
Share-based payments VARG 1 A B 2 (TR B E 29 17,298 21,635
Foreign exchange losses on B EEB) 2 [E HEE
financing activities 16,919 -
1,556,837 5,438,125
Increase in inventories FEEM (11,012) (18,881)
Increase in trade receivables U & 5 BRI hn (776,712) (7,333,159)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments and BRFEREBEERD,
other assets (1) (3,678) 53,106
Increase in trade payables JERTE 5 BREE AN 12,663 56,246
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and H i fE B R EET IS
accruals 20,/ CRd) (958,216) 1,554,957
Cash used in operations EEMAZRE (180,118) (249,606)
Overseas taxes paid BN (6,180) (213,945)
Net cash flows used in operating activities REXEBIA RS NEFRE (186,298) (463,551)

6l
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GEEHERER

Year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z—\F+t-_A=1t—HIFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B Ex THERT FHT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REREXBZHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received EUERTTH & 1 2
Dividends received from listed investments KB _FH#%R & 7 B WK E 537 14
Purchases of items of property, BEME  BER
plant and equipment ®EEE (1,226,120) (1,543,692)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME - BE &
property, plant and equipment REEE ZFERIA 2,239 -
Additions to prepaid land lease payments TR 3 S FRIEE N 14 - (73,923)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHE LA 31 - 110,610
Proceeds from disposal of HEHEERE .
available-for-sale investments Fri5 508 - 1,369
Decrease/(increase) in restricted bank deposit IR ISR TFRUR A,/ (1) (55,687) 11,624
Net cash flows used in investing activities BREXBFACREREFHE (1,279,030) (1,493,996)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  REBE(¥HERE
Redemption of convertible notes fE D AR EE - (205,500)
Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds R EEITAIBRES 2 TS 08 - 46,025
Proceeds from issue of unsecured bonds and B & /TEEIFER R ZE 2
notes eSS 32,795 876,415
Proceeds from other borrowings REEMERZFTSHRIE 1,870,072 1,821,295
Repayment of other borrowings EEEMER (803,166) (367,952)
Proceeds from loans from related parties KEBEH 2§ 2 T8 708 403,000 64,742
Repayment of loans from related parties EBREEB T ZER (182,925) (28,390)
Interest paid EARFE (81,423) (59.772)
Net cash flows from financing activities KERMEXBZRREFHE 1,238,353 2,146,863
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
wh R IE%/}ILE’%%

Year ended 31 December 2018
HE—ZT— )/ \F+-A=T—HIEFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 THER FAT
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH RERBEEZEY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS B,/ CRd) B (226,975) 189,316
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FYIzReRREEED
of year 284,520 93,945
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [ER&®) 7 &2 /%50 608 1,259
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRZASRASEEY
END OF YEAR 58,153 284,520
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASHAND  RERBEZEMEHIT
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances e RRITHER 58,153 284,520
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

31 December 2018
—E—-NF+=-A=+—H

1.

64

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
Imperial Pacific International Holdings Limited (the
“"Company”) was incorporated in Bermuda as an investment
holding company with limited liability under the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda. The address of its registered office is
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda.
The principal place of business is Suites 7001, 7002, 7014-
7016, 70/F., Two International Finance Centre, No. 8 Finance
Street, Central, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed
on The Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
gaming and resort business, including the development of an
integrated resort on the Island of Saipan, Commonwealth of
the Northern Mariana Islands (“CNMI").

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”), Inventive Star Limited (“Inventive Star”), a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, is the
ultimate holding company of the Company and Ms. Cui Li Jie

is the ultimate controlling party.
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows:

1.

REAREBESR (#)

FRMBLTRZER
ARBEEBHBATZFHBWT

________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
Percentage of equity

Place of incorporation/

registration and
business
KL
BRREELH

Issued ordinary/
registered capital
BRTER/
AfER

attributable to the Company

Principal activities

FEER

Best Sunshine
International Limited

ERERERAT

Best Fortune
Corporation Limited

RHEXBERAF

New Praise Ventures Limited

New Praise Ventures Limited

Imperial Pacific International
(CNMI), LLC ("1PI")

Imperial Pacific International
(CNMI), LLC( 1P1])

British Virgin Islands
RERLEE
Hong Kong

BA

British Virgin Islands

RERIES

CNMI

EBEELH

Imperial Pacific Properties, LLC CNMI

Imperial Pacific Properties, LLC 3t 5 2o 4y

East Gain Global
(CNMI) Limited
East Gain Global
(CNMI) Limited

Pride Keen Limited
HEERAH

CNMI

EBEELH

British Virgin Islands
RERLEE

US$100
100%7T
HKS$1
BT
Us$1
1%7T
US$100

E

US$100

E

US$100

E

US$1
1%

RATREGERZEDL
Direct Indirect
E# &
% %
100 -
100 -
100 -
100 -
100 -
100 -
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
100 -
100 -
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Investment holding
REZK

Provision of management
and consultancy services

REEE REARE

Provision of management
and consultancy services

REEE REARE

Development and operation
of a hotel and casino resort
EREREEBER
RESSZE R

Holding of leasehold
land in Saipan

RENSHAHELH

Holding of leasehold
land in Saipan

RENSHAHELH

Holding of yachts
BEBRE
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RAIREBER (&)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EBEHBARZER (&)

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company

RAREGEEREZADL
Place of incorporation/
registration and Issued ordinary/
Name business registered capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
TR BRTEE/
£ BERERBH HEMER Ef B FEXH
% %
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
Rich Surplus Ventures (CNMI), CNMI US$100 - 100 Holding of leasehold
LLC land in Saipan
Rich Surplus Ventures (CNMI), 15234 1003 7T - 100 RERSHERETH
LLC
Colour Palace CNMI LLC CNMI US$100 - 100 Holding of leasehold
land in Saipan
Colour Palace CNMI LLC Bl 1003%7T - 100 RERSHERETH
Imperial Pacific Macau Limited Macau MOP25,000 - 100 Marketing and promotion of
a hotel and casino resort
BERFFRABRAT R 25,0002F9 7T - 100 TZHEEREEEER
REZE RN
Imperial Consultancy Macau MOP25,000 - 100 Marketing
Macau Limited and consultancy services
BEEMAF-ABRAR &M 25,0002F9 7T - 100 5 & X b s AR s
|deal Best (CNMI), LLC CNMI US$100 - 100 Holding of leasehold
land in Saipan
Ideal Best (CNMI), LLC Bl 1003%7T - 100 RERSHERE T
Green Estate Holdings (CNMI), CNMI US$100 - 100 Holding of leasehold
LLC land in Saipan
Green Estate Holdings (CNMI), 3t 2547 1003%7T - 100 RERSHERE T
LLC
Keen State Global (CNMI), LLC CNMI US$100 - 100 Holding of leasehold
land in Saipan
Keen State Global (CNMI), LLC b5 2543 1003%7T - 100 RERSHERE T
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RAIREBER (&)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EBEHBARZER (&)

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company

RAREGEEREZADL
Place of incorporation/
registration and Issued ordinary/
Name business registered capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
TR BRTEE/
L BERERBH HEMER Ef B TEER
% %
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
Leading Chief (CNMI), LLC CNMI US$100 - 100 Holding of leasehold
land in Saipan
Leading Chief (CNMI), LLC  JtFEH#H 1003 7T - 100 RERSHERETH
Proper Grand (CNMI) LLC CNMI US$100 - 100 Holding of leasehold
land in Saipan
Proper Grand (CNMI) LLC ItEETH 100 7T - 100 REREHEHEELH
Unity Sense (CNMI) LLC CNMI US$100 - 100 Holding of leasehold
land in Saipan
Unity Sense (CNMI) LLC Bl 1003%7T - 100 RERSHERETH
Metro Time (CNMI), LLC CNMI US$100 - 100 Holding of leasehold
land in Saipan
Metro Time (CNMI), LLC Bl 1003%7T - 100 RERSHERETH
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, BERE S ERENZARBIMERRE
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results NEFRESBSANIERANEBEEFE
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets ZIXFEH D  c BEERE HMlEME AR
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in BB ERHENR LK ©

the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
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2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Despite that the Group reported a net loss of
HK$2,965,023,000 for the year, had net current liabilities of
HK$4,747,679,000 and capital commitments of approximately
HK$457,757,000 as at 31 December 2018 as detailed in note
34 to the consolidated financial statements, the Directors

68

consider that the Group will have adequate funds available to

enable it to operate as a going concern, based on the

Group's profit forecast and cash flow projection which, inter

alia, take into account the past actual operating performance

of the Group and the following:

(a)

new financing from independent third parties —
subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the
Company has raised new unsecured loans for an
aggregate amount of approximately HK$543,000,000
from independent third parties, of which
HK$340,000,000, HK$185,000,000 and HK$18,000,000
are repayable in 2019, 2021 and 2022, respectively;

refinancing of loans due in 2019 (non-overdue
amounts) — subsequent to the end of the reporting
period, the Company has agreed with its lenders to
renew certain loan agreements of approximately
HK$434,899,000 outstanding as at 31 December 2018
which were originally due for repayment in 2019, and
extended the repayment tenure to 2020, 2021 and 2022
for HK$97,700,000, HK$244,599,000 and HK$92,600,000,

respectively;

refinancing of overdue loans — subsequent to the end
of the reporting period, save for loan amounts of
HK$350,000,000 and HK$10,000,000 which have been
repaid on 22 March 2019 and 24 March 2019,
respectively, the Company has agreed with its lenders
to extend the repayment tenure of certain overdue loan
and note amounts of HK$16,000,000 and
HK$849,849,000, which were overdue before these
latest extension agreements, to the second half of 2019
or thereafter, respectively. Further details are set out in
notes 24 and 26 to the consolidated financial
statements;

21 25EE

BE R & EF NS E1EFEE 2,965,023,000
B RZE— N\F+ZA=+T—RH2ZiH
BEBE R 4,747,679,0008 7T M B AN FEIEL
#%457,757,000 7% 7T (FF il AR & BA 75 s = MY
FE34)  HEERE REBEAEEZENE
RARBeREEN  AEEKERHNESFE
HEUBEgE TR KLE  YEstk(Hh e
B)AEEBATERLERBARTISER
=

() REBUFE=HFzHME — HNREH
Kt ARBIEBILE= H IS E
IR E K45 49 A 543,000,000 7 7T
E 340,000,000 7% 7T + 185,000,000 7%
7T &%18,000,0008 T » Rl ZE RN = F
—NF ZEZ—FR-T-_FE

Bl

b) ZE-AFIHzEXERE(REBH
) — RREHRE  AQRHEE
ErmERR T —N\NF+=A
=+— B ZRKEE B A 434,899,000
BrEETERGZ  ZZEEIR
ER_ZZ-NFHEHEE  MAEF
97,700,0007% 7T * 244,599,000/ T &
92,600,000 T2 BEFADRILERE —F
—EF R ZT -

(0 ERHEXEME — N@WEHKRE -
BRERZZE—NF-_A=-+=ZHAE=
E-NEF=ZA-THBEEES A
350,000,000% 7t % 10,000,000 7T 2
BN RAGIHEAEFHEMET L
ZERHMTEHRBEINCDBE AH
16,000,0007% JT & 849,849,000/ 7T 2
AETEAHERRERSE ERE
DREEZZ—NFTFF¥F 2k
EHFBRRGREVBHREMT24R
26
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2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION (Continued)

(d) subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the
Company has obtained unsecured credit facilities in an
aggregate amount of HK$1,150,000,000 from two

independent third parties for its working capital needs;

(e)  the ultimate holding company and other related parties
have agreed to provide continuous financial support to
the Group by not demanding repayment of any
amounts due to them until the Group is in a financial
position to repay without impairing its liquidity position,
and to provide additional funding to finance the

Group's operations and capital investments;

(/)  the management is in discussion with certain potential
investors with a view to secure long term financing
principally to be used to complete the remaining
construction of the integrated gaming resort. As at the
date of issuance of these financial statements, the
investors and contractors are carrying out their due

diligence and preparation work; and

(@ the management will consider other financing
arrangements with a view to increase the Group's

capitalisation/equity.

Further details are set out in note 41 for events after the

reporting period.

The Directors believe that, taking into account the above
factors, the Group will have sufficient working capital to satisfy
its present requirements for at least the next 12 months from
the end of the reporting period. However, should the above
financing be unavailable, the Group may be unable to
continue as a going concern, in which case adjustments might
have to be made to the carrying values of the Group's assets
to state them at their realisable values, to provide for any
further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify its non-
current assets and non-current liabilities to current assets and
current liabilities, respectively. The effect of these adjustments
has not been reflected in these consolidated financial

statements.

21 2HEEG)

d RBEHRR ARFRELEEES
FEEMBBUE=Z7TRBRER
1,150,000,000 8 7T 2 LR EERE

() mAREBRARKEMERTERER
AEBRMBEVBEYH TG EKX
BEEMNENREZHNA BEAE
B 2 B AR R LAE IR A B SR T T
SREHRBED NN DI - WM
BB TAREREHLERER
BE

 EEERETEEREELETH®
DB RBRE  TERAN TR ERE
REBEEBRNBRTED - RTIEZ
EUBHBRER  REEFEERARBIE
ETEREENERTIE &

(@ EEESEREMBERY  HRE
IASEE 2 TE, s o

BRRERRERFBERMEAL -

EERERLERERRA  AEEKER
HwEEESRNEAREMREFRKED
128 R Z2FK = A - NEEERG it
B ARERREARSECEREREE
o RUBERAT  AFHAREEEZRE
EFHFAE  FEEmEREIZREED]
B ARARE—FPES BB RBER
REFRBDEERIERBABD HIEH NI
ERPEEMABDAE - ZFRHBZIFEY
BRZFUHHRERARB
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2.2

70

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“"HKFRSs")
(which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA"), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income and derivative financial
instruments, which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$") and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand

except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2018. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the

investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in

assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders

of the investee;
(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

() the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

2.2 RREE

ZEMBHRRIIREESEFMAS (BB
BFRAAE)EM BBV BREER(E
BUMBHRRER ] (BEMEEBYBHRE
R B gL ((EBEFER ] M2
B) ZEEBRMZETRAREBRR
EPI 2 RBREMMBRE - RIEERIEZANE
BEFF AR 2 ERAZBEARE MR E
EEZTESRIASN  ZEVBHRRTD
BESLKAERE - BRAHAEN  %F
M RERIIAET (BT 25 MEapE
EOFBERLTIT -

mEE%E

HEMBRREBEBEARRLEMNBLARNEE
“E-N\FH AT -HIEFEZHMBR
R MBARBAARERKKREEEFNZE
RB(BREERER) EAKEREBRES2H
AERFAEREHRAE QR 2R E
M - WEEMARE B RE R EE N FE DR
SR (AREREN A E R E BN IR IEE
SEHRNEREE) - ARKREUSIESE -

EARFRERIEERAAREHRINAZ
SRS IALRER - NREBRFFHEE L
REHRECHRERIKSERMARESE
BERER B

(@) EREHRZEMERERTBAL
ZERLE

b) HMENLHPIEEZEN &

(© AEENRERREGERTE-
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2.2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that

such control ceases.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of

the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity

transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i)
the fair value of any investment retained and (i) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 RREE (@)

ReEEE)

B A B 2 SRR Ty iR AR R RIAEE B R
SHE - KA-BWEHABRRER - HBEL
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IFERRIE-

ARAEEKRERRBRZGZMBEEEAR
AIEMBEERAR B WA FAXKEER
REBHNGE ARKZEIEH

WBEEENMERBER EX =1BEH TR
PR ZETRNREY  AEESEH
AEEREHREHREREGE - HEL
BlZFrEEERNREE (W EKEEFIE)
ER—BRaXHAK -

HAEBAEHMBAR 2SI - Blgg
R ZHBARNEE (BIEEHE) LA
18 (i) SRE R s 2 BREE ¢ R (iii) 7T
AEmz REHERZ8  YHER()SWKRE
ZAREE: (VENRERENAAEE:
K(i)AMREBEELE 2 BRIEAL - KAl
EREMEERAER 2 RNEBRIERD -
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2.3

72

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year's consolidated

financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions
Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with

HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Amendments to HKFRS 15 Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

HK(FRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration

Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 28

HKERSs 2014-2016 Cycle

Except for the amendments to HKFRS 4, amendments to
HKAS 40 and Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle, which
are not relevant to the preparation of the Group's financial
statements, the nature and the impact of the new and revised
HKFRSs, are described below:

2.3 BERERRESS

REERAFEZEEMBHRERE XA
THET REIERT BB M SIS AR -

BRHHREER RONFR 528 RHE
F25 (BT K)

BEABREER EREEHREENE4T
F45(BTK) R R K — R E RN

FEAZE IS ERTA
BEMBREENFIR 2BIA
%

EEMBRSEANE SR KeEFPAINE

BB REED BROBHSEAE 155 KE
F155 (BAT1) EPRiMHEE

BB G EAF 0% BRRENF
(BFTE)

B (ARMBRSEE AECSRENAE
ZEe)-REERT

BENBHSEN BRMBREEE1RR
ZF-MEECFNE BRGHEAZEBR(BIL)
BHZFRYE

BERUAREN SRR EBRZBENBER
EFRAF AT (EFTA) - BEGFTERIE 40
BRI ARN) R F—FZ —F— NFHH
ZEFRUEIN AT MERT BB RS
BRZHEERFEFMMT -
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 2 address three main areas: the
effects of vesting conditions on the measurement of a
cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the
classification of a share-based payment transaction with
net settlement features for withholding a certain amount
in order to meet an employee’s tax obligation
associated with the share-based payment; and
accounting where a modification to the terms and
conditions of a share-based payment transaction
changes its classification from cash-settled to equity-
settled. The amendments clarify that the approach used
to account for vesting conditions when measuring
equity-settled share-based payments also applies to
cash-settled share-based payments. The amendments
introduce an exception so that a share-based payment
transaction with net share settlement features for
withholding a certain amount in order to meet the
employee’s tax obligation is classified in its entirety as
an equity-settled share-based payment transaction
when certain conditions are met. Furthermore, the
amendments clarify that if the terms and conditions of a
cash-settled share-based payment transaction are
modified, with the result that it becomes an equity-
settled share-based payment transaction, the
transaction is accounted for as an equity-settled
transaction from the date of the modification. The
amendments have had no impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group as the Group
does not have any cash-settled share-based payment
transactions and has no share-based payment
transactions with net settlement features for withholding

tax.

23 S EREREESE @)

(a)

BEWHREERE 2R (BFTA) W
RZEXBEE : REKTYRSE
BERONRRSTE2RE  RETT
BB HEARMD AER 2R
ZAMEMIAN—E 2 BARMD R
AR (ABEFEERBO 208 A
FAEBRBAD 1 R B 2 AR R & <
HOoPBReEENR/AEREERZ
GERIE - ZFEFTER NI EAE
A E AR AR 2 R 5
BIRF 2 ABRITDERBERNR &
BUABRNRER I NRAX - ZEE
ISl A—EBIIMER - HEEFTEE
TR - SETTEEMRELBME
H—EEBABRN KRS (BRFFE
BERB) B2 RE RS EE RN
KRG e I ZFERTER W
SR S B E D R 5 2 IR A%
o SERASAREEERND IR
7 AZR 5B ENEREERER
REBRNDNRRZAR - HRAEH
WELRSEERDNIRRS - ¢
EEABBEHMBFEENRE 2O
Ry BERZFETHARE 2
BRRRRIRY WAL -
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

74

(b)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces HKAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018,
bringing together all three aspects of the accounting for
financial instruments: classification and measurement,

impairment and hedge accounting.

The Group has recognised the transition adjustments
against the applicable opening balances in equity at 1
January 2018. Therefore, the comparative information
was not restated and continues to be reported under
HKAS 39.

Classification and measurement

The following information sets out the impacts of
adopting HKFRS 9 on the statement of financial
position, including the effect of replacing HKAS 39’s
incurred credit loss calculations with HKFRS 9’'s

expected credit losses (“ECLs").

Imperial Pacific International Holdings Limited % K ¥ EIBIZRGR A A
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)
A reconciliation between the carrying amounts under
HKAS 39 and the balances reported under HKFRS 9 as

2.3 EFBERBEEZE @)

(b) ()

AERHE ()
R-Z—\F—B—R EBEH
RISEI9RET 2 EAERE B H

at 1 January 2018 is as follows: ERBNEIFRIE T2 M2 48R B8R
s
|
HKAS 39 HKFRS 9
measurement measurement
BAGHER BRMEREER
HEI9RIHE EORHE
Category Amount  Reclassification Amount  Category
5l k2 ENNE 2] <R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T
|
Financial assets tREE
Equity investments designated at  $8E ARAA BEF ALK FvoCr
fair value through other PARACRARE (equity)
comprehensive income N/ATES - 82,464 82,464 (#2%)
From: Available-for-sale B HEERE (note)
investments (M3 82,464
Available-for-sale investments A HERE AFS? 82,464 (82,464) - NATER
To: Equity investments designated Z : & ARALEEA
at fair value through other Eth2ERAZ (note)
comprehensive income kaga () (82464)
Trade receivables B HEH &R 8531,023 - 8531023 ACt
Financial assets included in SARNRE  BER
prepayment, deposits EtENE e REE
and other receivables L&R 178,11 - 178,715 AC
Derivative financial asset ITEEREE FVPLS 1,01 - 1,010 FVPL
(mandatory)
(BHH)
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBRLEED L&R 284,520 - 284,520 AC
Total financial assets TREELE 9,077,732 - 9071732
Annual Report 2018 FE# & 7 5
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

! FVOCI:
2 AFS:

3 L&R:

4 AC:

5 FVPL:

Note:

Financial asset at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Available-for-sale investments

Loans and receivables

Financial assets or financial liabilities at amortised
cost

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or
loss

The Group has elected the option to irrevocably designate all of its
previous available-for sale equity investments as equity investments

at fair value through other comprehensive income.

There has been no impact on the classification and

measurement of the Group's financial liabilities as a
result of the adoption of HKFRS 9.

76
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(b)
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31 December 2018
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

Impairment

HKFRS 9 requires an impairment on trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables that are not accounted
for at fair value through profit or loss under HKFRS 9, to
be recorded based on an expected credit loss model
either on a twelve-month basis or a lifetime basis.
Further details on the Group’s accounting policy for
impairment of financial assets are disclosed in note 2.5
to the consolidated financial statements. The adoption
of HKFRS 9 has had no significant impact on the
impairment of the financial assets of the Group.

Impact on reserve and accumulated losses
The impact of the above changes on the Group's equity

is as follows:

2.3 EFBERBEEZE @)

(b)

(#8)

B

BEMBEHREERIEIRBRE - JFRE
R BHRELANEIRIRAABE
ABSARZERESERR  BEM
Hip BRI 2 RE  BEREBHE
ERBERA Rt —EAEELATRF
HEEAR - BAAKESREER
ENEZ G ERRZE - FFBERER
B TR 25WE - WinEEY
BlREENE IR ANEESREER
BEMEEMNEARE -

ﬁﬁﬁ&?#@EZ%
EHHARE R IZENT

At 31 December 2017

Reclassify the impairment loss provided 3
in prior years from accumulated
losses to investment reserve
(non-recycling) in respect of equity

investments designated at FVOCI

Investment
reserve
(non-  Accumulated
recycling) losses
RERE
(FAyEmE) RitEBER
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
I —
R_TE—tF+-_A=+—H - (69,815)
BEFEREBEEESH R
BEEN D ERET /R
AABESAEMEEKA
2RI E 2 WA
(TrrEEm) (33,589) 33,589
R-ZT—N\F—H—H (33,589) (36,226)

At 1 January 2018
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(0

78

HKFRS 15 and its amendments replace HKAS 11
Construction Contracts, HKAS 18 Revenue and related
interpretations and it applies, with limited exceptions,
to all revenue arising from contracts with customers.
HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to account
for revenue arising from contracts with customers.
Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects
to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or
services to a customer. The principles in HKFRS 15
provide a more structured approach for measuring and
recognising revenue. The standard also introduces
extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure
requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue,
information about performance obligations, changes in
contract asset and liability account balances between
periods and key judgements and estimates. The
disclosures are included in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements. As a result of the application of
HKFRS 15, the Group has changed the accounting
policy with respect to revenue recognition as further
disclosed in note 2.5 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(0

(Continued)

Under HKFRS 15, gaming revenue represents the net
difference between gaming wins and losses.
Commissions related directly to customers are recorded
as a reduction to gaming revenue. Gaming contracts
include a performance obligation to honor the patron’s
wager and typically include a performance obligation to
provide a product or service to the patron on a
complimentary basis under the Group's loyalty
programs. For wagering contracts that include products
and services provided to a patron in exchange for
complimentary commissions or points earned under the
Group's loyalty programs, the Group allocates the
estimated stand-alone selling price of the
complimentary commissions or points earned to the
loyalty program liability. The loyalty program liability is a
deferral of revenue until redemption occurs. Upon
redemption of the complimentary commissions or
loyalty program points for Group-owned products and
services, the standalone selling price of each product or
service is allocated to the respective revenue type. For
redemption of the complimentary commissions or
loyalty program points with third parties, the
redemption amount is deducted from the loyalty
program liability and paid directly to the third party.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 using the full
retrospective method of adoption. The effect of
adopting HKFRS 15 is, as follows:

23 S EREREESE @)

(0

(#8)

RIFFBMBREERF 155 - X
WastsER S BER W2 FEE -
EREZPHEBZASLESERK
@m0 BEAHNEBRETELT
AZBHEER-—REEREASE
EPBHASIRBEERATPIRHE
mAMBzEBOEE - RBERATP
REEMIBREARBEAEERF B
it BB e BAEKMMEED 2
TEIRHOME  ARENEL2ERE
SARIED B EBEBETP
BHAERE - FERFABERER
BEEBOEAR ZEEWR:S - BLAS
BHEEzERNREELREME N
EFPRABFEREN R  SERIRE
ZEBEEKOEEEREER -
RFE=TEELEMSRET P BHT
gHEOIME BOBEEATF BHE
FRENMBRITERINTHE=D °

AEECEBEEERRMNTT RS
BEVEMEEE 155 - WNEE
PG mEERIF 155 2 FEWMT ¢
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)
(¢) (Continued) ()

2.3 EFBERBEEZE @)
()
WHE-T—LET-A=+—AL

FEZGABahEMEEEERZ

2.4
R

Impact on the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31
December 2017.

|
Year ended
31 December Year ended

2017 31 December

(As previously 2017
reported) Reclassification (As restated)
BZE BZE
—E—+F —E—+tF
t=A=t+—-H t=RA=t—8”
IEEE EEE
(gt 2%1) BB (E5)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET FET
|
Gross revenue Rl g
VIP gaming operations EEEVER 12,728,872 (5,384,024) 7,344,848
Mass gaming operations IS R 302,665 - 302,665
Slot machines and ATHENETEEEY
Electronic Table Game ([EFEEEB¥])
("ETG") gaming By
operations 66,861 - 66,861
Food and beverage Z8R 57,210 21,962 79,172
13,155,608 (5,362,062) 7,793,546
Commissions lika (4,997,103) 4,997,103 -
Net revenue W #5858 8,158,505 (364,959) 7,793,546
Cost of sales $HE AR AN (1,215,613) 364,959 (850,654)
Gross profit EH 6,942,892 - 6,942,892
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(0

(Continued)

There is no impact on the consolidated statement of
financial position. The contract liabilities consist of
outstanding chip liabilities, loyalty program liabilities,
patrons deposits and other gaming liabilities. There is
no impact on the consolidated statement of changes in
equity, consolidated statement of cash flows and basic

and diluted earnings per share.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 provides guidance on how to determine
the date of the transaction when applying HKAS 21 to
the situation where an entity receives or pays advance
consideration in a foreign currency and recognises a
non-monetary asset or liability. The interpretation
clarifies that the date of the transaction for the purpose
of determining the exchange rate to use on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or
part of it) is the date on which an entity initially
recognises the non-monetary asset (such as a
prepayment) or non-monetary liability (such as deferred
income) arising from the payment or receipt of the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments
or receipts in advance of recognising the related item,
the entity must determine the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration. The
interpretation has had no impact on the Group's
financial statements as the Group's accounting policy
for the determination of the exchange rate applied for
initial recognition of non-monetary assets or non-
monetary liabilities is consistent with the guidance

provided in the interpretation.
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2.4 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 24 EHEMEHRERZERUBRE
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS P 4=
The Group has not applied the following new and revised REFBWENZEZVISHRER T CEM
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in ME R AR AN 7 5] RSB BIE B S E
these financial statements. Al o
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business? BRI BREEAE S EBIER?
(BETE)
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative BANBREENE IR ABERENENENE
Compensation’ (E5T7%)
Amendments to HKFRS 10and ~ Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor EEIBHRERNEORE REFHERELNAAAE
HKAS 28 (2011) and its Associate or Joint Venture* BT ERIE 285 PEFEELERKA
(BFTF)NZE—%)
HKFRS 16 Leases' BRI BHEENF 165 g
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’ BRI BREEANE 175 RBAL?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material BESTENEIRR EAZER?
and HKAS 8 BT EREST (5TF)
Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement BESTERE 195 (GTX) AT FRAEE
Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates BABIERAZ28% (BFTA) REERTRAELEZ
and Joint Ventures' Rk
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments' B (EFTFHRERE FizhEREs TEER
ZR8)-2EBED%E
Annual Improvements 2015-2017  Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11, HKAS 12 ZE-REEE-+HEY BRMBREENEIN
Cycle and HKAS 23 BN ERRBREENZ NS

BEEERE %L
ERGTENE BB

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 1 RoE—HE— B —BR T EEA > EE R
A
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020 2 A—E-TE— f— A AT EE R
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 3 RoZE——E— A — [ A% &S R
£
4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for 4 Wk E| Ak B H - AT IE R AT A
adoption
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2.4 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)
Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to

be applicable to the Group is as follows.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments
clarify that for an integrated set of activities and assets to be
considered a business, it must include, at a minimum, an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create output. A business can exist
without including all of the inputs and processes needed to
create outputs. The amendments remove the assessment of
whether market participants are capable of acquiring the
business and continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus
is on whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive
processes together significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs. The amendments have also narrowed the
definition of outputs to focus on goods or services provided
to customers, investment income or other income from
ordinary activities. Furthermore, the amendments provide
guidance to assess whether an acquired process is
substantive and introduce an optional fair value concentration
test to permit a simplified assessment of whether an acquired
set of activities and assets is not a business. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1
January 2020.
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2.4

84

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(Continued)

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease,
HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int
27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the
Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles
for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise assets
and liabilities for most leases. The standard includes two
elective recognition exemptions for lessees — leases of low-
value assets and short-term leases. At the commencement
date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease
payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing
the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term
(i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-of-use asset is
subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses unless the right-of-use asset meets
the definition of investment property in HKAS 40, or relates to
a class of property, plant and equipment to which the
revaluation model is applied and the lessee elects to apply
that model to the right-of-use asset. The lease liability is
subsequently increased to reflect the interest on the lease
liability and reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will be
required to separately recognise the interest expense on the
lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-
use asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure the
lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events, such as
change in the lease term and change in future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine
those payments. Lessees will generally recognise the amount
of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment
to the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16
is substantially unchanged from the accounting under HKAS
17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same
classification principle as in HKAS 17 and distinguish between
operating leases and finance leases. HKFRS 16 requires
lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than
under HKAS 17. Lessees can choose to apply the standard
using either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective
approach. The Group adopts HKFRS 16 from 1 January 2019.
The Group plans to adopt the transitional provisions in HKFRS
16 to recognise the cumulative effect of initial adoption as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at 1
January 2019 and will not restate the comparatives. In
addition, the Group plans to apply the new requirements to
contracts that were previously identified as leases applying
HKAS 17 and measure the lease liability at the present value
of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the
Group's incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial
application. The right-of-use asset will be measured at the
amount of the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any
prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the lease
recognised in the statement of financial position immediately
before the date of initial application. The Group plans to use
the exemption allowed by the standard on lease contracts
whose lease term end within 12 months as of the date of
initial application. During 2018, the Group has performed an
assessment on the impact of adoption of HKFRS 16.
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2.4 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of HK$137,907,000 as disclosed
in note 33. A preliminary assessment indicates that these
arrangements will meet the definition of a lease. Upon
application of HKFRS 16, the Group will recognise a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of all these

leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition
of material. The new definition states that information is
material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statement. The amendments
clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude
of information. A misstatement of information is material if it
could reasonably be expected to influence decisions made by
primary users. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
prospectively from 1 January 2020. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group's

financial statements.
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86

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for income taxes
(current and deferred) when tax treatments involve uncertainty
that affects the application of HKAS 12 (often referred to as
“uncertain tax positions”). The interpretation does not apply
to taxes or levies outside the scope of HKAS 12, nor does it
specifically include requirements relating to interest and
penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments. The
interpretation specifically addresses (i) whether an entity
considers uncertain tax treatments separately; (ii) the
assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax
treatments by taxation authorities; (iii) how an entity
determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused tax
losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and (iv) how an entity
considers changes in facts and circumstances. The
interpretation is to be applied retrospectively, either fully
retrospectively without the use of hindsight or retrospectively
with the cumulative effect of application as an adjustment to
the opening equity at the date of initial application, without
the restatement of comparative information. The Group
expects to adopt the interpretation from 1 January 2019. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact

on the Group's financial statements.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwiill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net assets
in the event of liquidation either at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed

as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded

derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in

profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is

accounted for within equity.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is
lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss

as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group

are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is

not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is
measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit

retained.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investments and derivative
financial instruments at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in

their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the

asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable

inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as
follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to

the fair value measurement as a whole:
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

Level 1 -~ based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active

markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either

directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair

value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Group determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
deferred tax assets, properties held for sale, financial assets,
investment properties and goodwill), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which

the asset belongs.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the

impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have
decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or

loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person'’s
family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)

92

(b)

the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the

same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow

subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the

same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and

the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or

an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a

parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is
a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful

lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:
Leasehold land classified Over the lease terms

as finance leases

Buildings 2.5% - 4%
Yachts 10%
Motor vehicles 20%

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of

the lease terms and 20%

Gaming machines and equipment 20%
Furniture and equipment 20%
Computer hardware and software 33%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on
a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if

appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales

proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction, which are stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and are not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on
related borrowed funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed

and ready for use.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect
the purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised
finance leases, including prepaid land lease payments under
finance leases, are included in property, plant and equipment,
and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such
leases are charged to profit or loss so as to provide a constant

periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included in
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to profit or loss on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals
payable under operating leases net of any incentives received
from the lessor are charged to profit or loss on the straight-

line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the

straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or

loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial assets at its fair value, plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance

with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest ("SPPI”) on the principal

amount outstanding.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,

selling the financial assets, or both.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchase or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subseguent measurement of financial assets depends on

their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both

of the following conditions are met:

o The financial asset is held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect

contractual cash flows.

o The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount

outstanding.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
(Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or

impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (equity instruments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for
trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-

instrument basis.

Gain and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as
other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right
of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds
as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which
case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment

assessment.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated
upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or
financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair
value. Financial asset are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the
near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they
are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal
and interest are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be
classified at amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income, as described above, debt instruments
may be designated at fair value through profit or loss on
initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly

reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with net

changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets
at fair value profit or loss are also recognised as other income
in profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the
amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)
A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or no-financial host, is separated from the host and
accounted for as a separated derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; a
separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in
the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of
a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss

category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is
required to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at

fair value through profit or loss.

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables and available-for-sale financial investments as
appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially,
they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets, except in
the case of financial assets recorded at fair value through

profit or loss.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 25 TESHBERBE(#)

100

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by

regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subseqguent measurement of financial assets depends on

their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for trading
if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they are designated

as effective hedging instruments as defined by HKAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with positive
net changes in fair value presented as other income and gains
and negative net changes in fair value presented as other
expenses in profit or loss. These net fair value changes do not
include any dividends or interest earned on these financial
assets, which are recognised in accordance with the policies

set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of
initial recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are
satisfied.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)
Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as
separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to
those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not
held for trading or designated as at fair value through profit
or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in the statement
of profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a
change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies
the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a
reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value through

profit or loss category.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in other income
and gains in profit or loss. The loss arising from impairment is
recognised in profit or loss in finance costs for loans and in

other expenses for receivables.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in unlisted equity investments. Equity
investments classified as available for sale are those which are
neither classified as held for trading nor designated as at fair

value through profit or loss.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 25 TESHBERBE(#)

102

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial
investments are subsequently measured at fair value, with
unrealised gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive
income in the available-for-sale investment revaluation
reserve until the investment is derecognised, at which time
the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss in
other income, or until the investment is determined to be
impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from
the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to the
statement of profit or loss in other gains or losses. Interest
and dividends earned whilst holding the available-for-sale
financial investments are reported as interest income and
dividend income, respectively and are recognised in profit or
loss as other income in accordance with the policies set out

for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be
reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that
investment or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates
within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in
estimating fair value, such investments are stated at cost less

any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell
its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are still
appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable
to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets, the
Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets if
management has the ability and intention to hold the assets

for the foreseeable future or until maturity.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale
category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised
in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life
of the investment using the effective interest rate. Any
difference between the new amortised cost and the maturity
amount is also amortised over the remaining life of the asset
using the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently
determined to be impaired, then the amount recorded in

equity is reclassified to profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and
policies under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January
2018)

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated

statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a "pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of

the asset.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 25 TESHBERBE(#)

104

POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and
policies under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January
2018) (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When
it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset,
the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group's continuing involvement. In that case,
the Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on
a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group
has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum

amount of consideration that the Group could be required to

repay.

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS
9 applicable from 1 January 2018)

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt
instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs
are based on the difference between the contractual cash
flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral

to the contractual terms.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS
9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (Continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures
for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure,

irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,

including historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to
be in default when internal or external information indicates
that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is
written off when there is no reasonable expectation of

recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed

below.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 25 TESHBERBE(#)
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POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS
9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Stage1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is measured at

an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic

environment.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS
39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that
can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may
include indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is
experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability
that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such
as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate
with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the
Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss s,
or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective

assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as
the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future
credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present
value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the

effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).
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POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS
39 applicable before 1 January 2018) (Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use
of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in profit or
loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced
carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used
to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring
the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any
associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic
prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been

realised or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by
adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to other expenses in profit

or loss.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is
objective evidence that an investment or a group of

investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair value,
less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit or
loss, is removed from other comprehensive income and

recognised in profit or loss.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS
39 applicable before 1 January 2018) (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

In the case of equity investments classified as available for
sale, objective evidence would include a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below its
cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of the
investment and “prolonged” against the period in which the
fair value has been below its original cost. Where there is
evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as
the difference between the acquisition cost and the current
fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment
previously recognised in profit or loss — is removed from
other comprehensive income and recognised in profit or loss.
Impairment losses on equity instruments classified as available
for sale are not reversed through profit or loss. Increases in
their fair value after impairment are recognised directly in

other comprehensive income.

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged”
requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration or extent to

which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 25 TESHBERBE(#)
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POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018 and policies under
HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans

and borrowings or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of

directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, loans from related parties, other borrowings,
unsecured bonds and notes, convertible bonds and notes

and derivative financial liabilities.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends

on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, loans and other borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate

amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in profit

or loss.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018 and policies under
HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Convertible bonds and notes

The component of convertible bonds that exhibits
characteristics of a liability is recognised as a liability in the
statement of financial position, net of transaction costs. On
issuance of convertible bonds, the fair value of the liability
component is determined using a market rate for an
equivalent non-convertible bond; and this amount is carried
as a long term liability on the amortised cost basis until
extinguished on conversion or redemption. The remainder of
the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option that is
recognised and included in shareholders’ equity, net of
transaction costs. The carrying amount of the conversion
option is not remeasured in subsequent years. Transaction
costs are apportioned between the liability and equity
components of the convertible bonds based on the allocation
of proceeds to the liability and equity components when the

instruments are first recognised.

If the conversion option of convertible bonds exhibits
characteristics of an embedded derivative, it is separated
from its liability component. On initial recognition, the
derivative component of the convertible bonds is measured
at fair value and presented as part of derivative financial
instruments. Any excess of proceeds over the amount initially
recognised as the derivative component is recognised as the
liability component. Transaction costs are apportioned
between the liability and derivative components of the
convertible bonds based on the allocation of proceeds to the
liability and derivative components when the instruments are
initially recognised. The portion of the transaction costs
relating to the liability component is recognised initially as
part of the liability. The portion relating to the derivative

component is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 25 TESHBERBE(#)
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POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and
policies under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January
2018)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under

the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the
difference between the respective carrying amounts is

recognised in profit or loss.

Mandatorily convertible notes

Mandatorily convertible note issued by the Company is an
instrument that, at a certain time in the future, converts into
shares of the Company. A mandatorily convertible note is
recognised as equity in its entirety if the fixed stated principal
will be settled through delivery of a fixed number of the
Company’s own shares; the principal of the convertible note
is in the same currency as the functional currency of the
Company; and the interest on the note is payable only at the
discretion of the Company. On initial recognition, the note is
measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and included
in shareholders’ equity. The carrying amount of the note is

not remeasured in subsequent years.

RIBEReHEBE(RETBEMKERS
ERAFEIKB-_E—N\NF—HA—HEE
AZBRERBEEBGFEREIOR
R-ZE—N\F—A—HAEAZERX)
ECRMABERETCERDET  BUHSER
B 2o B EgmKEER-

ER—EETUATHEREERZ 2B AER
RIREERMEE - BB EEZHFWAKE
{Eok - A BE SIS AR (AR LERERR R IR
BEIERHAE  MABKREEZEA

SRH MR R
ARABBEITHRG AT RRERERARRE
TEERBRAARREND - MEEHAE
REBRXNEERENARABRMNEE - Al
SRR R RIE S 2 B R AR TR
BRBEZATERNRBZINEEHEHER M
FZEBZ NN SERRAARRRIERE -
KRR - REARABESEENR
RHRAFT AR Em T - BB ZREER
HERFETBENIE -

Imperial Pacific International Holdings Limited & KX ¥ BB ZERER A A



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRHME

31 December 2018
—ZE-NF+=-A=+—H

2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and
policies under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January
2018)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a

net basis, or to realise and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any

estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash

management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in

nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 25 TESHBERBE(#)
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POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be

made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to
be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of

time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices

prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their

carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable

temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not

reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits
and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences,
the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses

can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor

taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 25 TESHBERBE(#)
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POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax

asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the

end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in
each future period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or

recovered.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or

services.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is
highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is

subsequently resolved.

When the contract, contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than
one year, revenue is measured at the present value of the
amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less,
the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a
significant financing component, using the practical expedient
in HKFRS 15.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

118

Casino revenues

Gross casino revenues are measured by the aggregate
net difference between gaming wins and losses. The
Group accounts for its casino wagering transactions on
a portfolio basis versus an individual basis as all wagers
have similar characteristics. Commissions rebated to
customers either directly or indirectly through gaming
promoters and cash discounts and other cash incentives
earned by customers are recorded as a reduction of
gross casino revenues. In addition to the wager, casino
transactions typically include performance obligations
related to complimentary goods or services provided in
exchange for complimentary commissions or points

earned under the Group’s loyalty programs.

For casino transactions that include complimentary
goods or services provided by the Group, the Group
allocates the standalone selling price of each good or
service to the appropriate revenue type based on the
good or service provided. Complimentary goods or
services that are provided under the Group's control
and discretion and supplied by third parties are
recorded as an operating expense.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(@) Casino revenues (Continued)
The Group operates different non-discretionary incentives
programs which include the loyalty programs (“Loyalty
Programs”) to encourage repeat business mainly from
loyal slot machine customers and table games patrons.
Customers earn complimentary commissions or points
primarily based on gaming activity and such points can be
redeemed for free play and other free goods and services.
For casino transactions that include complimentary
commissions or points earned under the Loyalty Programs,
the Group defers a portion of the revenue by recording
the estimated standalone selling price of the
complimentary commissions or earned points that are
expected to be redeemed as a liability. Upon redemption
of the complimentary commissions or points for Group-
owned goods or services. the standalone selling price of
each good or service is allocated to the appropriate
revenue type based on the good or service provided.
Upon the redemption of the complimentary commissions
or points with third parties, the redemption amount is
deducted from the liability and paid directly to the third

party.

After allocating amounts to the complimentary goods
or services provided and to the points earned under the
Loyalty Programs, the residual amount is recorded as

casino revenue.

(b) Food and beverage
Food and beverage income are recognised when the
food and beverage have been provided to the

customer.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest rate method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial

asset.
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POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Other income (Continued)

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the

Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services
to a customer for which the Group has received a consideration
(or an amount of consideration that is due) from the customer.
If a customer pays the consideration before the Group transfers
goods or services to the customer, a contract liability is
recognised when the payment is made or the payment is due
(whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as

revenue when the Group performs under the contract.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group's
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration for

equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to
the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 29 to the

consolidated financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group's best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a
period represents the movement in the cumulative expense

recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken
into account when determining the grant date fair value of
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group's best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date
fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but
without an associated service requirement, are considered to
be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are
reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an
immediate expensing of an award unless there are also
service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or
is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the
date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not
yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This
includes any award where non-vesting conditions within the
control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated
as if they were a modification of the original award, as
described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per

share.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 25 TESHBERBE(#)
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POLICIES (Continued)

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the "MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to participate
in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’'s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s employer
voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the Group
when the employee leaves employment prior to the
contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in

connection with the borrowing of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used for the
purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation rate of
9.24% (2017: 8.77%) has been applied to the expenditure on

the individual assets.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated

financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’'s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and

declared.

Foreign currencies

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary

items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of
a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line
with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value
of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair
value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss is also recognised in other

comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 25 TESHBERBE(#)

124

POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance

consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of
the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong

dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component
of other comprehensive income relating to that particular

foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at

the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange

rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the

future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year, are described below.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a loss rate approach to measure expected credit
losses. The credit risk categorisation is determined based on
a number of factors which include (i) debtors’ ageing; (ii)
historical repayment behaviour of debtors; (iii) availability of
collaterals in front money or guarantee deposits; (iv) wealth
proof; and (v) other debtors’ specific information available to
the Group which is relevant for credit risk assessment. The
credit risk categorisation is adjusted to reflect subsequent
information uncovered to an extent that such information
provides evidence of conditions existed as at the year end
date and forward-looking information. The expected loss
rates are estimated based on the expected cash flows that
can be recovered from the collateral and other estimated

repayments based on historical recovery ratios.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
(Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical recovery
ratio, estimated repayment and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances
and conditions. The Group's historical credit loss experience
and estimates may also not be representative of customer’s
actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs
on the Group's trade receivables is disclosed in note 18 to the

consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when
the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on
available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s
length transaction of similar assets or observable market
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or
cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in

order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and residual
values for the Group's property, plant and equipment. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives and residual values of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. The Group will
revise the depreciation charge where useful lives and residual
values are different from previous estimates, or it will write-off
or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets
that have been abandoned or sold. The carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2018 was
HK$6,447,398,000 (2017: HK$5,468,239,000). Further details
are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Income tax provision

The Group is subject to corporate income tax in the CNMI. As
certain matters relating to income taxes are subject to the
agreement by the local tax bureau, objective estimation and
judgement based on currently enacted tax laws, regulations
and other related policies are required in determining the
provision for income taxes. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts originally
recorded, the differences will impact on the income tax

provisions in the period in which the differences are realised.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in the gaming and resort
business, including the development of an integrated resort
on the Island of Saipan. No separate operating segment
information is presented as the Group has only one operating

segment.

Geographical information

Geographical information is not presented since all of the
Group's revenue was derived from Island of Saipan, based on
the locations of the customers. Over 95% of the Group's non-
current assets are located in the Island of Saipan. Accordingly,
the presentation of geographical information would provide
no additional useful information to the users of these

consolidated financial statements.

Information about major customers
Revenue from gaming operations of approximately
HK$1,274,585,000 (2017: HK$1,488,401,000 (restated)) was

derived from a single external customer.
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REVENUE 5. W&
The Group's revenue is as follows: REEZWEINT
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —EFE—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
(Restated)
(&%)
___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
VIP gaming operations EEEYER 2,912,324 7,344,848
Mass gaming operations RISIER X 208,920 302,665
Slot machines and ETG gaming operations /& # & & 72 A E £ 56,302 66,861
Food and beverage Z8R 77,041 79172
3,254,587 7,793,546
Details of contract liabilities are as follows: FHSHABIFENT :

Outstanding Loyalty program Patrons deposits and

chips liabilities liabilities other gaming liabilities
RUBBREE EFRHAEAE FEFERERAEMBEAEE

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

—E-0\F ZFtF ZBE-N\F ZEtF ZE-NA\F TR
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TiER TEL TiER TBT TR TBT

Balance at 1 January N—A—Bz#s 259,276 183,396 325,426 164,864 3,774,252 2,693,655
Balance at 31 December A+=-A=1+—H

2R 4,847 259,276 233,819 325,426 2,846,612 3,774,252
Increase/(decrease) 0/ (Fid) (254,429) 75,880 (91,607) 160,562 (927,640) 1,080,597
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6. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 6. BRBiADZRA(H&8)
The Group's profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after REBBRBMADEN, (BE)EME (5t A)
charging/(crediting): AREIE -
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B =E FHET FET
|
Cost of inventories sold* BEHEFEERKA* 16,745 27,685
Business gross revenue tax BERBIED
("BGRT")* ([&xBULEB )~ 163,878 637,473
Depreciation e 13 167,312 139,741
Amortisation of prepaid FaS L b AH & SRR 5H
land lease payments 14 4,263 7,946
Casino licence fees* IREEIG IR IR E 117,578 116,909
Auditor's remuneration 2 BB 357 B 11,200 12,000
Minimum lease payments under RIFKEHEZ
operating leases HIRAE IS 84,804 133,466
Employee benefit expenses EERAHXZ
(including directors’ remuneration (B 3EE EH B
(note 8)): (f17E8)) =
Wages and salaries*** RN K e 986,692 641,669
Pension scheme contributions RIKSEHEIH 1,273 2,441
987,965 644,110
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PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX (Continued) 6. BRBLATER(BE)#E)
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B aE FHET FH&TT
|
Foreign exchange differences, net [ X =585 18,035 4,155
Loss on disposal/write-off of HE MEDE - BE
property, plant and equipment** 23R #5ET1E ** 26,999 25,876
Impairment losses recognised for RIEWE SRR 2
trade receivables, net REERFE 4,355,689 4,185,431
Impairment of prepayments for BEIFRBEEL
acquisition of non-current assets TERFRIB 2 RE 132,395 -
Impairment of available-for-sale A ERE ZRE
investments** 16 - 33,589
Fair value loss on available-for-sale  AIffiEERE 2
investments (transfer from equity NAEEEE
on disposal)** (BEHEERARFA)** 16 - 266
Fair value gain on derivative financial /T4 &8 T A2
instruments, net** N BEKEFEE 25 (46) (549)
Dividend income from available-for- G HEIRE 2
sale investments** % B ** - (14)
Dividend income from equity RERARBE AHM
investments at fair value through ZHEIMAZBRATIRE 2
other comprehensive income** fi% S U A+ (537) -
Bank interest income** HRIT A B A > (1) @
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries*™ &} B QA A 2 W ** 31 - (11,966)
* Included in “Cost of sales” on the face of the consolidated * A EEEREMEERGER 2 [HERA]
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. A e
*x Included in “Other income, gains and losses, net” on the face of *x HAGEBEEREMEEKER Y [TFEMU
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other A WEREE]A -

comprehensive income.

*** Staff costs of HK$385,270,000 (2017: HK$121,975,000) included in o FF AN EX oz 8 TRZN385,270,0008 T (= F
the above were capitalised under property, plant and equipment. — 4 121,975,000 70) R E  BER
REBATENE -
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7. FINANCE COSTS 7. MBEH
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: PHBERASTWT
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B E FHERT TET

Interest on other borrowings and RE RS 2 EfE R

loans from related parties RERZHME 301,235 137,114
Interest on convertible bonds AR ESRER 2 FE
and notes 25 4,167 22,643
Interest on unsecured bonds EIREESENEE ZF B
and notes 155,640 120,270
461,042 280,027
Less: Interest capitalised* B BN A (203,185) (114,815)
257,857 165,212
* The borrowing costs have been capitalised at the weighted average * HE_Z-—N\F+ZA=1T—HIEFE ' &KX
rate of 9.24% for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: 8.77%). AR INE LR RO24%BEFE R (= F

—+5F 1 877%) °
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the "Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f)
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of

Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

EEHM

REBRLZAES EMANT LEHRUD - F
B2 T G155 383(1)@) ~ (b) ~ (0 & () AR
RE|(WEEENEER) ROIF 28 EN
AEFERHFMMT -

Fees we

HiME

Other emoluments:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 - 2L R EDFZE

Share-based payments

Pension scheme contributions

During the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2017, certain
directors were granted share options, in respect of their
services to the Group, under the share option scheme of the
Company, further details of which are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements. The fair value of such
options, which has been recognised in profit or loss over the
vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and
the amount included in the consolidated financial statements
for the current year is included in the above directors’

remuneration disclosures.

RIS BIHR

2018 2017
—E-NE —E—+1F

HK$'000 HK$'000

Tz FHET

6,136 6,580

6,095 7,063

LARRAD B ETE 2 MR 792 2,190
124 156

7,011 9,409

13,147 15,989

BE_Z-RAFN_ZT—tF+-_A=1—
BIEFE  ETESERERASERHENR
BIRBAR QA ERER S ER B &
—FRHIBERRA M RERMGE29 - ZEH
BENATEEEERBHENBDTE
R IRETREE - MEAFEEA MK
BRTERNSEERELAESHTMZ T

= o
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8. DIRECTORS’' REMUNERATION (Continued) 8. EEHM®
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BIAFHTES
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits  Share-based scheme Total
Fees in kind payments contributions remuneration
e URHBA
EER Higz Rikg
ik kil DESEE HE JHEN BEH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FET TET TEL TR
___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
2018 “EN\F
Ng Hoi Yue [L&T 180 15 5 - 200
Tso Hon Sai Bosco gy 180 15 5 - 200
Lee Kwok Leung ZER 180 15 5 - 200
Robert James Woolsey Robert James Woolsey 767 8 22 - 797
1,307 53 37 - 1,397
2017 “Ftf
Ng Hoi Yue liib=ny 180 15 6 - 201
Tso Hon Sai Bosco EzE 180 15 6 - 201
Lee Kwok Leung ZER 180 15 6 - 201
Eugene Raymond Sullivan*  Eugene Raymond Sullivan* - - - - -
Robert James Woolsey Robert James Woolsey 779 65 28 - 872
1,319 110 46 - 1,475
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8.

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (Continued) 8. EEHM&)
(b) Non-executive director (b) EHITESE
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits  Share-based scheme Total
Fees in kind payments  contributions  remuneration
e URHBA
EER Higz Bike
ik Rkl DESEE STEMR mEm
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TETL TEL TEL

2017

Eugene Raymond Sullivan*
(resigned on 15 June 2017)

Eugene Raymond Sullivan*
(R=Z—tF/ATEA
BHT) 461 -

461 -

Mr. Eugene Raymond Sullivan was redesignated as a non-
executive director on 6 January 2017 and resigned as non-
executive director on 15 June 2017.

* Eugene Raymond Sullivan e AR =F —+
F-RARNBRAERINTES BN _F
—tERATRABABEINITES -
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8. DIRECTORS’' REMUNERATION (Continued) 8. EEHM&)
(c) Executive directors () HITESE
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits  Share-based scheme Total
Fees in kind payments contributions remuneration
F UR B &
EER Hity Bike
ik BEWAG HHEX STEMR mEm
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL TER TER FER
___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
2018 —B-N\F
Cai Lingli (resigned on BREEWN-_T—\&F
20 August 2018) NAZTEEH) 1,529 - - - 1,529
Xia Yuki Yu Xia Yuki Yu 2,400 - 522 18 2,940
Teng Sio | ToE& 900 6,042 233 106 7,281
Cui Li Jie EEA - - - - -
4,829 6,042 755 124 11,750
2017 e 3
Cai Lingli 2EE 2,400 - 698 - 3,098
Xia Yuki Yu Xia Yuki Yu 2,400 - 698 50 3,148
Teng Sio | (appointed on THE(RZS—F
18 April 2017) mA+N\BERT) - 6953 590 106 7,649
Cui Li Jie (appointed on EERRN-_T—tF
4 May 2017) TANBEZRT) - - - - -
4,800 6,953 1,986 156 13,895

TR BEEFTEATARERXRE
MEEFAHFH 2 2B (—F—£F
&) -

There was no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
year (2017: Nil).
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. BLRBEBESFMES

The five highest paid employees during the year included one FHN BLEGERFHNEERE—®B(Z
director (2017: one), details of whose remuneration are set T—+F: —R)EF ZREEFTWFS
out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year B EXMF8 FR BHWMEZ(ZE—+
of the remaining four (2017: four) highest paid employees F R ReTMERARAEREENT
who are not a director of the Company are as follows: BEE IS T

2018 2017
—E-N\EFE —EF—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EBEREWFER 31,706 53,338
Pension scheme contributions IRURE T BN 578 18
Share-based payments AR 7 B ERE 2 (3R - 3,636
32,284 56,992
The number of non-director highest paid employees whose FEL TEE AN IEEESSTMNEED
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: ASIT :

Number of employees

EEAH

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+F
" ]

HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 5,500,001 7 7T = 6,000,000 77T 1 -

HK$7,500,001 to HK$8,000,000 7,500,001 % 7t & 8,000,000 % 7T 2 1

HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000 8,000,001 % 7t & 8,500,000 7% 7T - 1

HK$9,000,001 to HK$9,500,000 9,000,001 & 7T E 9,500,000 %8 7T - 1

HK$10,000,001 to HK$15,000,000 10,000,001 & 7T & 15,000,000 % 7T 1 -

HK$31,000,001 to HK$31,500,000 31,000,001 77T 2 31,500,000 7 7T - 1

4 4
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10. INCOME TAX 10. FR{GH
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the BARAEBERFATELERBELETMER
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong BMaM(ZE—+tF &) AW EREEF
Kong during the year (2017: Nil). Income tax provision for the SRELEE - NFEZIEHRBEHERIL
current year represents income tax on casino operations for BB GNEE 2B R RIS XS RN
the subsidiaries operating in the CNMI, which is calculated at ZHTER . IBEBEHE _ZE—N\FER_ET
the applicable tax rates on the taxable profits for the years —tF T A=t —HIEFEZERER
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017. IRERARERTE -
|
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
I
Current tax — CNMI BVEATIE — bR
Charge for the year FARX - 712,485
Overprovision in prior years BEFEREREE (449,172) _
Deferred tax R IE
Credit for the year FRER (258,081) (478,998)
Overprovision in prior years BEFEREREE 250,965 -
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year FABIERS (ER) 858 (456,288) 233,487
The income tax charge/(credit) for the year is reconciled to FR - EHREY(RE) BiABERE
the profit/(loss) before tax per the consolidated statement of 2R AR ATET(E8) Z s
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: N
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10. INCOME TAX (Continued) 10. Fri8%i (&)

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT T
___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
Profit/(loss) before tax MERLEA(EE) (3,421,311) 870,960
Tax at the statutory tax rate BETRETE 28 (685,070) 360,425
Adjustment in respect of current and BT HARE 2 BNEA &
deferred taxes of previous periods RAETRIEVE % (198,207) -
Income not subject to tax BRMT 2 WA (937) (2,439)
Expenses not deductible for tax AATHIH 2 B2 995,211 1,496,867
Tax losses not recognised RERZHIBEE 24,626 26,419
Temporary differences recognised ERREREER (258,081) (494,586)
Effect of decrease in rates on deferred tax TR NEEIELEFIE 2 £ - 15,588
Statutory tax concessions EEM G EE (333,830) (1,168,787)
Tax charge/(credit) at the Group's BREBEEMRESE Y
effective rate BEMX, (H%) (456,288) 233,487

The Covenant of the CNMI provides for the imposition of the
Internal Revenue Code of the United States as the local
income tax. CNMI legislation provides for income tax rebates
with descending graduated percentages ranging from 90% to
50% on local income tax on CNMI source income. The CNMI
also imposes graduated (1.5% to 5%) BGRT. For casino
gaming revenue, the rebate offset amount shall be 100% of
the income tax imposed on net gaming revenue taxable
income up to US$15 million. For casino net gaming taxable
income in excess of US$15 million, the rebate offset amount

ranges from 90% to 50% of the income tax imposed.

The legislation requires the payment of corporate income tax
on CNMI source income only to the extent the pre-rebate
income tax exceeds BGRT. The Group records its income tax
expenses net of the aforementioned BGRT credit, gaming

rebate and income tax rebate.

305 B R B Z2 IR AR 5 B S B B A U <R
AfEBEHAMBH - LB EBHRETIRTE
FTS TR A B IR At 5 B I 4 SRR W A Rk
2 & M FT S A R 90% IR E 50% 2 B 5 Eb At
HobLFEDMMEU(H1.5%IEEE5%)
EEBUGH - BT REME - BHIEE
SREARMITE U R ERTAFEE (LR
#%15,000,000 %€ 7T ) B 2 A4S 8 2 100% ©
HE AR5 15,000,000 5 7T 1Y BE 3518 2 U 25 FE ER
MBWAFEME - EREHESEN TAAEK
Fr5%i 2 90% 2 50% °

ZOAPIRRTE - EBHERMAIFTSHBGEZXE
Yeas i 2 B0 T 75 AR AE 5 B 55 4 AORUA
BN EMER - NEBMREZ SRR
YoMk bt s Xk aERER  BYOS
KSR
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10.

11.

12.

140

INCOME TAX (Continued)

On 22 December 2017, the U.S. Tax Act (the “Tax Act”) was
signed into law by the U.S. President. The Tax Act significantly
revised the U.S. corporate income tax laws by, among other
things, lowering the U.S. corporate tax rate from a top rate of
35% to a flat rate of 21% effective from 1 January 2018, while
also repealing the deduction for domestic production
activities, implementing a territorial tax system and imposing
a transition tax on deemed repatriated earnings of foreign
subsidiaries (“U.S. Tax Reform”).

DIVIDENDS
No dividends have been paid or declared by the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share amounts
is based on the loss for the year attributable to owners of the
Company of HK$2,965,023,000 (2017: profit of
HK$637,473,000), and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 142,984,807,678 (2017: 142,977,501,742) in

issue during the year.

No adjustment had been made to the basic loss per share
amount presented for the year ended 31 December 2018 in
respect of a dilution as the impact of the share options,
convertible bonds and notes had an anti-dilutive effect on the

basic loss per share amount presented.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount for
the year ended 31 December 2017 is based on the profit for
the year attributable to owners of the Company, adjusted to
reflect the effect of the deemed exercise of or conversion of
all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares. The
weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the
calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue during
the year, as used in the basic earnings per share calculation,
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
assumed to have been issued at no consideration on the
deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential

ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

10.

11.

12.

8% (&)

RZE—tF+AZ+=H  ZHBHR%F
EXBIBBEAR ([BBER]) AR AZED -
MBERHERMPEMEREEITRNIRE
o BB E KRB R R 3% FHIERE
21%  BZE—NF—F—RHBEW R
MEUHERDBIRNAEEES - BEREHEH &
HHNE T BB 1 R B9 AR VEAE IR B R BUBGE R A
(MEEBH]) -

a9
ARRBERNAERBEE—T—\F+
A=1T—HALEFEZBRE(ZF—tF: 8) -

KAFBEEAEEERER (F
)
BRERREF,(EER) B IHRBEAR AR
B ATEAEF R E1E 2,965,023,0008 T (= Z
—-4F 55 637,473,000 70) + LARER
B BT E BRI F1980142,984,807,678 i%
(ZZT—+4F : 142,977,501, 742 (% ) 51 & -

HRERE - ATRRESRRBHMZ2SZ
BREANEESEEEREETE  BULH
E-T-N\F+A=THLEFENREE
&L RE 252 BREAEBERIED
EHHEE -

BE_ZT—+tHF+-_A=1+—BILFEZSE
B ERNSBIRBEARRRFE ARESF
POEMETE - AR B IARBR AT V&
SEBRMRAITESLEKRERK - Tt B
PR 2 B BBnEF BRI Rt EERE
RBEMARAZ FACRITEBEREE - A
RERITERA BB BEEESE B RE
B B EEERTT 2 EBEE TR -
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12. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE  12.
TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share

are based on:

EARBEABEERER (B

Earnings/(Loss)
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners

B) @)
%%K&%&%&%\J/(Eﬂé) TR T3 &1E
wian
2018 2017
—E-N\E —ZEFE—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
]
BR,(F8)
AR EBREAREE
B8R, (E8) 2R QA

of the Company, used in the basic and

diluted earnings/(loss) per
share calculation:

A ARIEREHN,(E18)

(2,965,023) 637,473

Number of shares

BRHEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ZEFE—+F
'000 '000
FB T

Shares
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year used in

iy
AR EESRERET] (EF8)
ZERNBEBHITERRK

the basic earnings/(loss) per N8

share calculation 142,984,808 142,977,502
Effect of dilution — weighted average BERE — TRk

number of ordinary shares: FHE

Share options E%HRTE - 208,451

Convertible notes (Note) BREE (I5E) - 128,000,000
Weighted average number of ordinary ARG EEREERM(B1R)

shares in issue during the year used in ZFEARNEBEITERR

the diluted earnings/(loss) per a8

share calculation 142,984,808 271,185,953
Note: The impact of the convertible notes issued on 19 March 2014 had a Mk - REZE—NF=A T NBBITZTRREES

BE_Z—tF+ A=+ —HILFEMRZ7

dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share amounts presented
for the year ended 31 December 2017. CN 2015 (as defined in note
25) and CB 2017 (as defined in note 25) had no dilutive effect on
the basic earnings per share amount presented as the exercise
prices of CN 2015 and CB 2017 were higher than the average
market price of the ordinary shares of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2017.

ZEREARNCRELREYE - —T—F
FRBRER(ERELMED) R -_F—1F
A ES CEE RME25) 825 2 8k
AEARNSBEVEETEEIFE RN _-F
—hFABERER T FABRESZ
TEEEREE—_T—tF+-_A=+t—HL
FEARNBEBBRZ FHTER -
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. W% - BERRE

Leasehold land
classified as
finance leases

BELH

P8R

BERR
HK$000

T

Buildings

£
HKS000
TEL

Yachts

e
HK$000
TEL

Motor

it
HK$000
TEL

Gaming

Leasehold  machines and
vehicles improvements

HERE
HK$'000
FER

equipment

YRR
k3%
HK$'000
TR

Furniture
and

Computer
hardware

equipment  and software

BARRE
HKS 000
TiEn

EHEH
Ed
HK$ 000
TiEL

Construction
in progress

EEIR
HKS 000
TR

Total

it
HK$'000
TEL

Cost:
At 1 January 2017
Additions
Transfer
Disposal
Exchange differences

At31 December 2017 and

1 January 2018
Additions
Transfer
Disposals/write-off
Exchange differences

At 31 December 2018

Accumulated depreciation:

At 1 January 2017
Charge for the year
Disposal

Exchange differences

At 31 December 2017 and

1 January 2018
Charge for the year
Disposals/uritten-off
Exchange differences

At 31 December 2018

Carrying amount:
At 31 December 2018

At 31 December 2017

142

FithE:
RF-t5-A-H
Rk
hE
EiER

RZE—+E+ZA=T-BR
“Z-/\§-A-8

Rk

ihE /s

EfZE

RZF-\E+Zf=+-H

R
RE-N\EtA=t-8

e e

10347 40,868 172,003 34849 86,058 86,882 9773 34140 2,662,936 3177.8%
- 209 1148 1123 1217 88,860 5,108 11,181 2481 467 2,562,398

- 2149811 - - - - 48018 - 19789) -

- - - - (34,363) (3,862) (3,742) 2,550 - (84,517)

80 2910 - 27 an T4 754 3% 8,814 14,380
10427 2,195,883 173,151 46,259 53,389 172,604 99,911 43105 2915388 5710,117
- - - 7,534 623 31429 3,995 29706 1122423 1,195,710

- 22,675 - - - - - - (22,675) -

- - (38,292) (564) (3172) (8712) (5,663) (1,038) (26,966) (84,407)

2 4,765 - 116 102 442 251 84 6,016 1,796
10447 2223323 134,859 53,345 50,942 195,763 98,494 7857 3994186 6,833,216
210 858 19851 6,780 20,004 47,584 10,155 1393 - 119,468
26 419 17,291 8,195 13722 39.206 2189 14293 - 139,741

- - - - (12,551) (2.829) (1,570) (1,691) - (18,641)

1 B - 69 %3 43 32 274 - 1310

4“7 25,635 37142 15,044 21,358 84,424 31,086 26,772 - 241,878
203 56,691 17,107 10938 10513 29,964 20,546 21,350 - 167,312

- - (11,226) (359) (1,864) (6,464) (3,090) (948) - (23,951)

4 45 - 3 35 348 68 46 - 579

624 8231 43,023 25,656 30,042 108,272 48,610 47,220 - 385,818
9,823 2,140,952 91,836 27,689 20,900 87,491 49,884 24,637 3994186 6,447,398
10010 2,170,248 136,009 31,215 32,031 88,180 68825 16,333 2915,388 568,239
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14. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

15.

14. AL HEEHRE

2018 2017

—EB-N\F —E—+F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT T
|

Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZEAEE 186,493 216,906

Additions during the year FRE - 73,923

Disposal of subsidiaries (note 31) HEMBAR (KEE31) - (98,640)

Amortisation provided during the year FEREHRE (4,263) (7,946)

Exchange differences [EH =58 602 2,250

Carrying amount at 31 December R+_A=+—HZEmEE 182,832 186,493

Less: Current portion B mENE (4,540) (4,526)

Non-current portion ERBE D 178,292 181,967

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

15. A FREREMERFIE

2018 2017

—E-NF —E—tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET
|

Prepaid casino licence fees T IREEIS R E 68,548 185,583

Prepayments for acquisition of BEIFRDEEZFENFE

non-current assets - 129,558

Prepayments B SRIE 142,648 63,137

Rental and other deposits HeEREMZS 164,339 165,018

Other receivables H o fE Y R IE 54,385 13,697

429,920 556,993

Less: Current portion W OmEE S (226,136) (204,030)

Non-current portion FERBE D 203,784 352,963
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15. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 15. EREREMEWFEIE (&)

144

(Continued)

Included in other receivables is an amount of HK$3,032,000
(2017: HK$3,032,000) due from Worldwide Asia Engineering
Limited ("WWA"), a company in which Mr. Wu Li Wen ("Mr.
Wu"), a sibling of Ms. Wu Pei Tzu (“Ms. Wu") who is a related
party of the Company’s controlling shareholder, is a director.
The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on

demand.

Where applicable, an impairment analysis is performed on
deposits and other receivables at each reporting date by
considering the probability of default of comparable
companies with published credit ratings. In the situation
where no comparable companies with credit rating can be
identified, expected credit losses are estimated by a loss rate
approach with reference to the historical loss record of the
Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current
conditions and forward-looking information, as appropriate.
As at 31 December 2018, the Group has concluded that the
probability of default and loss rate are low and the financial
impact of expected credit losses for deposits and other
receivables under HFKRS 9 is insignificant for the year ended
31 December 2018.

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The
financial assets included in the above balances relate to

receivables for which there was no recent history of default.

Hith e IR R EREYCRIKEM TIRER A
AI([BRERTEN | - N BIZEIRAR R R BER 5
Wu Pei TZuzz = ([Wu £ |) B9 72 5B Wu Li
Wen% £ ([Wuk %k |) BZARIESE) RIE
3,032,000/ 7T ( = & — £ 4 : 3,032,000
TL) e BEARIAAEER RO RAKEX

&8s -

FEEBRAT  AEESRSWE Atz
©REMBERFIBETRE T EREE
EAMEETRZAELERARZENLA
Eo fiRpeHANABEENRCAIELRA
A EBERT  AEBEKSEREBITEE
R ERABEREAGIEREESE B
BRI B ATAR R & ATE &+
(WER) - RZE—-—NF+_A=+—81"
REBHBERR  BOIAEXREBRER
K MBZE-Z-N\FT+A=T—HIF
B BEEBVBRELENFEIT 2 EER
HittfEW R IETEHEEBE M Ew 2T
ESp N

EREE AR SR IERE - 5 AL
K4 2 & A BT E D M4 R R G
HEAR -
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16. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR

6. EERBROABENAHMEERK

VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE ARBARE MHHERE
INCOME/AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
Equity investments designated at fair JEEBRAABERA
value through other Hith2HBRA ZREARE
comprehensive income
Listed equity investments, at fair value BRARBEINRZ EHRARE 18,471 -
Available-for-sale investment AHEERE
Listed equity investments, at fair value BRARBEIKRZ FTRAKRE - 82,464

The above equity investments were irrevocably designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income as the Group

considers these investments to be strategic in nature.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, a gross loss in
respect of the Group’s available-for-sale investments
recognised in other comprehensive income amounted to
HK$19,253,000, of which HK$266,000 was reclassified from
other comprehensive income to profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2017 upon disposal.

There was a significant decline in the market value of a listed
equity investment during the year ended 31 December 2017.
The directors considered that such a decline indicated that
the listed equity investment had been impaired and an
impairment loss of HK$33,589,000 which was previously
recognised in other comprehensive income was reclassified

to profit or loss during the year 31 December 2017.

The market value of the Group's listed equity investments at
the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements was approximately HK$25,597,000.

it EE AT AR B IEE AR AL BER
ARMEERAZBEARE - REARAKNEE
RRAEREZHEEBREERE

BHE_Z—+F+_A=+—HILFE »
Hip 2R AR 2 NEE A H EREE
18 4258 /319,253,000 7T - E 1 266,000 %
TRHERBEMEZEBAZTSHIOREEE
—E+tFF+A=t+—HIEFEZER -

BHE-_T—+tF+-_A=+—ALEFEE" L
MRAKEMEANR Nk - E2RE - BH
THRBREMRAREERE - MARNE
i 22 T M A\ B 7R 2 Rk 1B /5 98 33,589,000 7 7T
REZE-ZT—tF+-_A=1+—HILFEE
MoEERR -

AEBRZEEAEMEHRERIEBRZ £
&% ¥ & T {E 4 & 25,597,000 7T ©
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17.

18.

INVENTORIES 17. &
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAET
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________|
Carrying amount as at 31 December RtT+ZA=+—HBZKAE 36,840 25,768
TRADE RECEIVABLES 18. EIWEB SR
The Group's trading terms with customers are mainly on AEBEES VXSS TEHEESH -
credit. The credit term is generally 30 days for gaming BYES Ty EEH R A30H - BELZEEY
operations. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. For LERSEEREE - EE—RAETFE LN
new customers, payment in advance or certain form of RIBHETRRAZIRE - SEETFHK S8
guarantee is normally required. Overdue balances are HAA L » RERE AR AEB S EKAEE
reviewed regularly by the management. At the end of the EARENTIAES Y RIEAIEETEEE
reporting period, the Group has certain concentration of AR DREAEBEKSE ZEZ Y 11%
credit risk as 11% (2017: 8%) and 27% (2017: 23%) of the —E— L F8%) R 2T%( —E — - F
Group's trade receivables were due from the Group's largest 23%) o EUNE BEES N LA o

customer and the five largest customers, respectively. Trade

receivables are non-interest-bearing.
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18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 18. BREZERN(4)
An ageing analysis of trade receivables as at the end of the RBEBR - BRE SEFIRETELEE
reporting period, based on the program end date and net of B RS IR R A BRI DTN T

loss allowance, is as follows:

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+t5F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET
|

Within 1 month —fEARA 87,670 1,528,190

More than 1 month but within 3 months ZR—EABE=EAR 250,375 1,785,687

More than 3 months but within 6 months ~ ZR=1{& 58,518 8 A 698,009 2,343,635

More than 6 months but within 1 year ZRANEAE—FR 2,893,206 5,213,536

More than 1 year L —F 5,740,637 2,407,012

9,669,897 13,278,060

Impairment TE (4,690,161) (4,747,037)

4,979,736 8,531,023

Less: non-current portion B IEREN S (113,341) -

Current portion mENED D 4,866,395 8,531,023
As at 31 December 2018, the Group had received guarantee R-ZE—N\FE+ZA=+—H K"EFEZK
deposits of HK$1,824,700,000 (2017: HK$1,881,315,000) (note NREEFER, BERAZREZZS
21(a)) from certain patrons/guarantors which can be used to 1,824,700,00078 70( —ZZF—+4 : 1,881,315,000
offset against certain of the above trade receivables in an Bor) (M:E210) » MAEBERGEEHFE
aggregate amount of approximately HK$1,497,242,000 (2017: BERPRETERPREKEE A ZET
HK$1,649,411,000) due from certain patrons in the event that M EWE SR - BIERIREB IS ] ARIE
the Group cannot recover the trade receivable amounts from HEHERPER 2 AEEINE ZIRERELN
these patrons in the normal course of its business. 1,497,242,000% o( = T — + F:

1,649,411,0008 7T) ©
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18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade

receivables are as follows:

18. BIWESRMR (&)

EWE SRR REBEREZSHNT

At beginning of year F4

Impairment losses recognised ERMERE
Impairment losses reversed LR E R R
Exchange differences N =R
Uncollectible amounts written off 6N E
At end of year FR

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31
December 2018

The Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a loss rate approach to measure expected credit losses.
The credit risk categorisation is determined based on a
number of factors which include (i) debtors’ ageing; (ii)
historical repayment behaviour of debtors; (iii) availability of
collateral in front money or guarantee deposits; (iv) wealth
proof; (v) other debtors’ specific information available to the
Group; and (vi) current industry conditions and future
economic outlook which are relevant for credit risk
assessment. The credit risk categorisation is adjusted to
reflect subsequent information uncovered to an extent that
such information provides evidence of conditions existed as
at the year end date and forward-looking information. The
expected loss rates are estimated based on the expected
cash flows that can be recovered from the collateral and other

estimated repayments based on historical recovery ratios.

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHT
4,747,037 547,184
5,359,561 4,460,738
(1,003,872) (275,307)
12,150 14,422
(4,424,715) -
4,690,161 4,747,037

BE-Z2-/\E+ZA=1+-HLFE
ERMBRELERNEIRE MNEE

AEERABCDEAERAEERE - 1
EoE B HBERBRIEETRED ITIAR
ERMEEER - FERRIBDHREZA
REETE - EPEE ) BERR ZRE | (i)
BEHABERERCE (i) BT RRERNK
HREBESER (W EER WAKER
BEMEBAREEH : kv)E2EERR
AHE B 2 BT R R ARG BRI = -
AEBEBAEEERB D BIARBRAKZER
ZIREEFR  BEAREMEHEEFRA
HIFT RGN 2 BB R AT LB - BEIE
BRTIRBEENE LU KRG+ a1 m
REMAEFERKRD 2 ERREREME -
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18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31
December 2018 (Continued)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group's trade receivables by credit risk

categories:

18. EWEZRR (&)
BE-2-N\F+-A=t+-BLEE
ERUBRELEREIFETEEE)
AT AREBEREKE S EXIREERRER
o T EEREMER

Category A — Minimal Risk
Category B — Lower Risk
Category C — Moderate Risk
Category D — Higher Risk

Gross

Average carrying

loss rate amount

FHBRE SREAE

2018

—B-N\fF

HK$'000

FET
'

AR — &EER 0% 1,598,488

BAE — B 45% 789,518

CE—HhEAR 58% 5,806,083

DE —®=AR 67% 1,475,808

9,669,897

Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended 31
December 2017

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade
receivables, which was measured based on incurred credit
losses under HKAS 39 as at 31 December 2017, was a
provision for individually impaired trade receivables of
HK$4,747,037,000 with a carrying amount before provision of
HK$10,982,381,000.

The individually impaired trade receivables as at 31 December
2017 related to customers which management considered
that either none or only a portion of the receivables was

expected to be recovered.

BE-Z—t&F+-HA=+—HLEE
EARGTERZE39KE N RE
W_ZE—+F+-A=+—8 LillREE
BEFEAFEIRBTEEEEEEEG
ERWE SRR ZREREREREBIRERE
I & 5 8R FR 45 4,747,037,000 7 7T - BEE R
2 BRME{E A 10,982,381,000 78 7T °

R-ZTE—+F+-A=+—80 " @ErRERE
WESEREERERRBHL ENELD
FEWFIRR] T B Z P AR -
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18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 18.
Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended 31
December 2017 (Continued)

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at 31
December 2017 that were not individually nor collectively

considered to be impaired under HKAS 39 is as follows:

FEWE 5 BRK (40)
BE-Z—tF+-A=+—HLFE
EREEREIRETNRHE®)
RZBE—+F+ZRA=+—H UERES
BERTERIFIVRERINEBRBBELZ
FEUE B Z BRIk AT A0 TS

2017

—T—+tF

HK$'000

FET
|

Neither past due nor impaired B AR @ E IR AR E 839,872

Less than 1 month past due BE—E A AT -

1 to 3 months past due B — = =& A 33,991

4 to 6 months past due %80 B 2= X A A 138,928

7 months to 1 year past due BEEEAZE—F 458,100

More than 1 year past due wEI—F P 824,788

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related
to a group of diversified customers for whom there was no

recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related to a
number of individual customers who had either a good track
record with the Group or the outstanding amounts are
secured with guarantee deposits. Based on past experience,
the directors of the Company were of the opinion that no
provision for impairment was necessary in respect of these
balances as there had not been a significant change in credit

risk and the balances were still considered fully recoverable.

2,295,679

BERIE B IR ARG 2 FE MR IR B K 8 3 ST
HIR Rk TREFBRE -

EEHERRE B FIRRE TRAKE
AR EAREIAREERBARESE
EMZEREFERE - RIBBELSR A2
REERR ANGEERRITESAEH
BN HAR R A BB E - B SRR E
AVEHRE R o
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19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 19. RERBSEEMUARZRHERIT
RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSIT YEX N
2018 2017
—B-N\F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
|
Cash and cash equivalents RENIREEEY 58,153 284,520
Restricted bank deposit (note) TR &R 1T FE I (P3E) 55,687 -
113,840 284,520
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily RITR S DIRBIRITE BIF 5/ & 2 %87
bank deposit rates. The bank balances and restricted bank EIREUK B, o IRITAESR R X PR BIIRITESRIF
deposit are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent R B R A5 A B3 BRI S e R A AR 8k
history of default. AT °
Note: Pursuant to the casino licence agreement, the Group is required to MizE - RIBIRLIGERIGE AEBERERSTFA
place a certain amount of deposit as community development fund —EREERANEREELS - ARHE - B2
towards education, scholarships, infrastructure, healthcare and & EE BEREBLAREEBRKENE -

employee retirement benefits, etc., in the Island of Saipan.
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20. TRADE PAYABLES 20. BN E SR
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the RBEHAR  BNESRIIREZEHZER
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: BT
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
Within 1 month —@ AN 6,090 13,993
More than 1 month but within 3 months ~ ZHA—E AEB=1E AR 16,381 22,866
More than 3 months but within 6 months %A =& B1E/5{8 A K 35,715 24,424
More than 6 months but within 1 year ZRANEREB—FRN 28,704 14,355
More than 1 year ZR—F 4,849 2,985
91,739 78,623
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and have no ENEZERRRERERETE BIE RN -

fixed terms of repayment.
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21. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 21. HMEARIER EFTRRIE

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+t5F

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Liks3 FERT T
(Restated)

(&%)

Patron deposits and other

EPReMEMEY AR

gaming liabilities (a) 2,846,612 3,774,252
Deposits received B Uit e 550,103 354,893
Loyalty program liabilities ZEHAHETEAE (a) 233,819 325,426
Outstanding chip liabilities KEZBZEBEAE (a) 4,847 259,276
BGRT payable FEASH & S AR I TR 27,378 201,557
Construction related payables TERT 2L AR B 1,308,605 1,075,010
CN 2015 payable BN —E—hFrRkER 25 23,400 123,400
Provision for regulatory matters EERERE 65,792 -
Other payables and accruals Hth A~ 28 K e 708 (b) 934,998 817,871

5,995,554 6,931,685
Less: Current portion B mEE Y (5,782,782) (6,931,685)
Non-current portion FERBE D 212,772 -
Annual Report 2018 FE# & 1 5 3




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHRRME

31 December 2018
—E—-NF+=-A=+—H

21. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

154

There is often a timing difference between the cash payment by
the customers and recognition of revenue for each of the
associated performance obligations. The Group has the following
main types of liabilities associated with contracts with customers: (1)
outstanding chip liability, (2) loyalty program liability, and (3)
patrons deposits and other gaming liabilities for gaming and non-
gaming products and services yet to be provided.

The outstanding chip liability represents the collective amounts
owed to junket operators and patrons in exchange for gaming
chips in their possession. Outstanding chips are expected to be
recognised as revenue or redeemed for cash within one year of
being purchased. The loyalty program liability represents a deferral
of revenue until patron redemption of complimentary commission
or points earned. The loyalty program liabilities are expected to be
redeemed and recognised as revenue within one year of being
earned. Patron deposits and other gaming liabilities represent cash
deposits made by customers for future services provided by the
Group. The majority of these patron deposits and other gaming
liabilities are expected to be recognised as revenue or refunded to
the customer within one year of the date the deposit was recorded.

As at 31 December 2018, included in the Group's deposits received
were deposits of HK$1,824,700,000 (2017: HK$1,881,315,000) from
certain patrons/guarantors who have guaranteed the repayment of
the trade receivables due from certain of the Group's casino
patrons (the “Guarantee”). In the opinion of the directors, based
on independent legal advice, the Group has the enforceable right
to set off the deposits against any irrecoverable trade receivables
due from these patrons under the Guarantee.

As at 31 December 2018, included in the amount was interest
payable of HK$154,558,000 (2017: HK$105,973,000) to related
parties.

21. EttENRERETRIE (&)

By e -

(@)

Imperial Pacific International Holdings Limited % K ¥ EIBIZRGR A A
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B QEFEHRFAEEE  RQOFEFREMN
REMEGFRHEBYRIIFBYERIREE
BB aE -

AEEEHREEPNTARTP BRI EY
BWPSR 2% - REZEBRPNBEER
—FRER /KRR BES - FPBHE
HEBEEEEEPAMARR e ERSNED
RIEZBIEW Es - BEBME B B ERER
BRI —SF AR R AR - ERRE R
HiB¥ A EEEPRAKE B RAMREHRS
NHREN2EE - KREAEPRE REME
FREBRARZS LS AT - FAERR
WHSRETEP -

R-ZE-NE+-_A=+—H XBETE
F/ERAREBEETAEERBEEFERZ
FEULE 5 BR 3 H 5 1R 2 #2 € 1,824,700,000
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REBIARER  AEBEBEE TR NITHE
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22.

23.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 22. TSI E
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—F
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
B5E =L BE afE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FRET FRET THTT THETT

Derivative financial instruments R % (&% & Z 5 H

in relation to convertible PTHESRIA

bonds and notes 24 1 1,010 1,033
LOANS FROM RELATED PARTIES 23. REBBLT 2EX
At the end of the reporting period, the Group's loans from RBEHR - NEBERB @S 2 ERER
related parties were repayable as follows: LN

2018 2017
—E-N\F —EF—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
|
Within 1 year or on demand —FE N EEK 125,398 197,593
In the second year (note) F—F (M) 248,000 151,764
In the third to fifth years (note) E=FZERF (M) 200,816 -
574,214 349,357
Less: non-current portion B FEmENE D (448,816) (151,764)
Current portion mENE S 125,398 197,593
Except for certain loan amount of HK$238,816,000 (2017: & T A80238,816,0008 T(—ZE—+F:
HK$169,006,000) that is interest-free and carried at amortised 169,006,0008 7T) 2 R B ~ ¥ SHE R AR
cost with an effective interest rate of 8% per annum, all loans BERFRERBEZEHI TAREH

BT ZEFHRERARRIEFNXRTISES

from related parties are unsecured, interest bearing at 7.5%— N
RE(ZE—+F : 75EZ95E):E -

12% (2017: 7.5%-9.5%) per annum.
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23.

24.

LOANS FROM RELATED PARTIES (Continued) 23. REBABLTZ2ER (&)

Note: 3T

As at 31 December 2018, the lenders for these loans could have requested R-E—NF+-A=+—H80 ZZEFZEHAR
for immediate repayment on demand pursuant to the occurrence of a BE R EN T Z AR ERANEER - Mt
condition which could trigger an event of default which is customary in MOEABEERBEMEEE TR  E—TFBIHR
these types of loan agreements, as further detailed in note 24 to the RABEIRERNGE24 - A BREB T ERER
consolidated financial statements. However, these loans have continued ETMENBAERFEALERIRENH T TR
to be classified as non-current liabilities in accordance with the original N T EERAEEMBRRAZIBERN T TEERARNER
loan repayment dates because the related parties have agreed to waive BB WZEEREERRTESERAHSE
any notice of default, to continue providing financial support to the Group BIERBAGE-

and will not demand repayment of amounts owed by the Group until it is

in a position to repay without impairing its financial condition.

OTHER BORROWINGS 24. HpfER

At the end of the reporting period, the Group's other RMEBR  AEBEMEREENAT

borrowings were repayable as follows:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
I
Within 1 year or on demand (note i) —FRHEER(FIEED) 1,657,080 1,189,492
In the second year (note ii) % F (MIsEii) 952,925 773,350
In the third to fifth years (note ii) F=FE2FERF (MFEI) 352,520 -
2,962,525 1,962,842
Less: non-current portion (note i) B IERBNER D (5T - (773,350)
Current portion mEE D 2,962,525 1,189,492
The other borrowings are unsecured, interest-bearing at 6%— HERAEERRIRFENREE15ET
15% (2017: 8%—13%) per annum. B(ZZE—+F :8Bx=13E) -
As at 31 December 2018, an aggregate amount of RZB-N\F+_A=+—8 KEEHEM
HK$605,925,000 included in the Group's other borrowings EFRE R A 605,925,000 ( — T —+4F :
was pledged (2017: Nil) by certain patrons/guarantors who B)BRETEP ERABRREEELEER
have guaranteed the repayment of the trade receivables due BoBEPER 2 BKRE SRR MER ([EX
from some of the Group's patrons (the “Loan Guarantee”). In BR) EFKLXEBLLAEERERE
the opinion of the directors, based on independent legal NEEE A ] 58 H TR A I 1R B SR 8
advice, the Group has the enforceable right to set off the BERERETZEEP AR ZERAAIYKE
pledged loans against any irrecoverable trade receivables JEWE P ARK ©

due from these patrons under the Loan Guarantee.
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24. OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes:

(0]

This included other borrowings of HK$586,850,000 and
HK$612,500,000 that were due to be repaid before 31 December
2018 and after 31 December 2018 up to the date of issuance of
these financial statements, respectively. As at the date of issuance
of these financial statements, save for loan amounts of
HK$350,000,000 and HK$10,000,000 which have been subsequently
repaid on 22 March 2019 and 24 March 2019, respectively, the
Group has agreed with its lenders to extend the repayment tenure
of the remaining loan amounts of HK$839,350,000, which were
overdue before these latest extension agreements to the second
half of 2019 or thereafter. The directors of the Company have
confirmed that the Company has not received any notice of default
and/or demand for accelerated repayment from these lenders for
any of the overdue loan amounts.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, certain of the
Group's other borrowings totaling HK$1,274,249,000 (inclusive of
the abovementioned HK$839,350,000) originally due for repayment
in 2019 have been renewed and extended to become repayable in
the second half of 2019 or thereafter. Further details are set out in
note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

For the other borrowings included in current liabilities,
HK$952,925,000 and HK$352,520,000 are repayable in 2020 and
2021, respectively. These loan agreements have included a clause
which stated that an event of default would occur if any
indebtedness of the Group is not paid when due. Upon the
occurrence of this event of default, as further detailed in note 24(j)
to the consolidated financial statements, these lenders could have
demanded for immediate repayment of these loans. Notwithstanding
that the Group has not received any notice of default/demand for
the accelerated repayment for any of these loan amounts up to the
date of issuance of these financial statements, and despite this
aggregate amount of HK$1,305,445,000 is repayable after 2019,
they have all been included in current liabilities as the end of the
reporting period.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, an aggregate of
HK$242,505,000 has been assigned by certain creditors to Mr. Ji.
Further details are set out note 41(e) to the consolidated financial
statements.

24. HABER )

By e -

(i)

HEHSHBEREATEER  WeBEaEEM
f& 3 586,850,000 7% 7T, K 612,500,000 T * ﬁ
AMERZZ—NF+ZA=+—HZA k=

—\F+-A=+—Bz%ESE- %%ﬁﬁﬁ
®ETIBER  BRERZZE—AF=RA=-+=
BR-Z—AF=-A-+THAEEN R AK
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND NOTES 25. IR ELEREE
CN 2014 “E-NMETBRRKRERE

On 19 March 2014 (the “Completion Date"), the Company
completed the acquisition (the "Acquisition”) of the entire
issued share capital of and a shareholder’s loan to Excel Earth
Limited (“Excel Earth”) and obtained a profit guarantee
given by the vendor. The principal asset of Excel Earth was its
interests under, and entitlements to, the transfer of five
percent (5%) of the distributable profit of Hang Seng
Sociedade Unipessoal Limitada, for each 12-month period,
which had commenced on 1 January 2014 and terminated on
28 October 2015.

The Acquisition was satisfied by issuing zero coupon
convertible notes (“CN 2014") at the conversion price of
HK$0.05 per conversion share (as adjusted from HK$1.00 per
conversion share by the effect of the share subdivision) in the
aggregate principal amount of HK$400,000,000 due on the
sixteenth anniversary of the Completion Date to the vendor in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the acquisition
agreement. The conversion price had been subsequently
adjusted to HK$0.003125 per conversion share after the bonus
issue on 3 July 2015. On the Completion Date, the fair value
of CN 2014 was approximately HK$1,480,000,000, based on a
valuation report issued by an independent valuer, Roma
Appraisals Limited, dated 29 August 2014. Details of the
Acquisition had been disclosed in the circular of the Company
dated 8 January 2014. CN 2014 were recognised as equity in
its entirety without a liability portion in accordance with the

Group's accounting policy for mandatorily convertible notes.

R-T-MOF=A+HB(REEBH]) =~
AR EREEREARAR ([#HE) 22
MEHTRARBRRER((WBER) X
EEHRIETRE - MEZT2EERM
B-Z-MFEF—A—RRBE-_ZT—-HF1+A
ZHNBR&EEE12(EA8AEmEA—A
BRABBBEADIRENE D ZH(5%) Z
o MBS RE -

RIBENEE i < IR G - W EIRE &
B H R E SR AR /D0.058 T (25K
DIFH 2 28 TR AIRARMN 1.008 7T T A
FEE) [ E 77 1T A& 458 /& 400,000,000 7%
LR TR A Bl m TN EF R A s TR A R
BREE(ZZ-—NETRREEDEN - R
—E-REEAZBETARETE Lk
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TC o PATER BB - BB (HERM A S B
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND NOTES (Continued)

CN 2015

On 21 August 2015, the Company issued zero coupon
convertible notes in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$841,900,000 (“CN 2015"). CN 2015 matured after 24
months from the date of issuance and were convertible into
ordinary shares of the Company at any time between the date
of issue of the notes and their settlement date. CN 2015 were

convertible at the conversion price of HK$0.225 per share.

The interest amortised for the year was calculated by applying
an effective interest rate of 10.06% to the liability component

for the 24-month period from the notes’ issue date.

HK$213,000,000 and HK$300,000,000 of CN 2015 had been
converted into ordinary shares of the Company in 2015 and

2017, respectively.

CN 2015 matured on 20 August 2017 and an aggregate
principal amount of HK$305,500,000 had been redeemed. As
at 31 December 2018, the Company was in the process to
redeem the remaining CN 2015 of an aggregate principal
amount of HK$23,400,000.

CB 2017

On 27 June 2017, the Company issued convertible bonds in
the aggregate principal amount of HK$50,000,000 which bear
interest at 4% per annum ("CB 2017"). CB 2017 will mature
after 24 months from the date of issuance and are convertible
into ordinary shares of the Company at any time between the
date of issue of the bonds and their settlement date. CB 2017

are convertible at a conversion price of HK$0.176 per share.

The interest amortised for the year was calculated by applying
an effective interest rate of 8.82% to the liability component

for the 24-month period from the bonds’ issue date.

25.
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—E-RFNBREE
RZZE—RAFNAZ+—H  NARFETE
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND NOTES (Continued)

CB 2017 (Continued)

The net proceeds received from the issuance of CN 2015 and
CB 2017 have been split into the liability and derivative

components and their movements are as follows:

25.

RREFREE @)
“E-tHEURRESE)

BT -RFURRERR T —tFA
BRERZCWRAERIBEFEEC I RAAE
RAOTER D - AEEHIWT

Note
Wik

At 1 January 2017
Interest expense
Coupon interest paid
Conversion of CN 2015
Issuance of CB 2017
Fair value (gain)/loss
Maturity of CN 2015

At 31 December 2017 and
1 January 2018

Interest expense
Coupon interest paid

Fair value (gain)/loss

At 31 December 2018
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RZE—+F—-HA-H

MERX 7
BHZEE
RBE-T-RETARER
BTt FTARES
AAEEME) /BB
“T-RFUBRREERIS
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Derivative Derivative

Liability financial financial
component asset liabilities Total

i s
BEH2 tHEE tRaE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FERT FET
590,018 - 215 590,233
22,643 - - 22,643
(1,033) - - (1,033)
(281,683) - - (281,683)
45,668 (4,316) 4,673 46,025
- 3,306 (3,859) (549)
(328,900) - - (328,900)
46,713 (1,010) 1,033 46,736
4167 - - 4,167
(2,001) - - (2,001)
- 986 (1,032) (46)
48,879 (24) 1 48,856
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26. UNSECURED BONDS AND NOTES 26. BIEHESRERE
31 December 2018 31 December 2017
“E-NE+ZA=1-A —Z—+f+ZA=1+-A
Effective Effective
interest interest
Notes rate (%) Maturity HK$'000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
liE3 BRAE%) ik TEn  ERAEG) 54 ThR
|
Current: itk
- Promissory notes —EHER (i) 0-12 2019 117,757 - - -
Repayable in the ERE_EBR
second year
- 2017 Notes —8.5% —ZE+EZE—85% (b)) 8.65 2020 547,136 - - -
-2017 Bonds Al —5.25% —ZE-tERFA—525% (c0) 9.53 2020 12,555 - - -
559,691 -
Repayable in the third ERE=ZRE
to fifth years, inclusive (REEEME)EE
- 2018 Bonds AAI — 5.25% —ZE-\EEEAI-55%  ()) 9.53 2021 23,234 - - -
- 2017 Bonds All — 6.0% — 23 HHFEFAI—60% (A 9.56 2022 13,497 - - -
- 2018 Bonds AAIl — 6.0% —ZE-EEEMI—60% 00 9.56 2022 6,193 - - -
42924 -
Repayable beyond five years ERRERER
-2017 Bonds B—6.0% — 25— EHB-60% (9)0) 9.56 2025 23,298 - - -
-2018 Bonds BB —6.0% — 25— \FE5BB-60% () 9.56 2025 4,107 - - -
27,405 -
747,771 _
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26. UNSECURED BONDS AND NOTES (Continued) 26. BERBESREE )

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
ZE-\E+ZA=t-H “Z-tEr-A=1-A
Effective Effective
interest interest
Notes rate (%) Maturity HK$'000 rate (%) Meaturity HK$'000
i BRAZE (%) ik TR BENE@®) 54 TAL
e ____________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
Non-current: i
Repayable in the second year BRE-FRE
- 2017 Notes —7.8% —ZEHERE78% (a) - - - 78 2019 1,164,000
- 1,164,000
Repayable in the third to BRE=E0E
fifth years, inclusive (RRERME)ER
- 2017 Notes—7.8% — T HERE-18% Bk 78 2021 1174947 - - -
- 2017 Notes — 8.5% —Z3tERE85% (o) - - - 8.65 2020 541,306
- 2017 Bonds Al —5.25% — 23— HEEFAS25% c) - - - 9.53 2020 12,091
- 2017 Bonds All — 6.0% — 23— tEEFA0% (d - - - 9.5 2022 13126
1,174,947 566,523
Repayable beyond five years ERLERER
- 2017 Bonds B—6.0% — 3 HEEEB0% 9 - - - 95 225 2778
- 2,118

1,174,947 1,753,301
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26. UNSECURED BONDS AND NOTES (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

On 22 February 2017 and 21 March 2017, the Company issued the
2017 Notes — 7.8% with principal amounts of US$100,000,000
(approximately HK$783,298,000) and US$50,000,000 (approximately
HK$391,649,000), respectively to Inventive Star, which are interest
bearing at 7.8% per annum and repayable on 21 February 2019 and
20 March 2019, respectively. On 27 August 2018, Inventive Star
issued a letter of undertaking to the Company, pursuant to which
Inventive Star undertakes that a notice of redemption will not be
issued to the Company before February and March 2021 for the
redemption and payment of the outstanding principal amounts of
HK$783,298,000 and HK$391,649,000, respectively, together with
the accrued interest thereon.

On 25 January 2017, 27 January 2017 and 7 February 2017, the
Company issued the 2017 Notes — 8.5% with an aggregate
principal amount of US$70,000,000 (approximately HK$543,380,000)
to certain independent third parties, which are interest bearing at
8.5% per annum and repayable on 24 January 2020, 26 January
2020 and 6 February 2020, respectively.

On 15 September 2017, 20 September 2017, 13 October 2017, 3
November 2017 and 17 November 2017, the Company issued the
2017 Bonds Al — 5.25% with an aggregate principal amount of
HK$13,500,000 to certain independent third parties, which are
interest bearing at 5.25% per annum and repayable in 2020.

On 15 September 2017, 3 November 2017 and 9 November 2017,
the Company issued the 2017 Bonds All — 6.0% with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$15,000,000 to certain independent third
parties, which are interest bearing at 6% per annum and repayable
in 2022.

On 18 April 2018, 8 May 2018 and 28 May 2018, the Company
issued the 2018 Bonds AAl — 5.25% with an aggregate principal
amount of HK$25,500,000 to certain independent third parties,
which are interest bearing at 5.25% per annum and repayable in
2021.

On 15 May 2018 and 14 June 2018, the Company issued the 2018
Bonds AAIl — 6% with an aggregate principal amount of
HK$7,000,000, to certain independent third parties, which are
interest bearing at 6% per annum and repayable in 2022.

On 12 September 2017, 6 November 2017 and 20 November 2017,
the Company issued the 2017 Bonds B — 6.0% with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$28,000,000 to certain independent third
parties, which are interest bearing at 6% per annum and repayable
in 2025.
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26. UNSECURED BONDS AND NOTES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(h)

On 17 April 2018 and 1 June 2018, the Company issued the 2018
Bonds BB — 6% with an aggregate principal amount of
HK$5,000,000, to certain independent third parties, which are
interest bearing at 6% per annum and repayable in 2025.

During the year, the Company issued certain unsecured promissory
notes with principal amounts of US$11,700,000 (approximately
HK$91,258,000) and US$3,400,000 (approximately HK$26,499,000)
to Inventive Star and certain independent third parties, respectively.
Except for a note amount of US$2,550,000 (approximately
HK$19,874,000) that is interest-free, all notes are interest bearing at
12% per annum and repayable in 2019. Subsequent to the end of
the reporting period, all of these promissory notes have been
extended to become repayable in 2020.

Included in the amounts are unsecured notes with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$637,380,000 that are repayable in 2020 or
after. These notes include a clause which stated that an event of
default would occur if any indebtedness of the Group is not paid
when due. Upon the occurrence of an event of default, as further
detailed in note 24(i) to the consolidated financial statements,
these note holders could have demanded for immediate repayment
of these notes. Notwithstanding that the Group has not received
any notice of default/demand for the accelerated repayment for
any of these notes amounts up to the date of issuance of these
financial statements, and despite these notes are repayable in 2020
or after, the aggregate carrying amount of HK$630,020,000 has
been included in current liabilities at the end of the reporting
period.

At the end of the reporting period, Inventive Star could have
demanded for the immediate repayment pursuant to the
occurrence of a condition which could trigger an event of default
customary in these types of notes’ agreements, as further detailed
in note 24(i) to the consolidated financial statements. However,
these notes have continued to be classified as non-current liabilities
in accordance with the original notes’ maturity dates because
Inventive Star has agreed to waive any notice of default, to continue
providing financial support to the Group and will not demand
repayment of any amounts owed by the Group until it is in a
position to repay without impairing its financial condition.

The unsecured notes issued by the Group are denominated

in US$. The unsecured bonds issued by the Group are
denominated in HK$.
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27. DEFERRED TAX
The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are as

follows:

27. EFEFIH
BRI ERFRZEBMT -

Deductible

temporary

differences

AR

TRHER

HK$'000

FET
|

At 1 January 2017 RZF—t%—A—H 24,363

Deferred tax credited to profit or loss during the year W& REH AIBZEHIELERIE 478,998

Exchange differences ME 5, RE 1,423

At 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018 RZE—+F+-A=+—8K
—T-N\F—A—H 504,784

Deferred tax credited to profit or loss during

RERNET A B & BT IR H R

the year, net 7,116
Exchange differences E 5 =%8 1,281
At 31 December 2018 R-E—N\FE+=-_A=+—H 513,181

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
HK$569,300,000 (2017: HK$474,983,000) that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have
not been recognised in respect of these losses as they have
arisen in these entities that have been loss-making for some
time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will

be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

REBRESEERITIBEIE A 569,300,000
BIL(ZZF—t4F : 474,983,000/87T) * WAJ
MR E A BB ERN AR L RKE
AN c BRI EEEDBE—REMA
REEERBEN TR AR AIES A ZHE
18 - I E Rt S EIEREREERIEEE -
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28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. BRA
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHT
|
Authorised: SETE
300,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 300,000,000,000 f%
HK$0.0005 each H AR EE0.0005 % 7T 2 E @Ak 150,000 150,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRER
142,984,807,678 ordinary shares of 142,984,807,678 %
HK$0.0005 each SR 1E 0.0005 78 7T 2 E A% 71,492 71,492
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is KATRAY SBEMBMT -
as follows:

Number of Share
shares Share premium
in issue capital account Total
[55:<hf
RHBE TN R4 EER st
‘000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Th TET TET TAT

At 1 January 2017 RZE—+F—-HA—H 141,651,474 70,826 1,984,779 2,055,605
Issue of shares upon conversion BRI R EEEETR G

of convertible notes (note) (B3 1,333,333 666 281,017 281,683
At 31 December 2017, RZZE—+FE+=-f=1+—H"

1 January 2018 and - \E-A-HR

31 December 2018 RZE2-N\E+=-A=1+—H 142,984,807 71,492 2,265,796 2,337,288
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28.

29.

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

On 3 January 2017, the conversion rights attaching to CB 2015 with a
principal amount of HK$300,000,000 were exercised at the conversion
price of HK$0.225 per share, resulting in the issue of 1,333,333,333 new
shares in the Company.

Share options
Details of the Company'’s share option scheme and the share
options issued under the scheme are included in note 29 to

the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Equity-settled share option scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme (the
“Scheme"”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success
of the Group's operations. Eligible participants include the
full-time and part-time employees, executives, officers,
directors, business consultants, agents, legal and financial
advisers of the Company and the Company's subsidiaries.
The Scheme became effective on 3 December 2014 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force

for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. The maximum number of
shares issuable under share options to each eligible
participant in the Scheme within any 12-month period, is
limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
time. Any further grant of shares options in excess of this limit

is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

28.

29.

& NE )
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N-ZZT—+HF—A=H  HEA%% 5300000000
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0.225 7% JLIETT {8 M 3577 1,333,333,333 [ AN A R #T AR
e
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AR R EERRE AT &) AR IR At BIBR T TRE AR
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BT S

EEAERRETE
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ERHRBLOR - FEANAER2EER
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A~ IR OEENMMEER - BRIFFHEI2E
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BB HLERIRET 8 R B 2 RITE B H
BITERTR/EZRARRTEDHITRD A
10% - WER+ —EABEAER S EE2
HEREE SRR BN A T 2D
REEE  UARBTEEETRN 1% A
R o E—FROBEZ LR BREALR
RERRAE LHLAE -
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 29. BRESTE(®)

168

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition, any share
options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to
any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate value
(based on the price of the Company's shares at the date of
the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month
period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a

general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
30 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and
ends on a date which is not later than five years from the date
of the offer of the share options or the expiry date of the

Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company's shares on the date
of the offer of the share options; (ii) the average Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company'’s shares for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer; and
(iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares on the date of
the offer.

Share options do not confer rights on the holder to dividends

or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

ESAERBRETE ()

MARAESE TBTHAE TERERFH
MEZEMBEATRLBRE  AELB
MIEMITE R o tbsN - RER+ @A
HEANRARREERRIBIIIFNTES
HIREF 2 EAIBEA LR HERE - ATS
KD BB AR B A E TR 0.1% 3K
BERERNREBMZARRRENE)
BSBEEBT MALERRERRRE L
BUAE -

RERHNBERE 2 ZHANZHOE B
0A AT ARALANEK1BITH
SBMERE - FIREOBRENTEHRE

SEE  YARETHRBHRZHAK - mEm
AN SER 2B AE B HEs A F et
B2 EHEMRTE -

BREZTEENREFET - HTAER
= %EPZ 2E(VR2BREZRNE
BARRB DR ﬁﬁiﬁﬁZHﬁlmf (i) BiERR
ZEXNE BRI AER S A ARRE D REBER
Pz FIRHE « Ri)NME2ROE AR
REREEE

BRI TR T A A WERB B HORER - IR
BREEABRRAGLER -
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 29. HBRAESTEI (&)
Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued) R EERERTE(E)
The following share options were outstanding under the SFEIE T EARITEBRAENT ¢
Scheme:
2018 2017
—2-N\F —T—+tF
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise price Number of exercise price Number
per share options per share of options
SR IE FRNE
FITHE BREYA FHITEE BlEyA
HK$ HK$
BT BT
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
Qutstanding as at 1 January R—A—RAMKRTE 0.135  1,852,178,272 0.132 1,462,669,808
Granted during the year FERFRL - - 0.150 532,479,220
Lapsed during the year FRKH 0.170 (317,396,280) 0.167 (142,970,756)
Outstanding as at 31 December W += A=+—HHK{TE 0.128  1,534,781,992 0.135 1,852,178,272
Exercisable at 31 December RNt ZA=+—HBAF17E 0.113  1,241,656,388 0.106 1,121,900,000
No option was exercised during the year ended 31 December HEz_Z— ) \F+-_A=+—HLFETE
2018 (2017: Nil). BRERETE(CE L5 &)
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 29. IBR#ESTE (2
Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued) EREEBRESE ()
Share options outstanding as at the end of the reporting RS BIR B AR TEBEMIAE 2 TR R ITE
period have the following exercise periods and exercise BT
prices:

Number of Number of
options options
Grant date Exercise period Exercise price 2018 2017
—EB-N\F —E—+F
X B 1T H] TEE ZBREZHE ZBREHA
HK$
BT
I
3 December 2014 3 December 2014 - 0.105 1,120,000,000  1,120,000,000
2 December 2024
—THF+=A=A —THNE+ZA=RE
—TmME+-AZH
18 June 2015 Note 1 0.220 217,477,072 305,149,792
—ET-RFATNH i
26 November 2015 Note 2 0.255 3,800,000 3,800,000
—ET-RFt+—HAZ+RAH Bt 2
5 April 2017 Note 3 0.150 193,504,920 423,228,480
—E—+FWMARA Bt 3

1,534,781,992 1,852,178,272

Weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding 6.08 years 6.94 years
at the end of period
RS BR H AR T R RBARAE R T INAEF 198 0 F 1 6.08 & 6.944F
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

25% of the options granted will be vested on the third
anniversary of the date of grant, another 25% of the options
granted will be vested on the fourth anniversary of the date of
grant, another 25% of the options granted will be vested on the
fifth anniversary of the date of grant and the remaining 25% of
the options granted will be vested on the sixth anniversary of
the date of grant, up to 17 June 2025.

25% of the options granted are vested on the first anniversary of
the date of grant, another 25% of the options granted are
vested on the second anniversary of the date of grant, another
25% of the options granted are vested on the third anniversary
of the date of grant and the remaining 25% of the options
granted will be vested on the fourth anniversary of the date of
grant, up to 26 November 2025.

One-third of such share options are vested on the first
anniversary of the date of grant; another 33.3% of the options
granted will be vested on the second anniversary of the date of
grant, the remaining 33.4% of the options granted will be
vested on the third anniversary of the date of grant, up to 4
April 2027.

The fair value of the share options granted during the year
ended 31 December 2017 was HK$35,277,000 (approximately
HK$0.067 each), of which the Group recognised a share
option expense of HK$12,470,000 during the year ended 31
December 2017 in respect of these share options granted.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group has
recognised a share option expense of HK$17,298,000 (2017:
HK$9,165,000) in respect of the share options granted in the

prior years.

29. BBRAERTEI ()

EancEBRET 8 (E)

FEET - B AR £ o 25% i ISR i A BB =3
FEHE - DRSS 25% 1R R B
NEWAFHE - DR BARES S 25% 5
REHABERAFHE - CREBRES
T5%EREHERENAFRE  BE
T-RFEAATEAAL -

FisE2 : B MEREE P 25% IR BEIE —B
FERB DRLBRESIN S ERELA
HMERTFHRE SR EERESIN25% 1
RELEHFE=-AFRE  CEREBRES
T2% R ELAPENREFRE B2
ToRE+—A-+ BAL-

MizE3 BHBEREN=SEF—RELHBEHE B
BB BEELBERESINEBI%HNE D
BHE-_BAFRBE CRUBEBREST
BARBRBREEREZRAFHRE 2=

T +FANAB AL -

HE-_Z—tF+_A=1+—HILEEEE
BB R AE 2 A Rt (B 1E 535,277,000 7T (49
FH0067%8 L) HAAEERZSEHES
T—+F+ A=+ ALFECDELER
RETETR I AR RN 2 12,470,000 7T ©

HE-_ZT—\F+_A=+—HULFE &K
SEERANFED R BRIERRERE
52 17,298,000/ 70( —Z—+4F : 9,165,000
PETL) ©
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 29. BRESTE(®)

172

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during
the year ended 31 December 2017 was estimated as at the
date of grant using a binomial model, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.
The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the
year ended 31 December 2017:

Share price (closing price of grant date) 0.137
Exercise price 0.15
Expected volatility 47.2%
Expected dividend yield 0%
Risk-free interest rate 2.26%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the
historical volatility of the share price of comparable listed
companies to the Company over the previous 10 years. The
expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on
the Group's best estimate, for the effects of non-
transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural

considerations.

Share options granted to consultants were incentives for
helping the Group expand its business network, acquire and
explore new business projects and opportunities. The fair
value of such benefit could not be estimated reliably and, as a
result, the fair value was measured by reference to the fair

value of share options granted.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
1,534,781,992 (2017: 1,852,178,272) share options outstanding
under the Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding
share options would, under the present capital structure of
the Company, result in the issue of 1,534,781,992 (2017:
1,852,178,272) additional ordinary shares of the Company and
additional share capital and share premium amounts of
approximately HK$767,000 (2017: HK$926,000) and
HK$194,673,000 (2017: HK$248,540,000), respectively.

BEsEBRESTE (#)
BE_ZT—tHFT-_A=+—HLFEER
HESEEBREZ QAR EERER D BHR
P = IRVRAVA 5t e 3% B AR By 2 18R %
RFETTHE - TRBNBE-FT—LF
ToA=+—ALFEMEARAZEBAZ
£t

BE(E (R A BT (E) 0.137
TEE 0.15
TEARR 1R 47.2%
8 HARR 8. [B13R 0%
1 [ B ) 2= 2.26%

BHRE DA EARR A ELR EH AR
BRBETFZELRBET - EAKER
E/RET B 2 BHERIC AEBK
B2 AAERE - TERFRTAFEER
RZXEMAMBE -

BRTER BRI A REERELE
Bass - WE RS EBRRE Rt e 2
By - BRARAN 2 AL BETEER SEHfhEt
At - EaRBELSEMROBREZA
REEFE -

RREIR - ARFRFEBTHARITEZ
BE I #E 51,534,781,9920 ( — & — + & -
1,852,178,27215) « LR R RN B E RN
T - MARITEEREEREITE R ERAR
AIEEANEE1T1,534,781,9N2 K (=T —+ 4 -
1,852,178,272 % ) & i@A% + i AR A B I 10 %
BRID B IN#49767,0008 T (=T —+F :
926,00078 7T) K 194,673,000 T (—ZE—+
F : 248,540,000 7T) °
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29.

30.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Share options offered by the controlling shareholder
on 14 December 2015

On 14 December 2015, the controlling shareholder of the
Company offered 3,191,666,665 share options (“Option A")
to independent investors and 77,066,668 share options
("Option B”) to consultants and employees (collectively the
"Offerees”) enabling the Offerees to subscribe for an
aggregate of 3,268,733,333 shares under the Share Option
Scheme. The exercise price is HK$0.24 per share. Under the
Option A, the vesting period commenced 16 days after the
grant date and grantees can exercise 100% share options.
Under the Option B, grantees can exercise 25% share options
3 years after the grant date, 25% share options 4 years after
the grant date, 25% share options 5 years after the grant date
and 25% share options 6 years after the grant date.

At the end of the reporting period, none of the options
offered by the controlling shareholder have been taken up by
the Offerees. Correspondingly, the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
have not reflected the effects of such share-based payments
(2017: Nil).

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 60 of

this annual report.

Other reserve represented deemed capital contribution
arising from non-current interest-free loans from a

shareholder.

29.

30.

BREE (#)
o B B AR R

RZZE—RF+ZA+IMA - RREHERE
ROBMBILIEEE N LERREES (5
[ASE A )1 3,191,666,665 17 B8 B 1 ([ 4
B REAL) K 77,066,668 1% fE I #E ([ B8 AR &
Bl) ' AR AN REBRESIRES K
3,268,733,333 1 fx {7 » 1T1H B BB 0.2475
TL e IRIEBEIREA BEHAERLBHE 16
B8 - 2R ARTITE 100% i I i - 1R 1%
BREB - AR AR R BHEIFITE
25% BT HE - IR B ER1R 4 F1T{F 25% 18
BEHE - AR B BB1R 5 F1T{E 25% BB AR K
B B A& 6 1718 25% FE AR o

RIEHIR - AR AR BRI R %
Hz2aERE - At AEERE—F
—N\EF+ZA=T—HLEFEZEEVBER
RAE RRZF AR BER 2 KA Z
TE(CTtF E)-

it
REBRAFERBEFE ZHBHENLE
BPNAFREOEMBGAEZEH R

eI

HipREEHERRZIFANR R B ERELEZR
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31. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 31. HEMB AR
Year ended 31 December 2017 BE-_Z—t&+-A=+—HILEE
On 20 June 2017, the Group entered into a series of sale and RZZE—+FRAZ+H & lﬂﬂ—%ﬁ
purchase agreements with an independent third party to VEZHFL—RIEE B J//(Hj E=HR
dispose of its entire equity interests in certain subsidiaries, for ETHEBRRI 22 BRE BRE Fj
an aggregate consideration of HK$110,610,000. The 110,610,000/87C - XHER T — ‘tix‘_\ﬁl
transaction was completed on 20 June 2017. ZF+HZEK -
Details of the net assets of the subsidiaries disposed of and BRCELENBRARZEEFERBEITS
the financial impact are summarised as follows: FEFFBE T

Notes HK$'000
k3 FHET
I —
Net assets disposed of: EHEEESFE
Prepaid land lease payments TR+ EFRIE 14 98,640
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables  JB{NFRIE « 24 K H i el 58 12
Accruals and other payables FERT SR8 N E b JE < 3k 18 8
98,644
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERB AR K 6 11,966
110,610
Satisfied by: EFEBATIRERN -
Cash HE 110,610
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in HEMBATIZES NBALEHEY R EE
respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows: AT -

HK$'000
FH&TT
|
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents HENBARZAESRRSEFEYRAFE
in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries 110,610
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transaction

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, a loan
due to an independent third party with a principal
amount of HK$40,000,000 and interest payable of
HK$9,736,000 were assigned to a related party.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Company issued certain unsecured notes with an
aggregate principal amount of US$15,000,000
(equivalent to HK$117,757,000) to certain
independent third parties and the ultimate
holding company to refinance interest payables
on unsecured notes with an aggregate amount of
US$190,000,000 (equivalent to HK$1,488,460,000)
due to these parties.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, an
account receivable amount due from a customer
was settled by way of offsetting a promissory note
with a principal amount of HK$100,000,000 due to
this customer’s related party.

32. mERE

MEBRME

(a) EEBFREXRS

()

(ii)

(iii)

Annual Report 2018 FE# &

BHE-_ZT-N\F+-A=+—H
EFE EN—RBIE=FA
4 %8 440,000,000 T Z ER K
H &+ ) £.9,736,0007 T E #
BT BT -

BHE-_ZT-N\F+ZA=+—H
EFE  ARAREBETHEIE=
T REEERARETETAS
48 % /415,000,000 7T (48 & 7
#3117,757,0007 7 ) By KR 2=
B LE W EE B B A
190,000,000% 7t( #H & R
1,488,460,0008 7T ) 2 S E
BMENZESTHAE -

HE_Z—-N\F+_HA=1+—H
WHEE Bl—2%F 2 EIER
REeEUEHEENZEEP 2
B 77 78 4 %8 100,000,000/ JT 2
AEAERANEN o
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 32. 2B 4 haxMT®)
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEXRBEEZREZH
activities
Interest CN 2015
payable payable
included  Loans from Convertible included  Unsecured
in other related Other  bondsand inother  bonds and
payables parties  borrowings notes payables notes
AR
kit A2
ENTEZ  REEER TRk —B-If EEA

EARIE & EfeR  RERRE  TRREE  RERRE

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000

T THET TR TR T T
_____________________________________________________________________|

At 1 January 2017 R=E—-+t5-A—-H 58,296 1,037,241 644,917 590,018 - -
Changes from financing cash flows ~~ BH&H 4 FEE) (59.772) 36,352 1453343 (159,475) - 876,415
Interest expenses FlERY 257,531 - - 21,610 - 886
Changes i derivative of ITESBIAEY

financial instruments - - - (357) - -
Refinance of loans BEAESAERE

from related parties - (876,000) - - - 876,000
Assignment of a loan BT RENENS

and its related interests (4.314) 151,764 (147 450) - - -
Refinancing of a loan EFERE (12,032) - 12032 - - -
Maturity of CN 2015 “E-nENRRERIS - - - (123,400) 123,400 -
Conversion of CN 2015 RA_E-RETARZE - - - (281,683) - -
At 31 December 2017 RZE—tE+=-A=1—H 239,709 349,357 1,962,842 46,713 123,400 1,753,301
At 1 January 2018 RZZ-N\5-A-H 239,709 349,357 1,962,842 46,713 123,400 1,753,301
Changes from financing cash flows ~ BAR&TE (81,423) 220,075 1,066,906 - - 32,795
Interest expenses FEHY 452,883 - 3,297 2,166 - 2,696
Assignment of a loan ERETREARTE

and its related interest (9,736) 49,736 (40,000) - - -
Refinancing of interest payables ENFSERE (117,757) - - - - 117,757
Trade receivables set-off RERKEHEN - - - - (100,000) -
Repayment of a loan by an FIRYE  BERHREER

item of property, BEEX

plant and equipment - - (31,218) - - -
Deemed capital contribution BE—ERRLE

from a shareholder (note 30) (W3E30) - (45,000) - - - -
Exchange differences EHER - 46 698 - - 16,175
At 31 December 2018 RZZ-N\E+ZA=+-H 483,676 574,214 2,962,525 48,879 23,400 1,922,724
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33. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 33. KEHERIE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future RE|EHR - NEBERE D H 2 NA #EEL

L. . ML O A =] [ 4= = G NI
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating SHEZRARKEHEEFORBEMT

leases falling due as follows:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+t5F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
|
Within one year —&FR 58,894 78,521
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E_ZEhF(REEEME) 46,308 81,724
After five years AF% 32,705 34,575
137,907 194,820
Except for operating leases in respect of leasehold land on BMRENE ZHET 7 KESHE AHI25
the Island of Saipan which have periods of 25 and 55 years, FRESFIN - ZEFHREZVIZHBA—RR—
ZERFAE - AP U EEWEERFENAE

the leases typically run for an initial period of one to five

N7 °

years. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.
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34. COMMITMENTS 34. EIE
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in B P 335 2 I ST E ARSI - R&E
note 33 above, the Group had the following commitments at BAREIR Z AENT ¢

the end of the reporting period:

2018 2017
—B-N\F —T—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT T
___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
Capital commitments BEAEIE
Contracted, but not provided for: BEET4 - BREE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE MRE 379,336 474,368
Prepaid land lease payments Tart L EFRIA 78,421 79,167
457,757 553,535
Other commitments HAh#RiE
Casino licence fee: REIGIERE
Within one year —FR 117,510 -
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_ZERF(REEREMST) 470,040 468,840
After five years AF% 1,762,650 1,875,360
2,350,200 2,344,200
Community development fund fees: HEERASER -
Within one year —F R 156,680 156,280
2,506,880 2,500,480
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35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Unasserted claims and assessments

The Group may be exposed to payment of damages assessed
by the United States Equal Employment Opportunity
Commission (EEQC). As at 31 December 2018, several former
employees of a subsidiary had filed discrimination claims
against that subsidiary for alleged violation of EEOC
regulations. Violations of EEOC regulations may expose the
subsidiary to payment of damages, civil and administrative
fines or penalties, court costs and fees in excess of
US$1,500,000 (approximately HK$11,769,000).

In the opinion of the Directors, after taking into account the
respective legal advices, as the aforementioned matters are
possible unasserted claims and assessments and the
likelihood of the Group making any significant amount of
payments in respect of claims for damages is remote, the
Group has not made any provision for loss in the consolidated

financial statements.

Regulatory oversight

The Group is subject to the jurisdiction of various state, local
and federal regulatory agencies (the “Regulatory
Authorities”) in the conduct of its casino operations.
Specifically, the Group is required to comply with the rules
and regulations of the Commonwealth Casino Commission in
the conduct of its gaming operations. The Group is also
under the jurisdiction of the Financial Crimes Enforcement
Network (“FinCEN") in terms of its compliance with the anti-
money laundering provisions of the Bank Secrecy Act (“"BSA").
Should the Group violate the requirements of the Regulatory
Authorities, it could be subject to various sanctions and
disciplinary actions including monetary fines and penalties,
restrictions and conditions on the scope of its operations, and

the potential revocation of its gaming licence.

35.

HAAE

RN 2B ERFE
REBRKEBNTHEMRE L B E(EEOQ)
EEAEEBEEREE - RZTE—NF
+TZA=+—H —RMNBRARISHER
EEOC 2 # I ifn & K 2 A 2 B R H 18 1%
RER - EREEOCZMRAIMJRESZM B A
) TH & 8 38 1,500,000 3 7T (47 11,769,000 78
) ZEERE RERITBER  ARK
ARER -

EERA REESEARERR AR
FPEBREEREL 2 BR NS - AR
KETAABER BT AR L EFARN
R MARERER SR BEREME
1BYE T

HEEE
REBPNETHRBISEBRZTEMN - #1753
LEt e E M ((EEEWE ) mESE - A28
ME + AEBRETEER EKR LR
B 5 £ 8 g (Commonwealth Casino
Commission) < #1 Bl KA R o @ RIRITIR
A RO BEBEX ([RITREEZER] A
- AEBENZITESRETHEEAG (£
RIBITHEREB ) MEE - WAKEEERE
EWeNE 23 - BIE T g E BRI R 6l &L R BT
S BEBKENR  BHROREELER
B - AR ATBe U SRR o
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35.

36.

180

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Continued)

Regulatory oversight (Continued)

During 2017, IPl was subject to a routine BSA compliance
examination conducted by the Internal Revenue Service
("IRS"). Subsequent to end of the reporting period, the IRS
issued a report with preliminary findings on IPI's anti-money
laundering compliance. As at the date of issuance of these
consolidated financial statements, IPl, together with its
external legal and other professional advisers, are working to
provide further information to the IRS to fully cooperate with
the examination. Based on the facts currently known, it is not
practicable at this time for the Group to accurately predict the
resolution of this matter, including timing or any possible
impact on the Group. IPI has been and is under normal

operation without any interruption from this examination.

Other litigation matters

As at the end of the reporting period and up to the date of
approval of these consolidated financial statements, apart
from expressly stated above, the Group is a party to a number
of civil litigation cases, as either a plaintiff or defendant. In the
opinion of the Directors, after taking into account of the
respective legal advices, these cases are either premature
and/or the Group has a very high likelihood of success in its
action and, therefore these cases will not have any significant
adverse impact on the Group's results and financial position.
In the opinion of the Directors, adequate provision has been

made in these consolidated financial statements.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 31 December 2018, the Group did not have any pledge
of assets (2017: Nil).

35. FREE@)

36.

REEE#)

RZT—+F  IPIXEEEERER ([E
BRI FETZHOITIRITREES B MEZ
BoRBEMARE EHBEREHAIPIR
GRBERBEACNTAEERFHRE -
RPN EGEMBRERER - IPIERES
HE A 12 I E M B5 S B 2 T (m) B B R AR i o
—FSERUAENHEEAZSE - BRIBEB RIS
MEE  AEBENEEERBALEREZ
RAR  BESEREIEAEER S
K252 o IPIEBXBRARENREL —H
RFIEFEE  WEDIREREBERE o

ﬁ%A%E
EHMRMEENRELFRAMBERERE
E’M%ﬁﬂ%%%’$glﬁﬁﬁiﬁw
EYRBBRREFRDRN - EERAL - &F
BEBOEARERR  BERAHENEH
BERE/ RAEEREFRZKDERE
= BEEFREB I EHARE 2 RELM
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R-Z—N&+-A=+—0 FEELE
EAEEER (-5 &)
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. BBARS
(@) In addition to the transactions disclosed elsewhere in () BREGAVERREMESHFEEZR
the consolidated financial statements, the Group had SN REBRFERNE THIEE T
the following transactions with related parties during ZE
the year:

2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—+tF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BiEE FTiEr FET
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
Continuing connected FERERS
transactions:
Salary paid to Ji Xiaobo XN FaRBEREE
(“Mr. Ji") ((REE) 2% (i) 7,839 7,793

Exempted connected transactions: B BHEL S :

Interest expense on loans from REMBEHTER R
and notes issued to related BITEBZFBHY
parties (i) 127,792 97,560
Project management service TRTFIRKEM 2
fees to WWA HEEERISE (iii) 10,880 34,881

Project management service fees R FWukEZ
to Mr. Wu BEEEEREE (iv) - 1,670
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a)

182

(Continued) (a)
Notes:

(i) On 8 December 2017, Best Fortune entered into an
employment agreement (the “Employment Agreement”)
with Mr. Ji, the son of the ultimate controlling party of the
Company, pursuant to which Mr. Ji was appointed as the
Project Director of the casino resort project on the Island of
Saipan. According to the Employment Agreement, Mr. Ji is
entitled to a basic annual salary of US$1,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$7,834,000) and a discretionary bonus. The aggregate
amount of remuneration has a cap of U5$2,000,000
(equivalent to HK$15,668,000).

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2018, interest expense
of HK$127,792,000 (2017: HK$97,560,000) was charged on
loans from and notes issued to related parties. The interest
rates ranged from 7.5% to 12% (2017: 7.5% to 9.5%) per

annum.

(iii) During the year ended 31 December 2018, service fees of
HK$10,880,000 (2017: HK$34,881,000) were payable to WWA
for the project management services rendered to the Group.
The amount mainly included reimbursements of staff costs
and office overheads.

(iv)  During the year ended 31 December 2017, service fees of
HK$1,670,000 were payable to Mr. Wu for the project
management services rendered to the Group.

Details of the Group's interest payable to related (b)
parties, loans from related parties and unsecured bonds
and notes issued to related parties as at the end of the
reporting period are included in notes 21, 23 and 26 to

the consolidated financial statements.

Imperial Pacific International Holdings Limited % K ¥ EIBIZRGR A A

(&)
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(iii)

37. BEAXRZ (#)

RZE—+tF+-ANB - RHWEXS
BAFERND B SEITHAZ RT4E
ERIERA S ((EAHE]) - &t
LEEEZTARENSHEIT IS
EBNER ZEBHAE - REERRD
FORAEEREFTFURBREATS
1,000,000 7t (1B & 72 497,834,0007% 7T.)
L EIBTEAT o ZriN 42 EE R & 2,000,000
FE T (FHE R 15,668,000 7T) °

HE-_Z—N\E+_A=+—HIt#F
B RAEREB S ERRBEITERZF
B A127,792,0008 T (—ZF —+
F 1 97,560,000 7T) © FFIENTF7.5%
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37.

38.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(¢ Compensation of key management personnel of the ()

Group:

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company'’s

directors and the senior management, is as follows:

37. BEAXRZ (#)

AEEETEEEABZME

AEBETREEABZFHM (BRI
FARRBERSHREREBEZSR) M

Short term employee benefits REEERT
Post-employment benefits BEEB12 4E A

Share-based payments VARR (7 B AR 2 (S

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in

note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Other than the equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income, available-for-sale
investments and derivative financial instruments as disclosed
in notes 16 and 22 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively, all financial assets and liabilities of the Group as
at 31 December 2018 and 2017, are loans and receivables,

and financial liabilities at amortised cost, respectively.

B

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—tF

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FHExT FHT

37,950 66,981

596 174

792 5,826

39,338 72,981
EEME v E—PHFBIARNGETE

HRMEES
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHYOF 39. ¢RI A2 AABERAAEBER

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS Bl
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial AEFESMmTAEERELALEBENT -
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that HEREmEEANBEASEREEERIN

reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values
ARTEE DMREE
2018 2017 2018 2017

—E-NF —T—+F ZEBE-NF —T—+F

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FAT FER FAT
|

Financial assets TREE
Equity investments designated 5 E AKX AN EEA
at fair value through EmEmEAZ
other comprehensive BRARIRE
income 18,471 - 18,471 -
Available-for-sale investments At HEHRE - 82,464 - 82,464
Derivative financial assets TTEEMEE 24 1,010 24 1,010
18,495 83,474 18,495 83,474
Financial liabilities cRas
Derivative financial liabilities 744 @& E&E 1 1,033 1 1,033
Other borrowings HAb B 2,962,525 1,962,842 2,962,525 1,927,824
Loans from related parties KA T ZER 574,214 349,357 576,304 322,111
Convertible bonds and notes  A[#2i% &5 & 2K 48,879 46,713 48,879 45,816
Unsecured bonds and notes ~ #EXIREH N ZE 1,922,724 1,753,301 1,890,014 1,726,710
5,508,343  4,113246 5,477,723 4,023,494
Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and EREDF G ReNBESSEY IRl
cash equivalents, restricted bank deposit, trade receivables, RITER  BRESER  ENESEREHR -
trade payables, financial assets included in prepayments, SFAFENZIE « R NEMEWRIE 2 &5
deposits and other receivables, financial liabilities included in BE TAEMENIEBENESZE &R
other payables and accruals approximate to their carrying BEMAREBEEAREEES  EZ2HR
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these ETEREHREIEIATE -
instruments.
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Group's finance department headed by the Chief
Financial Officer is responsible for determining the policies
and procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The Chief Financial Officer reports directly to the
Chief Executive Officer and the Audit Committee. At each
reporting date, the finance department analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by the Chief Financial
Officer. The valuation process and results are discussed with
the Audit Committee twice a year for interim and annual

financial reporting.

The fair values of the non-current portion of other borrowings,
loans from related parties, convertible bonds and notes and
unsecured bonds and notes have been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities. The Group’s own non-
performance risk for other borrowings, loans from related
parties and unsecured bonds and notes as at 31 December
2018 was assessed to be insignificant. The fair value of the
liability portion of the convertible bonds and notes is
estimated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using an equivalent market interest rate for a similar
convertible bond or note with consideration of the Group's

own non-performance risk.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on

quoted market prices.

The fair values of the embedded derivatives in convertible
bonds and notes are determined by valuation techniques and
based on assumptions on market conditions existing at the
end of the reporting period. The valuation model requires the
input of subjective assumptions, including the stock price,

expected volatility and risk free rate.

39. ERMITRAZAABERAABER

Bl (&)
AEERERUWHERENMBMIIRER
EEMTAARNEBEFEZHENEF &
FUMBEERRAITRAENEZZESE
HeNEREAH  BHHBMAOMERTA
ZBEEY VEEHETERNIZHA
- BEMBEEMRIEGE LT
REEMBRENGEBREREREESZE
BETFETMARN® °

HAb B - KRB 2B - AR ES
REBEURERRES REBRIERBIT D 2
NABEDREBBEE GRS - EERRRZER
TAFHA T B935S AT A bE R AL IR B B R 2R3R
CREMFE - RZZE—NF+=-A=+—
B NEBRSFEMER  REBHH 2
EXRREEFRESRERZ T BRI
BIUTEKX - IRBREFERZERAETS 2
AREME - HIRBE T RRES K EEBFTA
BEDSHNETZERIAEERE ZTEL
[E g - BRIRIBEARRIR S MEEL A5 -

ERBRARENRABEDIRTISRETE -

ABREEFARRBZBAIITETAZAR
BEREEDNAEE RN REHRER
BHigRN BRERAE - HEEAREEEH
SRZBAE BRERE  EHRSHRER
B IR o
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39.

40.

186

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had financial assets
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
which were previously classified as available-for-sale
investments amounting to HK$18,471,000 (2017:
HK$82,464,000) measured at Level 1 fair value.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had derivative financial
assets amounting to HK$24,000 (2017: 1,010,000) measured at

Level 2 fair value.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had derivative financial
liabilities amounting to HK$1,000 (2017: HK$1,033,000)
measured at Level 2 fair value.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (2017: Nil).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments, other than
derivative financial instruments and equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income, comprise other borrowings, loans from related
parties, convertible bonds and notes, unsecured bonds and
notes and cash and cash equivalents. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group's
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which

arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and equity
price risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies
for managing each of these risks and they are summarised
below. The Group’s accounting policies in relation to
derivatives are set out in note 2.5 to the consolidated financial

statements.

39.

40.

TRIAZAABERAABER
Bl (&)
RZE—N\F+ZA=1+—H K&EE%H
SEAAHEERE ZIEERARAABER
AHAMEE WA 2 25 E ZE 18,471,000 4 7T
(ZZF—+F 182,464,000/ 7T) JhiRE—H
NABERE -

RZBE—-N\FE+_A=+—8 "EEZFT
4 4 R & E24,0008 T( = F — + &
1,010,000/ 70) T E — AR BEE -

RZB-N\F+_A=+—8 KEEZ{T
A& R A E1,008 T ZF — 1 F-
1,033,000 7C) JHRE — B AN BEE -

FRN F-REE_FEAREEARIAE
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities, net investments in foreign
operations or expenditure of operating units in currencies
other than the units’ functional currencies. During the year,
the Group did not use any financial instruments for hedging

purposes.

The majority of its foreign currency exposure comprises assets
and liabilities denominated in US$. The exchange rate of the
HK$ is pegged to the US$ and has remained relatively stable
over the past years. The Group manages its foreign currency
risk by closely monitoring the movement of the foreign

currency rates.

Credit risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Group to
concentrations of credit risk consist principally of trade

receivables.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. The Group issues credit in the form of markers
to approved casino customers following investigations of
creditworthiness. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt regularly to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for

irrecoverable amounts.

40. BIKEBEEEERBE#)

SRS LB

AEEEHZSEERAR - BRERRKE R
KAERS  CHIBENAE  BINED
REFRRELEUF AR EE U 2
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EREAR
SRMIATEEAEMATEDEERAR(E
ZHhEWE ZERFAERK) °
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 40. BiIEREEEERBE &)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31 N-ZE—NE+-BA=+—HzZE5H
December 2018 P 12 F 45 P ER

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum TRERR-_ZE— N\F+-_A=1+—HIRE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, NREBZEREMEEELEEZRGSEER
which is mainly based on past due information unless other S (BEERNTZTEUBMEIER BKIE - BIE
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year- HAEMNEEARKASIE HEN RIS EMmER)
end staging classification as at 31 December 2018. AR FFHEREER D HE o

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12 AR
FEER 2HRMEERR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach

F-K& FRR FRER X903
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAL TRL TRL TRL
]

Trade receivables* JEME SR - - - 4,866,395 4,866,395
Financial assets included STABERFE - EfEk

in prepayments, other TERAMEEN

receivables and SREE

other assets

— Normal** — [EF** 218,724 - - - 218,724
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY

— Not yet past due — BB H 113,840 - - - 113,840

332,564 _ - 4866395 5198959
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31
December 2018 (Continued)

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified
approach for impairment, information based on the provision
matrix is disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

*x The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,

other receivables and other assets is considered to be “normal”
when they are not past due and there is no information indicating
that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial
assets would be considered to be “doubtful”.

Maximum exposure as at 31 December 2017

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise cash and cash equivalents and trade and other
receivables, arises from default of the counterparty, with a
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these

instruments.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure
to credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in

note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets
(e.g. trade receivables) and projected cash flows from

operations.

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of loans
from related parties, other borrowings, convertible bonds and

notes and unsecured bonds and notes.

MEREE B ERBK )

R-B-NE+t=A=t+-B2BRAEME
Fﬁ&ﬁnn %Eﬁ(ff
TJI:ZIKEl&‘ﬁﬁ%{tﬁiﬁr”ﬁﬁﬂﬁZFHﬁz‘é’%ﬁE
CRIEEREEREE 2 BN RE T
i&%ﬁﬁ%ﬁm?&ﬁ? °

> HETATEN R - HttERREREMEE L
SREERABMRTEENBEREREER
VIRERAR Z EERBBEZEEN  FEEER
WRRAITER]| B eREEZERER
R R [TFEE] -

R-B—tFE+-A=1+—HZE=RR
rEEEMeREE(RIEReAReEE
%»&&Fﬂﬂz%ﬁ%%%ﬁ&ﬁ@ﬂﬂ&%ﬁﬁ) A
BERRIDARZHFENMELS SRR
$H%ﬁé§i$‘;1ﬁ2ﬁ§ﬁﬁ °

ERAEERKESRFIMELEERRZ
E—TEBBIINGEA VWK M T8

HEE -

REE R
AEMEBEAKEUERDESRETAERE
SERZAR R TAZELRMIAKLSR

BE(NEREE SR ZBIHIER - AK&E
ARELEEBH2RTRE -

AR B R T PO B B 2 B
FADAE R TR (5 T TR A S AR
# BB A S B EML RIS B
T -
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 40. BiIEREEEERBE &)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) RBESEEE)
The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at the REEBRRERRBIESOIEERINS
end of the reporting period, based on the contractual REBEZRBERNAT

undiscounted payments, was as follows:

2018

—E-N\E

Within Over 2

1 year years but

oron 1102 within Over

demand years 5 years 5 years Total

—FAH BBME
EEXR —EWE  BEER BRAF #st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TR TR TR TR
C____________________________________________________________________________

Trade payables e E SRR 91,739 - - - 91,739
Accruals and other payables  EETZIENMEMENZIE 2,304,879 55,294 - - 2,360,173
Other borrowings HfER 1,704,537 1,090,498 436,447 - 3,231,482
Loans from related parties FEl L A= 125,398 264,333 231,902 - 621,633
Convertible bonds and notes ~ RJ#f&{E5H K E & 50,970 - - - 50,970
Unsecured bonds and notes BERFEERER 141,495 705,521 1,322,745 35,718 2,205,479

4,419,018 2,115,646 1,991,094 35,718 8,561,476
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 40. BiIEREEEERBE &)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) REBES R (&)

2017

—T+F

Within Over 2

1 year years but

oron Tto2 within Over

demand years 5 years 5 years Total

—FRK HBME
EEX —EWF BERER HBAnF st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR TR THET TR
C__________________________________________________________________________________

Trade payables e E SN 78,623 - - - 78,623
Accruals and other payables  FEETEUE L E A B A 2,767 484 - - - 2,767,484
Other borrowings Hib BT 1,247,636 899,891 - - 2,147 527
Loans from related parties EEEl L A= 197,593 151,764 - - 349,357
Convertible bonds and notes  RJ#f&{E 5 K E &K 2,000 50,970 - - 52,970
Unsecured bonds and notes EERELSRERE 21,971 1,313,306 629,636 31,845 1,996,758
4,315,307 2,415,931 629,636 31,845 7,392,719
Equity price risk RSB E e
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity A B R BV A EH A B ERERERE
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of BOKERERBZAEEZZHMmE L 2R

equity indices and the value of individual securities. The
Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from individual
listed equity investments classified as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
(note 16) as at 31 December 2018 and 2017. The Group's
listed investments are listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange and are valued at quoted market prices at the end
of the reporting period. The Group is also exposed to equity
price risk arising from changes in the price of the Company’s
own shares to the extent that the Company’s own equity
investments underlie the fair values of derivatives. The Group
was also exposed to this risk through the conversion rights
attached to the convertible bonds and notes (note 25) issued

by the Company.

B M_E—NFRZE—+tF+=A
=t+—H FAEEERHAEIBERETRER
ABEFAHMEERA ZRAEE (T
16) S| AR AERRR - NEE 2 LT
BREBBERFT LT - WHRIRE BARIZFT®
MEE - AEETEEREAAFEER
MEREE) 2 RAEERR - ERNAQF
BEBRARERMITETAZ AREE - &
SETTEARAREIT 2 T RRES RE&R
#E25) BB A5 2 H i m E R B B R o
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  40. B EKREE B EZRBUER (#)

192

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to

support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to
any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2018
and 2017.

EXEE

AEBERNERZ T 2ARABRAEERE
WFFER S WHFRROEARL X UX
FEAXBEERSAREMIRERREE -

REBERBEBEMRN 2 B RBBEEEZR
SRHEREEARAEBIWIELAE - B
RFEERNEE  AEESSHELS TR
HZBE REEATRENXETHR - A
SEGEBTEMIMINERETE - BEZ
T-NEFER_E—tF+_A=+—HIEF
B AEFBEAEEZBE  BORIUREW
mINIRES) o
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 40. BiIEREEEERBE &)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Capital management (Continued) EXEE#E)

AEERBEEAGELE(ANFEBRKREH
BERIFER) BEEER - FEBKBIER
BERESFERE  BERESEEE - KE

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net
debt divided by the adjusted capital plus net debt. Net debt

includes convertible bonds and notes, unsecured bonds and PR B . HEH MRESRES

I A9k HTA S XX ERAN 7R Sr 57
notes, loans from related parties, other borrowings, less cash G o BARERD TIES AJEL IR IE 2
and cash equivalents. Capital represents total equity 1o NREHIRNEEGBLERMT -

attributable to owners of the Company. The gearing ratios as

at the end of the reporting periods are as follows:

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET
|

Convertible bonds and notes AR ES N BE 48,879 46,713

Unsecured bonds and notes mIKIEE N ERE 1,922,724 1,753,301

Loans from related parties KEEE T 2 ER 574,214 349,357

Other borrowings H g 2,962,525 1,962,842

Less: Cash and cash equivalents BRSNS EED (58,153) (284,520)

Net debt FER 5,450,189 3,827,693

Total equity MaRERS 890,253 3,852,965

Capital and net debt BARRFES 6,340,442 7,680,658

Gearing ratio BEAGBEE 86.0% 49.8%
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e mERME

31 December 2018
—E—-NF+=-A=+—H

41. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

194

From January 2019 and up to the date of approval of
these financial statements, the Company has obtained
unsecured loans which are interest-bearing at 8%-18%
per annum in an aggregate amount of approximately
HK$543,000,000 from independent third parties, of
which HK$340,000,000, HK$185,000,000 and
HK$18,000,000 are repayable in 2019, 2021 and 2022

respectively;

from January 2019 and up to the date of approval of
these financial statements, the Company has agreed
with certain lenders to renew certain loan agreements
of approximately HK$434,899,000 outstanding as at 31
December 2018 which were originally due for repayment
in 2019, and extended the repayment tenure to 2020,
2021 and 2022 for HK$97,700,000, HK$244,599,000 and
HK$92,600,000, respectively;

subsequent to the end of the reporting period, save for
loan amounts of HK$350,000,000 and HK$10,000,000
which have been repaid on 22 March 2019 and 24 March
2019, respectively, the Company has agreed with its
lenders to extend the repayment tenure of certain
overdue loan and note amounts of HK$16,000,000 and
HK$849,849,000, which were overdue before these
latest extension agreements, to the second half of 2019

or thereafter, respectively;

on 22 March and 24 March 2019, the Company has
obtained 2019 unsecured credit facilities of
approximately HK$700,000,000 and HK$450,000,000
from two independent third parties and for its working

capital needs; and

Imperial Pacific International Holdings Limited % K ¥ EIBIZRGR A A

41. EHESE

(@)

BE-E-NF - AREZNHETERS
EAEBE . AARIEBYE = IS
4858 49 /4 543,000,0008 T HY E K IR E
o BHEERIRFENESEE18ELT
B » /340,000,000 7 ~ 185,000,000
7 7T 518,000,000 TLZB D B = F
—NF - ZEZ—FRZZTZ_FE

7

B -hF-AREZTIBLEVE
WRER  ARARHEBETEFBERR
—E-)\Ft+_A=F+—HZKEERE
KAI434,899,0008 T ER & T EF W
& REERRARZZE—NFEIEE
# m E H97,700,000% T -
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T

RRERE - BREDFIR T —NF
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BRERE  ZEREERSEHEER
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31 December 2018
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41. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(Continued)

(e) on 8 March 2019, pursuant to the deeds of assignment,
the rights, titles and benefits in certain of the Company’s
loans and other payables in an aggregate amount of
HK$242,505,000 carried as at 31 December 2018 were
assigned by the creditors, who are independent third
parties and, as the assignor, to Mr. Ji. On the same
date, the Company entered into certain loan
agreements with Mr. Ji for these loans and other
payables of the same amounts, the terms of which are

unsecured, interest-free and repayable in 2022.

42. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS
Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified and re-

presented to conform with the current year's presentation.

41. REPREE (@)

(e)

RZFE-NF=ZAN\B  REEEDH
& RAREERREMENFIRS &
& %8 /242,505,000 T2 R - FTB
BENBEEREBA(RABIE=]])
(ERBREANEETLLE-RA - X
NAPIER SR 2 A FER M E R
RIBELF AR E T BB - B
RREER  RERAR—T-__FE

o

Rilg

42. kBEHE
EFLBSHECENDBRES  BAFE
Z 25—
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43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 43. XA R &AM RT T

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

BMAARREE R HBRRE AR
m -

2018

—g2-N\%

HK$'000
FET

2017

—E—tF

HK$'000
TAT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Investments in subsidiaries

Deposits and other receivables

Interest in subsidiaries

Available-for-sale investments
Equity investments designated at fair value

through other comprehensive income

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments, deposits and other

receivables
Derivative financial asset

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

FRBEE
YERN S
RMBRARZRE

Be M AL EUFRIR
NCR)EUNCIP - £
AHEHERE
BERRAAEBEFA
Hip 2 EBAZ AR E

FRBEERE

RBEE
ENFOR - 11E MEMEKERIA

ITEEMEE
Be RBRE2ZEY

mBEERE

1 9 6 Imperial Pacific International Holdings Limited & KX ¥ BB ZERER A A

4,222 9,177

_*x _*
10,805 10,373
7,211,420 6,586,765
- 82,464
18,471 -
7,244,918 6,688,779
39,401 26,419
24 1,010
29,829 49,460
69,254 76,889
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43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 43. XA RBBEMRRTK (&)

COMPANY (Continued)
2018 2017
—E-N\F —EF—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET

CURRENT LIABILITIES G =R
Other payables and accruals H b B FRE M BT FUA 1,672,609 1,145,239
Derivative financial liabilities PTESREE 1 1,033
Loans from related parties REEE T 2 ER 125,398 197,593
Other borrowings HiEr 2,962,525 1,189,492
Convertible bonds and notes ABEEENERE 48,879 -
Unsecured bonds and notes mIKIESENEE 747,777 -
Total current liabilities mBBERRE 5,557,189 2,533,357
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REEEFHE (5,487,935) (2,456,468)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERRBERE

LIABILITIES 1,756,983 4,232,311
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREESF
Loans from related parties KE T 2 ER 448,816 151,764
Other borrowings HAbER - 773,350
Convertible bonds and notes Al RES R EE - 46,713
Unsecured bonds and notes mIKHESENRERE 1,174,947 1,753,301
Total non-current liabilities EmEBEERE 1,623,763 2,725,128
NET ASSETS EEFE 133,220 1,507,183
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEARR G
Share capital R& R 71,492 71,492
Reserves (note) it (ME) 61,728 1,435,691
Total equity BRES 133,220 1,507,183

*  Less than HK$1,000

* R1,0008 T
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43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 43. XA R KEMRRTK (&)

COMPANY (Continued)
Note: BT -
A summary of the Company'’s reserves is as follows: KRR Z HEHBERT -
Convertible Share Share Investment Investment
notes premium option Other reserve reserve  Accumulated
reserve account reserve reserve  (non-recycling) (recycling) losses Total
TER RERE RERE
FERE  ROEER  BRERR Ht@E  (FUERE) (TER) ZiER Eh
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

TiEL Tix TiEL TR TiEL Tix TEn TR
I EEEEEEE——

At 1 January 2017 RZE-t5-A-H 1480332 1984779 50,714 - - (14,602) (1,827,569) 1,673,658
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - (555,221) (555,221)
Other comprehensive income EREMZENN
for the year:
Changes in fair value of HHERENALEE
available-for-sale 2958
investments, net - - - - - 14,602 - 14,602
Issue of new shares RHRR - - - - - _ - _
Issue of shares upon conversion AAREE AR
of convertible notes Bk - 21017 - - - - - 21017
Equity-settled share option RERERREL
arrangements - - 21,635 - - - - 21,635
Transfer of reserve upon the BREXIGELRE
[apse of share options - - (1.557) - - - 1557 -
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+E+ZA=1+-A 1,480,332 2,265,796 70,792 - - - (2,381,229) 1,435,691
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9 ROEENBREEY
F9%078 - - - - (33,589) - 33,589 -
At 1 January 2018 (restated) RZE-N\E-F-R(E]) 1,480,332 2,265,796 70,792 - (33,589) - (2,347,640) 1,435,691
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - (1,372,268)  (1,372,268)
Other comprehensive loss EREMZEEE:
for the year:
Changes in fair value of equity ERARLAEET ALY
investments designated at SEYACREREDRBE
fair value through other 2858
comprehensive income, net - - - - (63,993) - - (63,993)
Equity-settled share option EaERRERHE
arrangements - - 17,298 - - - - 17,298
Transfer of reserve upon the ERERNRERRE
[apse of share options - - (14,872) - - - 14,872 -
Deemed capital contribution BlE-2RRILE
from a shareholder - - - 45,000 - - - 45,000
At 31 December 2018 RZF-NE+ZA=1-A 1,480,332 2,265,796 73218 45,000 (97,582) - (3,705,036) 61,728

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share BN E N AT E DR EERE A
NEE B - TREBENGRE B mKM
FE2 5 AN REM 2 A X 2 ETBUR -
ZeREGNEBBERERETRRERERN
wERR - N AR R Bl s
BEREBER o

options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further
explained in the accounting policy for share-based payments
in note 2.5 to the consolidated financial statements. The
amount will either be transferred to the share premium
account when the related options are exercised, or transferred
to retained profits should the related options expire or be
forfeited.

198
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44. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED 44. EFSHBHERER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and GAMBRROCRN-ZE-NAEFE=A=-+8
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 March BEFEHERRETE -
2019.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

LFMBHRE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for each of five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited financial statements and reclassified as
appropriate is set out below. The amounts for each year in the five
year financial summary have been adjusted for the effects of the
retrospective changes of the adoption of HKFRS 15, as detailed in
note 2.3 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

AEERTEVRFESF2EEUNREERAGBHRE
(HREFEE TS 2 LERMBRE  UREEBRT
EHRSB)EINNT - AFHMBHUEBEF 2 HERK
MBEBMBERMELENE ISR 2ERESH 2 FEERA
B FREAVBHRME23 -

ES

For the year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=t—-HLEE

2015 2016 2017 2018
—E-hF —T-RE —T—+F ZB-N\E
(restated) (restated) (restated)

(E51) (Z51) (B51)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
THET TAT TAT TR

384,128 3,925,726 7,793,546 3,254,587

50,351 1,096,803 870,960  (3,421,311)
- (160,910) (233,487) 456,288

50,351 935,893 637,473 (2,965,023)

(68,392) (318) - -

2014
—TmF
(note)
(P%E)
HK$'000
FET
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BREKERE
Revenue Wz 558,267
Profit/(loss) before tax BEBAEN(BE)  (1,558,351)
Income tax (expenses)/credit FrisR (%) HR -
Profit/(loss) for the year from RABECEEN
continuing operations FREF,(ER)  (1,558351)
DISCONTINUED OPERATION BHRIEER
Loss for the year from a discontinued  RE —JBE & |F £75
operation FREE -
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable ~ RAR#EHH AJEL
to owners of the Company FREF(BE)  (1,558351)

(18,041) 935,575 637,473 (2,965,023)

Note: The comparative amounts for the year ended 31 December 2014 have not
been restated for the effects of the discontinued operation to the financial
statements because, in the opinion of the Directors, the restatement of
the prior year’ amounts would provide no additional useful information to
the users of these financial statements.

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

M BE-T-NF+ - A=+ -ALFEZHRSEY

RAEBRIEXBHMBRERZFZEMEY - RA/E

RABMBEFEZSRTERREUBIREKRZE
RERHBINERER -

BEERERE

2014
—E—-NF
HK$'000
FET

As at 31 December
R+=ZA=+-—H
2015 2016 2017 2018
—E-HE —E—RE —T—+F ZB-N\E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET FHET TR

Total assets BERAE 931,667
Total liabilities BERT (60,384)

3,319,260 9,613,103 15,641,294 12,722,242
(1,571,735)  (6,752,206) (11,788,329) (11,831,989)

Net assets BEFE 871,283

1,747,525 2,860,897 3,852,965 890,253

2 O O Imperial Pacific International Holdings Limited & KX ¥ BB ZERER A A
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